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ABOUT US

Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2289.HK) is
principally engaged in the pharmaceutical distribution business.
It mainly distributes western medicine, Chinese patent medicine
and healthcare products to downstream distributors and retail
terminals, while conducting dealings in the third-party logistics
business of medicines and providing pharmaceutical products
related consulting services. Founded in 2000, over the past 25
years of rapid development, it has become one of the leading
pharmaceutical distributors in the Southern China region. The
Company adheres to the development strategy of “Intensive
Engagement in Guangdong Province and Extensive Coverage
across Surrounding Areas”, based in Shantou, it has established
subsidiaries in Guangzhou, Zhuhai, Huizhou, Foshan and
Shenzhen, and has four modern pharmaceutical logistics centers.,
all equipped with Professional marketing service team,
professional transportation teams, and has a highly efficient
delivery mechanism of delivering pharmaceutical products three
times per day for customers within a radius of 10 kilometers,
twice per day for customers within a radius of 50 kilometers and
once per day for those within a radius of 250 kilometers. In
addition, the Company has a modern information system that
covers the entire supply chain for pharmaceutical distribution,
including procurement, sales, warehousing, transportation and
delivery. Apart from that, the Company operates its own B2B e-
commerce platform “Charmacy e-Medicine” (£l3€ e %%), a
platform for customers to place orders online, make inquires and
payment ,etc. In 2023, the Company ranked top 35 among top
100 the PRC wholesalers, in respect of revenue generated from
the principal business. The Company ranked the 6th among the
pharmaceutical distribution businesses in Guangdong Province.

In 2024, relying on the excellent warechouse distribution system,
the Group was recognised as an Excellent Pharmaceutical
Logistics and Distribution Enterprise in 2023-2024 (for 4
consecutive years), a Modern Pharmaceutical Logistics
Technology Test Base (Centre) in 2023—-2024 (for 3 consecutive
years), the Best Pharmaceutical Cold Chain Logistics Centre
(Base) in 2023-2024 (for 6 consecutive years), a Recommended
Enterprise for Pharmaceutical Cold Chain Logistics Services in
2023-2024 (for 5 consecutive years), ranked among the top 50
modern logistics service providers for pharmaceuticals in 2023-
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2024 (for 2 consecutive years), the 2023-2024 Pilot Base for
pharmaceutical supply chain, and the best service provider for
the 2023-2024 pharmaceutical equipment supply chain by the
Yaolianquan Certification Centre. Awarded the China Logistics
Industry "Golden Ant" Innovation Award in 2023-2024 by the
Organising Committee of China (Guangzhou) International
Logistics Equipment and Technology Exhibition (for 7
consecutive years). Obtained the group standard pilot unit of
"Modern Medical Logistics Storage and Transportation
Management Norms" issued by the Pharmaceutical Business
Branch of the China Medical Materials Association, and awarded
the exemplary organization of drug circulation information
statistics by the China Pharmaceutical Commerce Association.

Due to its good reputation and high-quality services, the
Company was awarded a Standing Council Member Unit by the
Guangdong Credit Association (for 7 consecutive years), granted
the 2024 AAA-level Enterprise Credit Rating by the China
Enterprise Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors
Association, and listed among the 2024 Guangdong Top 500
Enterprises.



H &%
CONTENTS

AR

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ERER

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

B T 5

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

L 5T

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CE N e IV

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS,SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
LN

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

HRGRE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

fe e

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ REPORT

HETR

AUDITOR’S REPORT

0 E AR

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

7 SR

BALANCE SHEET OF THE PARENT COMPANY

E ORI

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUNGEIN S

INCOME STATEMENT OF THE PARENT COMPANY

A B TR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
AR e &

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW OF THE PARENT COMPANY
A2 B

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY
B 7 SRR B

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY OF THE PARENT
COMPANY

BTSRRI

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024

FRERS

ANNUAL REPORT

10

11

32

42

68

91

94

101

105

109

112

114

116

118

121

124

-003-



D/ BERERHSRLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

N BR

*HH

PITEE
BhAIFE (GEFHEE|FE)
B s 3t

FRIEFL
EPITESE
BROR GEFTER)
fHIE

A
BILAEPITE S
2RV

TR

BgE OURBRERE)
*EE

2 Bt

¥

R4 A
*BERE A F RS
R

kI
*EREREE
FREE (ER)
R
*REZEE
BgE (EFE)
BkAIHE

28 ]
*HHERE
2RV (R
{HIE

TR
*EPEEERE S
WhAlRE (EFED
FRIELL

2RV [

-004-

CORPORATE INFORMATION

* DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Yao Chuanglong (Vice-chairman of the Board)
Zheng Yuyan

Zhang Hanzi

Non-executive Directors

Yan Jingbin (Chairman of the Board)
Fu Zheng

Xu Fei

Independent non-executive Directors
Li Hanguo

Wan Chi Wai Anthony

Guan Jian (also known as Guan Suzhe)
* SUPERVISORS

Zhu Minghong

Zhang Ling

Zheng Xiyue

* JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Wong Wai Ling

Yao Jiexi

* AUDIT COMMITTEE

Wan Chi Wai Anthony (Chairman)

Xu Fei

Guan Jian

* NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Guan Jian (Chairman)

Yao Chuanglong

Li Hanguo

* REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Li Hanguo (Chairman)

Fu Zheng

Wan Chi Wai Anthony

* RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Yao Chuanglong (Chairman)

Zhang Hanzi

Li Hanguo



"B ERER Y

BER CERE)

BhAIHE

5 e

*RIERR

B e

olsr i

3G

5 7K ORI BT g P
CREBRE 8 5 )

VAR

AE AT () GRS
EE% GEBIEE

JE ARSI (PR
R R A = K A

e [ 28 SR 4 5 T HE I L b Bk
235 5§

R E B MRS

1T 55 KIE W 248 58 KB4t
ity 40 #

*EEARIRAT

JiE S ERAT I A R A =]

B TR SRAT A A PR A F

*H 85 Bt i

HHEH RS ARA A
AT 2 5 KTE R 183 9%
ARy 17 48 1712-1716 558
*N ] KA

www.chmyy.com

*Be AR

2289.HK

2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT
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* PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
* H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

* COMPANY WEBSITE

www.chmyy.com

* STOCK CODE

2289.HK

-005-


http://www.chmyy.com/
http://www.chmyy.com/

2/ BEWMERGSRZLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

FREHRE

BALRR -

KRNGEIARRAIELEER D FIRA A
(AL 58 2289 HK) ( [ARA
) EH ([EH|) g ( [EF
), REARAFER L E A
(Hifg [AELH ] 5t [8RM] 3[4
%] ) HAE 2024412 H31 HiILFE
CTHER] O KEZZEOEL.

EHME

A B [ B A B g AR AR e, F
[Fa) TN Vi 43 S e R 2 ity 0 B D E
HHRSEE . (RIS E S, RIS TE AR AR
JEEE =T AR, N BRI e B pE
AR E RS, BT R [ B S {g R
¥ BTG T IS AR
SLJA 2000 4, L2 JANIEH, FK
[P AR, W | ) R
W&, TEREIN. BRI, BEML Pl iR
IEERSLF A F] o BT IE T,
B [ LA A HE R b I (1) FE R A T 35
AR B 7R E .
HZE 2024 412 A 31 H, KEREY
ALK TE 25 14,420 5, Hop Bl
KImBER 13,744 4, SERIHE
JER LA 1,206 5K, 4 8HPE & i iz
312,810 1, SRR A:MEE 42

I N 6 B AT S8 IR A RRVR ) B A
AR A A R B A X, 1A B
HLEREE R /). BT IE R BE AN
B e 1 R % O AR A
AER I AR YRR 1 L IR A 4
At R, DL IR L RS BE 7T RS
T FREEFE TS, 2024 6
H BRI S B YR AT IR 2 7]
e, ws A BE S A BN ] IE AR
L, SO =T7E P e o
-006-

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear shareholders,

I would like to, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Director(s)”’) of Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Stock
Code: 2289.HK) (the “Company”), submit the audited
consolidated results of the Company together with its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group” or “we” or
“Charmacy”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”).

Business Overview

Founded in 2000, the Group is mainly involved in the non-
bidding field of medicine, distributing western medicines,
traditional Chinese patent medicines, healthcare products and
other products to downstream distributors and retail outlets. In
addition, vigorously expanding third-party logistics services and
providing pharmaceutical product related consulting services, we
are committed to becoming the most competitive service provider
in the Chinese pharmaceutical and health industry. Based in
Shantou and adhering to the development strategy of “Intensive
Engagement in Guangdong Province and Extensive Coverage
across Surrounding Areas”, the Group has established
subsidiaries in Guangzhou, Zhuhai, Huizhou, Foshan, and
Shenzhen. With 25 years of endeavors, the Group has established
a multi-tiered and differentiated leading advantage in the non-
bidding market of South China. As of 31 December 2024, we had
14,429 customers, including 13,744 pharmaceutical retail
customers, in our distribution network, cooperated with a total of
1,206 suppliers, and distributed 12,810 kinds of products, with
partners throughout China.

China’s pharmaceutical distribution industry is undergoing
profound changes, shifting from a traditional resource-driven
competitive model to one that prioritizes the capabilities in
supply chain management, digital operations, and professional
services. In response, the Group is strengthening its competitive
edge through integration of strategic resources, extensive service
network expansion, and enhanced core service capabilities. In
June 2024, Guangdong Charmacy Pharmaceutical Logistics Co.,
Ltd. was established to focus on domestic freight forwarding,

providing efficient and precise logistics distribution services for
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third-party customers. This helps the Group’s logistics services
move toward a new development stage of pursuing greater scale,
standardization, specialization, and intelligence. Meanwhile, the
Group continues to deepen its comprehensive strategic
collaboration with its controlling shareholder, Jiangyao Group
Co., Ltd. (“Jiangyao”), adhering to the principles of
“complementary advantages, resource sharing, win-win
cooperation, and joint development.” Through this synergy, the
Group is continuously enhancing its overall operational
efficiency and competitive strength, driving high-quality
development.

Building on these established capabilities, the Group continues to
strengthen its close partnerships with many pharmaceutical
brands. By leveraging a resource-sharing platform, we efficiently
connect upstream manufacturers with downstream customers,
creating an integrated operational system that encompasses “all
channels, all services, and all marketing.” This instills sustainable
momentum in our high-quality development. We take great pride
in the recognition our expertise and industry contributions have
received. For over a decade, we have been consistently ranked
among the “Guangdong Top-500 Enterprises” and the “Top-100
Wholesalers in the Pharmaceutical Distribution Industry”. These
accolades not only affirm our operational strength and
performance but also underscore our commitment to supporting

the development of the country’s public health system.
Operating Results

In response to industry transformation and market competition,
the Group leverages a mature, replicable, and highly efficient
operational model, and capitalizes on resource and channel
synergies to actively explore diversified development strategies
and expand market reach in a multi-pronged manner. In 2024, the
Group's operating revenue increased by 0.72% to RMB4,435.46
million from RMB4,403.63 million in 2023. The gross profit
increased by 10.94% to RMB324.76 million from RMB292.74
million in 2023; the gross profit margin increased to 7.32% from
6.65% in 2023; the net profit attributable to shareholders of
parent company increased by 3.78% to RMB53.28 million from
RMBS51.34 million in 2023.
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Outlook

Due to multiple factors such as policy, technology, and evolving
demand, China’s pharmaceutical industry is undergoing a dual
transformation: greater market consolidation alongside a more
segmented end-user demand. On the policy front, ongoing
reforms are steering the industry toward balanced resource
allocation, a secure and stable supply chain, and an efficient,
universally accessible healthcare system. Meanwhile, cutting-
edge technologies such as artificial intelligence and big data are
reshaping collaboration across pharmaceutical R&D, production,
and distribution, giving rise to diversified, personalized, and
precision-driven pharmaceutical distribution needs.

At the core of bridging pharmaceutical manufacturers with end
consumers, the pharmaceutical distribution industry is deeply
influenced by the pharmaceutical sector’s transformation and
upgrading. In the long run, China has positioned the deepening
of healthcare system reform as a one of the priorities to further
deepen all-round reforms and drive modernization with Chinese
characteristics, providing a clear direction for the industry’s
sustainable and high-quality development. Driven by the pursuit
of new-quality productivity and the deepening of pharmaceutical
reforms, the expansion of the out-of-hospital market, the
normalization of collective-bidding for medicine purchase, and
the standardization of third-party logistics are turning into long-
term trends and reshaping the competitive landscape. Enterprises
that take the lead in reform, leveraging economies of scale and
accelerating digital and intelligent transformation, will
strengthen their competitive advantages in resource integration,
cost control, and value-added services, thus reinforcing an
industry dynamic where the strong continue to grow stronger.

Looking into the future, the pharmaceutical distribution industry
is faced with multiple opportunities, including the unleashing of
policy’s benefits, the expansion of the out-of-hospital market, and
the rapid rise of on-demand retail. In 2025, the Group will remain
firmly anchored in the non-bidding market, systematically
charting a high-quality development path. Leveraging our
differentiated advantages in the non-bidding market, we will
strengthen multi-channel synergies across the industry chain,
especially upstream and downstream, curate a diversified
portfolio of products and services tailored to multi-tiered market
needs, build a modern logistics and distribution system, and
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enhance our competitiveness in third-party logistics services.
Embracing the opportunities of the digital and intelligent era, we
will deepen the application of artificial intelligence to core
functions such as internal management, strategic planning, and
market analytics, driving our operational decision-making
system toward data-powered intelligence. Furthermore, we
remain committed to exploring high-quality development
pathways, enhancing end-to-end industry service capabilities,
and unlocking new profit engines to achieve sound growth and
sustainable development.

We will adhere to our original intention and embrace
opportunities. Adherering to our mission of creating a healthy and
beautiful life, we will continuously implement the business
philosophy of “carrying out honest operation, benefiting others,
and achieving win-win cooperation” and practice the market
strategy of “Intensive Engagement in Guangdong Province and
Extensive Coverage across Surrounding Areas”. With a modern
pharmaceutical distribution service system as the foundation and
full-chain service innovation as the driving force, we are
committed to becoming a value enabler in the healthcare industry
and strive to create tangible value in cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement for our upstream and downstream partners while
delivering stable and sustainable long-term returns for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”).

Acknowledgement

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and employees of the Group. Your
hard work and contributions are valuable assets of Charmacy. I
also would like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, and
partners for their unwavering trust in and support to us. Looking
ahead, we will embrace a more open mindset and take concrete
actions to collaborate with all stakeholders across the industry.
Together, we will shape a new pharmaceutical distribution
ecosystem and embark on a shared journey toward a healthier
China.

Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
Yan Jingbin
Chairman

Shantou, the PRC, 28 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December

HH 2024 £ 2023 £E 2022 &£ 2021 £ 2020 £
Item AR¥TT | AR®Trx | AR®TT | ARBTRE | AR%Tr
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
%%L&)\ 4,435,461 4,403,633 4,175,279 3,793,618 3,991,711
Operating revenue
4
Gl 71,192 67,420 122,054 32,981 54,742
Total profit
o)) SEYNSI)E bzl bl
Net profit attributable to the 53,284 51,345 90,472 23,153 40,556
Shareholders of parent
company
A LRl
(AR A RE T
Basic and diluted earnings 0.49 0.48 0.84 0.21 0.38
per Share (expressed in
RMB per share)
B12H31H
As at 31 December
HH 2024 £ 2023 4F 2022 & 2021 4F 2020 4F
Item AR¥TrT | AR®Tx | AR®Tx | AR¥Tx | AR%Tx
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
4
HRE 3,456,644 3,247,656 2,866,465 2,763,092 2,799,403
Total assets
4
.wﬁ.ﬁ%. . 2,837,953 2,649,849 2,271,403 2,258,990 2,296,854
Total liabilities
. R 2 618,691 597,807 595,062 504,102 502,549
Equity of Shareholders
BRFEE
(AR RE T
Net assets per Share 5.73 5.54 5.51 4.67 4.65
(as stated in RMB per
Share)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

China has officially entered a “moderately aging” society,
shifting its healthcare focus from “treating disease as the centre”
to “people’s health as the centre”. With a significant rise in public
health awareness, the demand for pharmaceutical and healthcare
services has shown a structural growth trend and the demand
level has become diversified and full-cycle. Under the “dual
circulation” development pattern, the domestic demand for
pharmaceutical market has been further stimulated, and the
deepening of the “coordinated reform of medical services, health
insurance, and the pharmaceutical industry” is advancing fairness
and accessibility in the pharmaceutical distribution market.
Additionally, innovations in digital technology are injecting
strong momentum into the upgrade and expansion of China’s
pharmaceutical distribution industry. Against this backdrop,
pharmaceutical distributors are supporting the standardization of
in-hospital drug management while actively facilitating the
expansion of the out-of-hospital retail pharmacy market, thereby
solidifying their strategic position within the industry chain. In
parallel with accelerated industry integration and increased
market concentration, the pharmaceutical distribution industry is
transitioning from a traditional resource-driven competition
model to one that prioritizes the capabilities in supply chain
management, digital operations, and professional services.

Stable growth in the pharmaceutical distribution market
with increasing industry concentration

According to data from the Ministry of Commerce of the People’s
Republic of China (“MOFCOM?”), the total sales of the seven
major categories of pharmaceutical products nationwide reached
RMB2,930.4 billion (including tax) in 2023, representing a year-
on-year increase of 7.5% after eliminating non-comparable
factors. The top 100 pharmaceutical wholesalers by income from
main business accounted for 76% of the country’s pharmaceutical
market, reflecting a year-on-year increase of 0.8 percentage
point. Forward Industry Research Institute predicted that the
market size of China’s pharmaceutical distribution industry will
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exceed RMB4 trillion by 2028 when calculated with a compound
growth rate of 7%.

Overall, China’s pharmaceutical distribution market continues to
expand, demonstrating stable growth and a high-quality
development trend. Industry concentration is becoming
increasingly prominent, driving the market toward greater
standardization, professionalization, and refinement. With
technological innovation serving as the key driver and supply
chain collaboration as the critical enabler, it is rapidly shaping a
modernized industrial ecosystem, the industry is steadily
progressing toward the stage of high-quality development.

Healthcare reform-driven rise of the out-of-hospital market,
favoring distributors with strong terminal foundations

Under the policy principle of deepening supply-side structural
reforms, the pharmaceutical distribution industry is embracing a
more open and diversified market environment. Domestic
healthcare reforms are being advanced, with multiple policies
introduced to eliminate the system of “covering hospital expenses
with pharmaceutical sales” (e.g., the regularized advancement of
“bulk purchase of pharmaceuticals”, the increasing improvement
of “hierarchical diagnosis and treatment” system, the
comprehensive spread of the “dual-channel” mechanism, and the
extensive implementation of the policy for “including pharmacies
in the scope of payment of medical insurance pooling of
outpatient services”). These initiatives have systematically
reshaped the pharmaceutical market, which was previously
dominated by in-hospital market.

In October 2024, the National Healthcare Security
Administration (“NHSA”) issued the “Notice on Regulating the
Out-of-Hospital Dispensing of Medical Insurance Prescriptions”,
which further regulates out-of-hospital prescriptions for medical
insurance drugs by standardizing the out-of-hospital dispensing
of prescriptions from designated medical institutions,
strengthening oversight of such out-of-hospital prescriptions at
designated retail pharmacies, enhancing the management of
circulation of prescriptions for medical insurance drugs,
accelerating the establishment of electronic prescription centres,
and launching special governance for the use of out-of-hospital
prescriptions for medical insurance drugs. A series of policies
have accelerated the transformation of the pharmaceutical
market, allowing the out-of-hospital market to capitalize on out-
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of-hospital prescription dispensing and unleash its development
potential. According to the data from www.menet.com.cn
(“MENET”), the retail pharmacy terminal market (including
physical and online pharmacies) recorded pharmaceutical sales
of RMB574 billion in 2024, representing a year-on-year increase
of 3.7%. The market share of retail pharmacy terminals has been
growing annually, accounted for 30.8% in 2024, increasing of 1.5
percentage points year-on-year, with the out-of-hospital market
share continuing to rise. MENET forecasts that by 2029, the out-
of-hospital market is expected to reach a total of RMB1.6 trillion,
on par with or even exceeding the in-hospital market.

In response to the deep structural adjustments in distribution
channels and the increasingly intense market competition,
pharmaceutical distributors are focusing on service capability
enhancement, accelerating expansion into high-value-added
sectors, and continuously exploring innovative service concepts
and service models. By leveraging emerging technologies such
as big data, cloud computing, and artificial intelligence (“AI”),
they are improving precision marketing and differentiated value-
added services to meet the continuously evolving market
demands. Pharmaceutical distributors with solid retail terminal
foundations not only gain competitive advantages in the market
but also help pharmaceutical manufacturers reach into a broader

market for win-win outcomes.

Walking onto a fast track of diversified and digital-intelligent

transformation

With the accelerated advancement of the digital-intelligent era,
the widespread adoption of cutting-edge technologies such as Al,
big data, cloud computing, and the Internet of Things (“IoT”) is
continuously driving the deep integration of “Internet +
pharmaceutical distribution”, propelling the pharmaceutical
distribution industry onto a fast track of digital-intelligent
transformation and diversified growth. In this context,
pharmaceutical distributors face increasingly complex and
fragmented market demands. Meanwhile, the rise of the out-of-
hospital market imposes higher requirements on their refined
service capabilities. To address this challenge, both regional and
national pharmaceutical distributors are accelerating their
transformation into supply chain solution providers. By
leveraging integrated platforms to synchronize “logistics,

information flow, and capital flow”, they are continuously
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improving diversified and collaborative pharmaceutical supply
chain systems, enhancing customer experience and resource
allocation efficiency, and delivering differentiated products and
services. This enables them to provide pharmaceutical companies
with efficient pharmaceutical logistics services across regional
and national warehouses, further driving the industry’s high-
quality development.

Standardized online pharmaceutical sales with instant retail
emerging as a key growth driver

In January 2024, the National Medical Products Administration
issued the “Guidelines for the Inspection of Third-Party
Platforms for Online Pharmaceutical Transactions (Trial)” (the
“Guidelines™), aimed at further regulating online pharmaceutical
transactions to ensure safety and compliance. The Guidelines
outline 40 key points for inspection and their specific items,
clearly defining the scope of responsibilities for third-party
platforms and providing clear, actionable guidance to facilitate
the healthy and sustainable development of online
pharmaceutical transactions. Under this standardized regulatory
framework, instant retail has emerged as a key growth driver for
pharmaceutical distribution. According to the latest forecast data
from MENET, instant retail sales (including both pharmaceutical
and non-pharmaceutical products) by pharmacies are expected to
reach RMB48.7 billion in 2024, representing a year-on-year
growth of 31.3%. As online medical insurance payment channels
continue to expand and the outflow of hospital prescriptions
become more liberalized, physical pharmacies are expanding
their online channels, and the online pharmacy market is stepping
into a phase of rapid expansion.

Comprehensive enhancement of drug traceability code
supervision, driving industry-wide digital transformation

Complementing the Guidelines, laws and regulations regarding
drug traceability have gradually improved in recent years. The
government has introduced multiple policies requiring
pharmaceutical distributors to establish traceability systems to
ensure their drugs can be tracked and traced throughout the entire
production-to-sales process. In April 2024, the NHSA issued the
“2024 Special Rectification Plan for Violations of the Medical
Insurance Fund”, which placed particular emphasis on
strengthening the application of drug traceability codes. In July
2024, NHSA released the “Proposal on Strengthening the



DR R 1 I om 22 wh B RS I 1 7
FROECRERAD) 5 FHRGRHEZE
BN LEINEER S

I3 5% B8 O SR B A 2025 4E 1 A 1 H
FEC A TR P B ot 28 S R S A, R
T LI A N SE A A AR
ERBWAE I EE . TSR
A A S B B RS R &
B, VIERESHEN KT
B A R s g4, WA
AR Z R M NIEER, WdE
R AL E AR, R
2025 4 2 A, AR CEELE N IED
i 200 1R %, 78 31 {41711 88
B BAERERE, BB ER T
FEAR PR AL T WOE R, RV
PEA) R BB R BUR W B T, T
AR ZE MBI AL — DR A

LA LB R B FIACITTE T T 7
KA (7 g S 17 5
A (2023); ([ ZE L g )
HIT; R ey B e R
(2023 G54 T EETHAT 4
PriR )

EBEB

A B2 1B (1 5 BESE 5 2 e P B > B 4%
di, AR R SR N AR B 4 oy
o PAMIGE B B A T S SH LIRS
RIEEE, Zyoriam, FHEEE, K
BB 2T MR R HAAE
JF 1R A 5 RS o

BATEIG ) e a8 B, AR
J& R K dm g s T, AR R
mAEAR . B 2024 FE 12 A 31 H,
TAMBI 5 SHAEAR TR & 14,429 LK,
Hrb 685 4 RsrSHRS, 9,533 #RNEF
By, 4211 BRE. 2. &
Ak R Hoph . B RARERE, RF RN

2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT

Application of Drug Traceability Codes in the Drug Procurement
Process (Draft for Public Comment”), reaffirming the

significance of traceability codes.

NHSA had clearly stated that it had comprehensively promoted
strict supervision of drug traceability codes starting from 1
January 2025, forcing pharmaceutical distributors to achieve
comprehensive traceability coverage across all product
categories and distribution channels. By leveraging their well-
established traceability systems and quality control capabilities,
industry-leading distributors are ensuring compliant drug market
access and public medication safety. They are also expected to
take up more distribution tasks of drugs centrally procured and
optimize inventory management in a data-driven way. As of
February 2025, over 20 billion drug traceability codes have been
collected nationwide, covering 880,000 medical institutions
across 31 provinces, laying a robust data foundation for the
digital transformation of distributors. Under the combined
influence of regulatory constraints and medical insurance
policies, pharmaceutical distributors are further deepening their

digital transformation.

Data sources: MOFCOM, MENET, China Pharmaceutical
Distribution Industry Development Report (2023), China
Pharmaceutical Distribution Journal, Guangdong Medical
Products Administration, and 2023 Operational Statistical
Analysis Report of Pharmaceutical Distribution Industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s principal business is distributing pharmaceuticals in
China, and the majority of its business revenue comes from
pharmaceutical distribution. We procure pharmaceuticals from
pharmaceutical producers and distribution suppliers, and provide
sales services for distributors, retail pharmacies, as well as private
hospitals, clinics, health stations and other types of customers.

We followed our established operation targets, and continued to
expand our operation in Guangdong and its surrounding markets,
with a focus on developing our retail terminal network. As at 31
December 2024, our distribution network covered 14,429
customers, among which 685 were distributors, 9,533 were retail
pharmacy stores, and 4,211 were hospitals, clinics, health centres
and others, representing an increase of 593 in the number of
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customers, including the increase of 22 distributors, the increase
of 410 retail pharmacy stores, and 161 hospitals, clinics, health
centres and others compared to last year.

In order to meet the various needs of customers and enhance
customer adhesion, we strengthened cooperation with well-
known domestic and overseas manufacturers, and expanded the
variety and scale of first-level distribution products. We also
continued to optimise our product mix by introducing marketable,
high-quality products with high profit margin to enrich our
product categories. As at 31 December 2024, we had distributed
12,810 product specifications, and we had a total of 1,206
suppliers, of which 623 were pharmaceutical manufacturers and
583 were distributor suppliers, representing an increase of 60
suppliers compared to last year.
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Building a high-quality pharmaceutical marketing ecosystem
and achieving win-win cooperation with upstream and

downstream partners

By leveraging the advantages of its three-dimensional marketing
network, the Group collaborated with brand pharmaceutical
manufacturers and downstream clients to build a complete
industry chain and commercial ecosystem. By leveraging the core
advantages of aggregating product resources, optimizing
purchasing and sales channels, facilitating transactions, utilizing
digitalized logistics, we effectively addressed the pain point of
imbalance in supply and demand, significantly reducing channel
expansion difficulties for upstream manufacturers and realizing

the true value and benefits of their brands. Currently, China
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Resources  Sanjiu, Haleon, = Guangzhou  Baiyunshan
Pharmaceutical,
Jiangzhong, Yangtze River Pharmaceutical, MEDI' CARE,

Zhongsheng Pharmaceutical, Lingrui Pharmaceutical, Lotus

Buchang Pharmacy, China Resources

Peak and other well-known brands in the pharmaceutical industry
have benefited a lot from our three-dimensional marketing
network.

On this basis, we continued to deepen our product layout and
actively implemented the policy of “tens of millions” brand
clients, and were committed to cultivating core partners with
market influence. Through focused resource allocation, targeted
support, and customized services, we have successfully
developed multiple strategic cooperation brands with sales
exceeding RMB10 million, creating continuous market value
growth for our clients. Meanwhile, we adopted innovative and
multi-dimensional marketing strategies such as joint brand
marketing, event-driven promotions, differentiated sales
campaigns, and new product appreciation sessions to strengthen
resource integration and sharing and opened up innovative
cooperation channels. These initiatives not only helped clients
deepen their understanding of the products but also effectively
promoted efficient product distribution and market conversion.
By continuously optimizing the three-dimensional marketing
network and reshaping the resource matrix, we enhanced clients’
market competitiveness while achieving rapid and efficient
product distribution and conversion.

Continuing to explore the Al applications to drive digital-
intelligent transformation and end-to-end closed loop
building

We have leveraged digital office platforms as the entry point for
Al applications, successfully achieved automation upgrades in
financial management, process optimization, data processing,
and product monitoring, and initially established an intelligent
workflow engine, significantly enhancing operational efficiency.
In the logistics sector, we have piloted Al tools in specific areas
such as inventory management and route optimization, utilizing
machine learning algorithms and real-time data analysis to
optimize resource allocation and decision-making efficiency.
Moving forward, we plan to progressively advance full-process
digital integration to establish an end-to-end intelligent business
ecosystem. Based on business needs and technological evolution,
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we will continuously iterate Al models, enhance deep learning
and predictive analytics capabilities, and explore new application
scenarios in a bid to further improve overall operational
efficiency, strengthen core competitiveness, and drive a deeper
digital-intelligent transformation.

Upgrading terminal systems in the Greater Bay Area by
establishing Shenzhen Pharmaceutical Logistics Centre

During the Reporting Period, the Group established a large
pharmaceutical sorting and distribution centre in Shenzhen
(“Shenzhen Pharmaceutical Logistics Centre”). As an
economic hub in southern China, Shenzhen has significant
advantages in location, industry clustering, and policy support. It
can continue to benefit from the Greater Bay Area’s integration,
enhance its influence in the Greater Bay Area’s pharmaceutical
terminal market, and promote the coordinated upgrading of the
regional pharmaceutical industry chain. It is of great strategic
significance to the Group’s logistics network layout in the Pearl
River Delta and eastern Guangdong regions of Guangdong
Province. The Centre plays a crucial role in integrating
pharmaceutical warehousing and transportation resources,
developing multi-warehouse coordination and cross-regional
delivery, reducing logistics costs, and ensuring the quality and
safety of pharmaceuticals. It is also conducive to the expansion
of the Group's third-party pharmaceutical logistics business,
laying a solid foundation for long-term sustainable development.

Leveraging logistical advantages to elevate third-party
logistics business to new heights

As a leading service provider in the modern pharmaceutical
supply chain in South China, the Group has established medium
and large modern pharmaceutical distribution centres in
Guangzhou, Shantou, Shenzhen and Zhuhai. These centres are
equipped with a comprehensive logistics network and
information system, adhering strictly to unified Good Supply
Practice (GSP) management standards to ensure the
standardization of storage conditions. Additionally, they feature
advanced cold chains and refrigerated transport vehicles, as well
as intelligent warehousing equipment, to meet the diverse
distribution needs of pharmaceutical products. We use Charmacy
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Medicine Sorting and Distribution
Centre as the core warehouse to build a leading regional logistics
hub, supporting and strengthening the multi-warehouse
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coordination model. By achieving multi-warehouse coordination
with logistics centres in other regions, we share inventory and
distribution network advantages. This not only meets the
warehousing needs of our rapidly growing pharmaceutical
distribution business but also integrates warehousing space and
logistics distribution capabilities, maximizes the provision of
additional warehousing or transportation value-added services for
upstream and downstream clients, and enhance the Group’s
profitability.

During the Reporting Period, we comprehensively enhanced
service standards, such as seamless connection with carrier
systems, real-time terminal monitoring, optimization of review
processes, and improvement of goods receipt verification
functions. Additionally, we continuously expanded diversified
services such as integrated warehousing and distribution,
entrusted transportation, and drop shipping in order to provide
clients with more efficient, transparent, and reliable logistics
services. With our professional logistics solutions, excellent
service quality, and strong brand reputation, we have earned the
trust and recognition of many clients. During the Reporting
Period, we established partnerships with leading pharmaceutical
brands such as Dong-E E-Jiao, Fosun Pharma, and Hainan
Kangzhi to provide them with third-party pharmaceutical
logistics outsourcing services under an integrated warehousing
and distribution model. This marks a significant milestone in the
development of our third-party logistics business. As of 31
December 2024, the Group has built third-party pharmaceutical
logistics entrustment business and other value-added services
such as warehousing or transportation with multiple clients, such
as manufacturers, commercial distributors and chain pharmacies,
with the number of corresponding clients and corresponding

revenue increasing by 30% and 55% year-on-year, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Group established Guangdong
Charmacy Pharmaceutical Logistics Co., Ltd., which mainly
operates as a domestic freight forwarding agent and provides
logistics and distribution services for third parties. Leveraging the
Group’s mature logistics and distribution system and professional
transportation teams, we promoted the transformation of the
Group’s third-party logistics business towards scale,
standardization, specialization and intelligent, provided more

efficient and professional logistics and distribution services for
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the supply chains, bringing new profit growth points for the
Group and enhancing the Group’s market competitiveness.

PROSPECTS

With the mission of “Creating Healthy and Beautiful Life” in
mind and belief in the business philosophy of “Integrity, Altruism
and Win-win Cooperation”, we are committed to becoming the
most competitive service provider in China’s medical and
healthcare industry by adhering to the market strategy of
“Intensive Engagement in Guangdong Province and Extensive
Coverage across Surrounding Areas”.

Currently, China has entered a stage of high-quality development,
and the comprehensive deployment at the 20th CPC National
Congress on the continuous deepening of healthcare reform has
achieved remarkable results. Under the dual impetus of
population aging and the “Healthy China” initiative, China's
health sector is being shifted from “treating diseases as the
centre” to “people’s health as the centre”. With the upgrading of
residents' health consumption, the pharmaceutical industry has
accelerated its pace in the supply-side structural reform to better
meet the people's growing needs for a healthy living. Over a
longer term, the pharmaceutical industry will accelerate the
changes in quality and efficiency, supporting the formation of a
new development pattern whereby domestic and foreign markets
can boost each other, with the domestic market as the mainstay.

To adapt to the development trend of new quality productive
forces, China is actively promoting the digital and intelligent
transformation of the pharmaceutical industry and encouraging
pharmaceutical distributors to improve the network structure and
service functions, accelerate the integrated development through
“channel sinking and urban-rural coordination”, and improve the
service capabilities in the “last mile” of pharmaceutical supply
through the application of advanced technologies such as big data
and Al across the whole pharmaceutical chain. Meanwhile,
pharmaceutical distributors will utilize digital technology to
continuously empower business development and help reduce the
costs and increase the cost effectiveness of brand manufacturers
in pharmaceutical marketing and promotion, warehousing and

transportation management, brand marketing and other aspects.

With the gradual deepening of reforms such as “Separation of
prescribing and dispensing”, “hierarchical diagnosis and
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treatment” and “prescription outflow”, the out-of-hospital market
will shape a trillion-yuan incremental market, and China's online
pharmacy terminal drug market has seen rapid expansion, with
sales exceeding RMB60 billion in 2023, reflecting a year-on-year
increase of 28.46%. Furthermore, instant retail has emerged as a
preferred channel for online medical insurance drug purchases,
presenting unprecedented opportunities for development.

Faced with these industry development opportunities, we
maintain a proactive, flexible and positive attitude, respond to
national policy guidance, and strive to implement the relevant
policies of the pharmaceutical industry in practice. We also seize
policy opportunities, grasp market opportunities, and
continuously promote the expansion of market network and
service improvement. By strengthening refined management and
digital and intelligent-driven, we will promote high-quality
development and ensure continuous improvement in
competitiveness on the basis of consolidating our existing
advantages.

I. Adhere to the strategy of “Intensive Engagement in
Guangdong Province and Extensive Coverage across
Surrounding Areas”

We adhere to the market strategy of “Intensive Engagement in
Guangdong Province and Extensive Coverage across
Surrounding Areas” and build a pharmaceutical retail terminal
network with full coverage in Guangdong Province and its
surrounding areas. We will strengthen risk management, improve
operation quality, seize the opportunities arising from the
expansion of the primary medical market, further construct the
regional pharmaceutical distribution centres and constantly
expand and develop the distribution networks in all areas by
continuously expanding and refining the distribution networks
that permeate into each region, optimising the network layout,
and expanding the pharmaceutical delivery coverages of
pharmaceutical retail terminals such as retail pharmacies and
various grassroots medical and health service institutions to fully
achieve a dense coverage of sales, service, and logistics network

in Guangdong and its surrounding areas.

II. Al-driven digital-intelligent transformation for broader
digital boundaries

-021-
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The Company will continue to deepen its "Internet +
Pharmaceutical" strategy, fully integrating digitalization and Al
technology to create an intelligent supply chain ecosystem, and
strive to achieve intelligent management of the entire process and
improve efficiency. By deploying robotic process automation
(RPA) and advanced Al tools, we will systematically optimize
business processes, shifting a large number tasks with logical
rules and high repetitive from manual operations to automation.
This will enable employees to focus on more innovative and
strategically valuable tasks, maximizing work efficiency while
further enhancing the Company’s intrinsic motivation and core
competitiveness.

In terms of business enablement, we will fully leverage intelligent
technologies to accelerate supply chain responsiveness,
providing upstream and downstream clients with more efficient
and precise service experience, thus achieving end-to-end value
delivery. Additionally, by utilizing industry data assets
accumulated over the past 24 years, we will adopt Al-driven deep
data analysis and machine learning models to conduct in-depth
data analysis and mining. This will enable us to build a more
scientific and forward-looking decision-making mechanisms,
ensuring precise decisions and agile responses in a complex
market environment.

Furthermore, we will continue to leverage our strong supply
chain resources to drive digital transformation, with the B2B e-
commerce platforms as the core foundation. By combining digital
marketing with intelligent operational methods, we aim to fully
unlock the potential of the "Internet+" model. Through efficient
technology empowerment and precise channel optimization, we
will enhance the dynamic matching of supply and demand,
optimize transaction scenarios, and improve overall operational
efficiency and flexibility in a constantly changing market
environment, and become a strategic enabler and long-term value
creator for our upstream and downstream partners in the fierce

market competition.

III. Deepening and expanding strategic cooperation with
brand manufacturers

We will further deepen our cooperation with brand
pharmaceutical manufacturers to capture more growth
opportunities in non-tendering market products, diversify our
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product portfolios, cement the strength of our products and reach
into more markets with high growth potential. Fully utilising the
Group’s pharmaceutical retail terminal network resources and
taking its advantages, we will provide upstream suppliers with
comprehensive, diverse brand promotion and product launch
design and support services and help brand manufacturers

increase their market share.

IV. Enhancing pharmaceutical logistics capabilities and
upgrading third-party logistics business

We will integrate existing transportation resources in an all-round
way, strengthen the formation of smart logistics capabilities,
further enhance the distribution service capabilities, and promote
the coordinated development of regional integrated logistics. By
leveraging a coordinated operating model of multi-warehouse
connectivity and intelligent scheduling, we strive to optimize
delivery efficiency and cost control from production sources to
end distribution, maximizing economies of scale and resource
utilization. We will continue to capitalize on our refined
management and digital-intelligent empowerment, optimizing
and upgrading our terminal distribution network to create a more
rational and efficient pharmaceutical logistics system. At the
same time, we will actively expand our third-party
pharmaceutical logistics business, leveraging our logistics
network advantages to provide upstream suppliers and
downstream clients with professional and convenient
warchousing, logistics, transportation and other value-added
services. This will further enhance the Group's market
competitiveness and profitability.

V. Actively expanding domestic and international industrial
cooperation to support the Group’s healthy and high-quality
development

With the abundant resources and advantages of our state-owned
shareholders, we will actively seek high-quality products and
projects at home and abroad, optimize the Group's product supply
chain and expand more profitable new business to continuously
optimize our business structure and profit models. With a focus
on extending and upgrading the pharmaceutical industry chain,
we will introduce new technologies and concepts, driving deep
integration of emerging technologies with core competencies.
This will solidify our leadership position in the non-tender
pharmaceutical market in South China and contribute to the

-023-
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innovation and development of the pharmaceutical distribution
industry.

Looking forward, we will continue to seize the future growth
potential of the pharmaceutical non-tendering market, accelerate
the duplication of the mature non-tendering pharmaceutical
market operation model, redouble our efforts on digitisation and
business innovation, strive to elevate the operation efficiency of
our pharmaceutical supply chain, optimise the portfolio of
pharmaceutical products and customer service experience, and
reduce the cost of pharmaceutical distribution, endeavouring to
become the most competitive service provider in the medical and
healthcare industry in China.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

—E L PN Operating revenue
A= 12 A 31 HILEE
IEH For the year ended 31 December
Item 2024 £ NEHFT 2023 F NEEFT
2024 RMB’000 2023 RMB’000
EEXE 4,385,120 4,347,522
Principal business
e 50,341
Other businesses ’ 36,111
%%tlﬁz{\ 4,435,461 4,403,633
Operating revenue

BZE 12 A 31 HILEE

&= FXER For the year ended 31 December

Customer type 2024 £ NEHTFT 2023 F NEHTT
2024 RMB’000 2023 RMB’000

vix L

Distributors 2,074,863 2,057,929

%%%rg 2,166,832 2,110,773

Retail pharmacy stores

BB, RO A R Al

Hospitals, clinics, health centres and others 143,425 178,821

EBEBIRA 4,385,120 4,347,522

Revenue from principal business

I, BATH LB B R E

M) 78
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(i) FEELE

During the Reporting Period, our revenue from principal business
was derived from product sales to (i) distributor customers; (ii)
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retail pharmacy stores; and (iii) hospitals, clinics, health centres
and others. During the Reporting Period, over 96% of our revenue
from principal business was derived from distributor customers
and retail pharmacy stores.

The operating revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB4,435.46 million, representing an
increase of 0.72% from RMB4,403.63 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. This is mainly due to (1) focusing on the non-
tendering market and intensifying the brand cooperation: we
always adhere to our business positioning in the non-tendering
market, and continuously implement the market strategy of
“Intensive Engagement in Guangdong Province and Extensive
Coverage across Surrounding Areas”, which not only enhances
our recognition among brand owners, but also wins more
distribution rights and project cooperation opportunities for high-
quality products, laying a solid foundation for revenue growth;
and (2) strengthening the supply chain advantages and enhancing
the customer satisfaction: we continuously improve our product
supply satisfaction rate and constantly optimize our supply chain
service system, which has been widely recognized by our
customers. The efficient and stable supply chain services not only
enhance customers’ satisfaction, but also further strengthen our
brand influence, providing strong support for the steady growth

of our principal business.
Operating cost, gross profit and gross profit margin

The operating cost of the Group decreased by RMBO0.19 million
from RMB4,110.89 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB4,110.70 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
flatted as compared with the same period last year.

The gross profit of the Group increased by 10.94% from
RMB292.74 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB324.76 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
gross profit margin of the Group increased from 6.65% for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to 7.32% for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase in gross profit margin of the Group
is mainly due to the following facts: (1) we have continuously
adjusted our product structure, introduced some varieties with
higher gross profit margins, and actively eliminated some
varieties with lower gross profit margins; (2) the value-added
third-party logistics business relying on our logistics system has
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seen significant growth compared to last year; and (3) we have
continuously optimized our payment structure and improved our
payment efficiency, resulting in more sales discounts from our

suppliers.
Selling expenses

The selling expenses of the Group decreased by 1.65% from
RMB122.47 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB120.44 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
basically flat as compared with the same period last year.

Management expenses

The management expenses of the Group increased by 15.33%
from RMB47.53 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB54.82 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, mainly
due to the growth in employee compensation expenses of
RMB4.19 million, driven by additional headcount to support
business expansion, adjustments to the salary structure, and
increased investment in training for medium and senior level

personnel.
Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by 47.09% from
RMB42.35 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB62.29 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, mainly
due to the following facts: (1) the long-term and short-term loans
obtained from banks increased by RMB237.38 million year-on-
year, and the corresponding interest expenses increased by
RMB5.09 million; and (2) the discount interest on bills increased
by RMB14.11 million.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group increased by 11.40% from
RMBI16.07 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB17.91 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
current income tax expenses were recognised and the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities were adjusted according to the
accounting standards.
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Net profit

The net profit of the Group increased by 3.78% from RMB51.34
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB53.28
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Among them, the
net profit attributable to the shareholders of parent company
increased by 3.78% from RMB51.34 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to RMB53.28 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, mainly due to the steady growth of our principal
business.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and bank deposits of the Group
amounted to RMB171.79 million, while the cash and bank
deposits amounted to RMB112.93 million as at 31 December
2023.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded net current assets of RMB241.39 million and
RMB193.14 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the
current ratio (based on the calculation of current assets divided
by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.09 (2023: 1.07).

The bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB825.37 million (short-term borrowings:
RMB811.57 million, long-term borrowings: RMB13.80 million);
Long-term borrowings due within one year: RMB1.22 million.
All the bank borrowings bear fixed interest rates. The carrying
amount of the bank borrowings is presented in RMB, and is
approximate to the fair value. The Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes or did not have any existing
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments for hedging net

foreign currency investments.

Bill receivables, trade receivables and receivables financing

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bill receivables, trade
receivables and receivables financing amounted to RMB1,226.42
million, representing an increase of RMB261.07 million and
27.04% year-on-year, from RMB965.35 million as at 31
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December 2023. This was mainly due to the increase in operating
revenue as well as the positive progress and business expansion
achieved in the market in the Reporting Period. The Group has
continuously strengthened the management on accounts
receivable, dynamically assessed risks, and achieved efficient

fund utilization and liquidity management.

Bills payables and trade payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bills payables and trade
payables amounted to RMB1,214.33 million, representing a
decrease of RMB381.23 million and 23.89% year-on-year, from
RMB1,595.56 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the
Group more rationally arranging procurement based on the
market supply and demand of products and more effectively
allocating the use of funds.

Treasury policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management strategy in
executing its treasury policy. Thus, a sound liquidity position was
able to be maintained throughout the Reporting Period under
review. The Group continues to assess its customers’ credit and
financial positions so as to minimise credit risks. In order to
control liquidity risks, the Board would closely monitor the
liquidity position of the Group to ensure that its assets, liabilities
and other flow structure committed by the Group would satisfy
the funding needs from time to time.

Foreign currency exchange risk

The transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, and most
of the assets and all liabilities of the Group are denominated in
RMB. The foreign exchange risk that the Group has to bear is
extremely low. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
use any financial instruments for hedging the foreign currency

risk.
Interest rate risk

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank
borrowings which bear interest at floating rate. (2023: Nil)



BAEH

#2024 4 12 A 31 H X% 2023 F 12 A
31 H, AEEPEA AR R
T

2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT

Capital management

Set out below are the Group’s gearing ratios as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023, respectively:

202412 31 H
31 December 2024

2023412 A 31 H
31 December 2023

BA BRI

Gearing ratio

51.37% 44.28%
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Note: Gearing ratio is equal to net liabilities divided by aggregate
capital as at the end of the year. Net liabilities represent total
borrowings deducted by cash and cash equivalents; and aggregate

capital is the sum of net liabilities and total equity.
Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any capital
commitment. (2023: Nil).

Employees' information

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 847 employees
(including executive Directors) (2023: 831 employees),
representing an increase of 16 employees compared with the
number of employees as at 31 December 2023. The total staff cost
(including emoluments of directors and supervisors) was
RMBO91.15 million, representing an increase of 1.20%, as
compared to RMB90.07 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The emoluments were determined with reference to market
practice and the performance, qualification and experience of

individual employees.

The employees are entitled to bonus based on the results of the
Group and individual performance other than basic salaries.
Other staff benefits include other related insurances set up for the
employees employed by the Group in accordance with the rules
and regulations under “Labor Law”, “Employment Contract
Law”, “Social Insurance Law” of the PRC and the current
regulatory requirements of the PRC.

The salaries and benefits of the employees of the Group are kept
at a competitive level. The employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
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Group’ s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

The Group focuses on the career development of its employees.
We provide the employees with internal training and the
opportunity of external training on a regular basis, to support and
encourage them to continuously study and to improve their own
integrated qualities and business capability.

Significant investments held

Apart from investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold
any significant investment during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Future plans related to material investments and capital
assets

The Group has no any future plans related to the material
investments and capital assets.

Material acquisitions and disposals related to subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no
material acquisitions and disposals related to subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was granted a credit limit of
RMBI,717.00 million by various banks, while the Group’s
utilised banking facilities totaled RMB1,275.88 million, which
were secured by (i) property and plant held by the Group with a
carrying amount of RMB211.40 million as at 31 December 2024,
and (ii) land use rights held by the Group with a carrying amount
of RMB66.88 million as at 31 December 2024.

Assets subject to restrictions on ownership or use

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s restricted monetary funds
amounted to RMB391.36 million, which served as deposit for
bank acceptance bills; the Group’s restricted bills receivable
amounted to RMB5.57 million, which were restricted for being
pledged to banks; the Group also pledged certain other assets
totalling RMB278.28 million as guarantee for the Group’s
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borrowings. Assets subject to restrictions on ownership or use
totalled RMB675.21 million.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).
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SUPERVISORS AND
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DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

DIRECTORS,
SENIOR

The table below sets out the information of the Directors and the

supervisors of the Company (the “Supervisor(s)”):

2

Name

Date of appointment

ZERH

FiR
Age

PITESF

Executive Directors

weAHE
Yao Chuanglong

2000/3/6

55

5 < g
Zheng Yuyan

2015/5/25

50

TRIEA
Zhang Hanzi

2022/7/13

45

FEPITESFE

Non-executive Directors

R
Yan Jingbin

2022/6/6

49

FHIE
Fu Zheng

2022/7/13

51

A
Xu Fei

2023/5/31

41

BIFPITES
Independent non-executive
Directors

7R
Li Hanguo

2023/5/31

68

T
Wan Chi Wai Anthony

2015/12/1

49

fi] i

Guan Jian

2015/12/1

55

BE

Supervisors
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4 ZEEH FHe
Name Date of appointment Age
HH
ﬁiﬁ”‘ 2023/5/31 48
Zhu Minghong
A
ol 2015/5/25 52
Zhang Ling
gm@'fﬁ 2015/5/25 45
Zheng Xiyue
PATEHEH EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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JET A oo w BRBES S5 o A 2015 4F 5
H% 2023 45 AEfEERHREEFE. 3
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Mr. Yao Chuanglong (Zk£I#E), aged 55, is the vice chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer on the Company.
He is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
strategic planning and decision, formulation of annual business
operation plan of the Group.

Mr. Yao obtained a certificate in postgraduate class on civil
commercial law from China University of Political Science and
Law (1 [ E7% K £:) in March 2004. Mr. Yao completed a class
on selected on-job executive master of business administration
course (7E B T 7 & 2 BH 1o (EMBA) ¥ 2 Ff 12 W12 I )
conducted by the Sino-Foreign Management Research Institute
of Sun Yat-sen University (71 LLRELHAME BB 5T H40) in the
PRC in March 2004 and a course on “Advance Programme for
Development of Leadership in Pharmaceutical Industry” (52 £ i
AR ) 55 R S AUHME HE) in Zhejiang University (W71 K2)
in the PRC in October 2007. Mr. Yao completed a course on
“Advanced Programme on Business Management for
Executives” (5 4 L7 & BEAEE WHME PE) in Tsinghua University
(E#EARE) in the PRC in July 2008 and a course on “Telaote
Strategic Positing for Executives” (475547 BXHS & AL 4EEHT) in
Peking University (1b 57 K£%) in the PRC in September 2013. In
November 2015, Mr. Yao completed a course on Internet Plus and
Innovative E-commerce for Executives (F.Ef49-+Ei & 17 75 A1
BTAEEIE) in Overseas Education College of Shanghai Jiao Tong
University (#4830 KSR AT 22B57).

Mr. Yao joined the Group in March 2000 as a general manager of
the Company, overseeing the daily operation and formulation of
the strategic development of the Company. Mr. Yao acted as the
chairman of the Board from May 2015 to May 2023. He currently
serves as the executive director and general manager of

Guangdong Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Zhuhai
-033-
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Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Huizhou Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Limited.

Ms. Zheng Yuyan (3 F3#), aged 50, is the executive Director
and vice president of the Company.

In December 2008, Ms. Zheng obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree in the Postgraduate School of Renmin
University of China (7B A K KZA 55 42 F) in the PRC. Ms.
Zheng completed the “Training Programme for Executives
Master of Business Administration Courses” (EMBA T4 %
fHMEHE) organised by Lingnan School of Sun Yat-sen University
(il K22 48 B 22 B ) in the PRC in August 2013, and a course of
“Telaote Strategic Positing for Executives” (4755 R FEE IS & {17 48
#HE) organised by Peking University (1t 51 K%22) in the PRC in
November 2013. In November 2015, Ms. Zheng completed a
course on Internet Plus and Innovative E-commerce for
Executives (. Hji 49+ B 7§ ¥ 7 % B ¥ 48 L PE) in Overseas
Education College of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (#3218
RELEFANEE FH5%)

Ms. Zheng joined the Group in September 2003 and had served
various positions in the Group including procurement officer,
procurement director and sales director. Ms. Zheng was promoted
in August 2015 as the vice president of the Company. She has
been appointed as the Director since 25 May 2015. Ms. Zheng is
mainly responsible for the marketing and products management
of the Group, the arrangement and maintenance of the sales
network of the Group as well as planning and guidance on the
management of operating commodities of the Group. She
currently serves as the executive director and general manager of
Guangzhou Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., LTD.

Ms. Zhang Hanzi (5R7£44), aged 45, is the executive Director
and chief financial officer of the Company.

Ms. Zhang received a bachelor's degree from Sichuan University

in China in 2002, majoring in international finance.

Ms. Zhang joined the Company in February 2014 and has
successively served as a financial manager and a deputy chief
financial officer. From May 2015 to May 2017, she served as the
Supervisor. From July 2008 to January 2014, Ms. Zhang served
as a deputy financial manager of Kaiser (China) Culture Co.,
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Ltd.* (S B AL A A FR A F]), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002425) which is primarily engaging in wholesale and retail of
clothing and leather products; and from July 2008 to January
2014, she also served as a director of Yuxin (Guangdong) Trading
Co., Ltd.* (F&Z(ER)E 5 AR~ 7)), a subsidiary of Kaiser
(China) Culture Co., Ltd.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Jingbin (/& 5{xi),aged 49, is the chairman of the Board
and has been appointed as the non-executive Director since 6
June 2022.

Mr. Yan received a bachelor’s degree of political education from
Jiangxi Normal University in 1998, and a master’s degree of
administrative management from Renmin University of China in
2006.

Mr. Yan has been working as the director and the general manager
of Jiangyao since December 2018. He served as a deputy general
manager of Jiangxi Zhongjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd. from
January 2010 to January 2011, worked for Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical Group Company from January 2011 to March
2018 as general manager of Shenlingcao business line, deputy
director of the office of the board of directors and secretary of the
General Party Branch and minister of Sales, and worked for
Jiangxi Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Investment and Development
Co., Ltd. from March 2018 to August 2020 as the general
manager and secretary of general CPC branch.

Ms. Fu Zheng (f-/1iF), aged 51, has been appointed as the a non-
executive Director since 13 July 2022.

Ms. Fu received her bachelor’s degree of applied electronic
technology from the Department of Automatic Control, East

China University of Science and Technology since 1995.

Ms. Fu has served as the deputy general manager of Jiangyao
(formerly Jiangxi Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Commercial
Operation Co., LTD.) since December 2018. From November
2005 to December 2017, she worked at Yixintang Pharmaceutical
Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Yunnan Hongxiang
Yixintang Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Main Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002727), where she served as a deputy general manager of the

-035-



2/ BEWMERGSRZLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

H], FATERE T AR R, 5
MR PR AR ES . 1R 2018 4F3 &
2020 4F 6 H ATV P B gE 5 i 5%
JE A PR 7] FI AR AL 2 — T

TS, 41 5%, 22023 4E 5 H 31
HEZAT 2 AE AT E S .

TRIETY 2006 FREAFHINTE T FHL
RE B E BN, 5
A E A AR, A RE M E
Bl RS A S AR 58

TRIGEH 2022 4 2 HRIEEILZER| 48
AEEH, AtV AT PR ZE AR I — B SE
MHRAFZE G AREEE . H
LEMBE (BN HIZEHIRA R
Bl LRSS B A IR A =
BB SO B B ZE R B A IR
A HERBRERE (DESER
CIDES

BLAFITESR

ZER LA, 68 5%, it 2023 45 H
31 HERAE A AR PUT

RS 1996 RS R IR
OEESTIES 2T e VAN = ota oW PN )
AE R B B B2 e 20 S W 7 A ST

AR AT P AR 2 e & 5T R R
1E VLV A 8 B2 B 78 S B B2 )T 55
B YLVG 5 B & A PR A 7] 488k
B GHE TR s
HIRA T BI4RE . R T i R
ON T BAT AR VTG K R o 1]
B OFEE. EETARBGS
E NI B E =R g
i, VLPOE T EFERERREIHA . 1L
BHRARETF . HBATHT 260
AEMAMRAREREE, WA 2019
fE4 H 26 HEEATH SCR M H RS 5
LEBDAERAF AR

-036-

group's subsidiaries and a director of the group's commercial
procurement center. From March 2018 to June 2020, she served
as the deputy general manager of Jiangxi Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical Investment and Development Co., Ltd..

Mr. Xu Fei (7€), aged 41, has been appointed as the non-
executive Director since 31 May 2023.

Mr. Xu obtained his bachelor’s degree in Financial Management
from Hangzhou University of Electronic Science and Technology
in 2006. He is a senior accountant, and holds professional
qualification certificates of certified public accountant and tax
accountant.

Mr. Xu has served as the deputy general manager of Jiangyao
since February 2022. He served as an accounting accountant and
accounting supervisor of China National Accord Medicines
Corporation Ltd., director of the financial department of
Sinopharm Zhijun (Suzhou) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., chief
financial officer of Jiangsu Jointown Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
and director of the financial management department of Jointown
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (in charge of the joint ventures).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Hanguo (2= [#]), aged 68, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director since 31 May 2023.

Mr. Li obtained his master’s degree in Economics from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law in 1996. Mr. Li is a professor
and postgraduate supervisor of School of Finance, Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics.

Mr. Li served as deputy director of the Accounting Department of
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, director of the
Institute of Securities and Futures of Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics, president of Jiangxi Ruiqi Futures Co.,
Ltd. and director of Xingqi Audit Firm, general vice president of
Fujian Minfa Securities Co., Ltd., executive president of China
Sifang Holdings Co., Ltd., director of the Research Center of
Securities and Futures of Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics, counselor to the People’s Government of Nanchang
City, expert adviser to the Jiangxi Development and Reform
Commission, the young and middle-aged academic leader of
Jiangxi Province (VLVG% 5 2R EH N ), and a pace-setter
in the new Long March of Jiangxi Province (VL7544 #=1E R %
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F). He is currently the chairman of Zhejiang Maihong Capital
Management Company Limited, and has been an independent
director of Chinese Universe Publishing and Media Group Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600373.SH, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange) since 26 April 2019, an independent director of
Jiangxi WG Tech Co., Ltd (stock code: 603773.SH, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) since 15 November 2022,
He served as an independent director of Jiangxi Hongbai New
Materials Co., Ltd. (stock code: 605366) since January 2024 and
an external director of Jiangxi Railway & Aviation Investment
Group Co., Ltd. since June 2020. He served as an independent
director of Zhongda Construction Company Limited (stock code:
835483, a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations) from May 2020 to April 2024.

Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony (7 % &), aged 49, has been
appointed as the independent non-executive Director since 1
December 2015.

Mr. Wan graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1997 with a bachelor degree in
business administration (accounting). Mr. Wan graduated from
the University of London with a bachelor degree in laws in
August 2003 through distance learning. He further obtained the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in June 2004 from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wan was admitted as a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
January 2002 and a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in May 2006. Mr. Wan was also admitted
as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in September 2006.

Prior to joining the legal field, Mr. Wan worked in the financial,
accounting and audit industry, including as a senior associate in
PricewaterhouseCoopers, an accounting and audit firm, during
August 1997 and May 2001; an accounting manager in Wellink
Services Limited, a company engaging in investment business,
during October 2001 and January 2002; and an assistant manager
in finance in MLC (Hong Kong) Limited, an insurance company,
during April 2002 and September 2003. Since 2004, Mr. Wan has
worked in various local and international law firms, specializing
in the practice of corporate finance transactions including Hong
Kong listings and mergers and acquisitions. From October 2006
to July 2007 and January 2008 to November 2008, Mr. Wan was
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a corporate finance lawyer in Herbert Smith Freehills. He was an
assistant solicitor in Reed Smith Richards Butler from March
2010 to November 2010 and an associate in Morrison & Foerster
from December 2010 to May 2012. Mr. Wan joined Clifford
Chance in May 2012 as a senior associate and left as a counsel in
April 2015. From May 2015 to May 2016, he worked as the
partner and head of the Hong Kong corporate and securities
practice of Vivien Teu & Co in association with Llinks Law
Offices (3@ JJHHTi S 5 Fr), a law firm in Hong Kong. From
January 2018 to May 2023, Mr. Wan served as an independent
non-exectutive director of FDB Holdings Limited (stock code:
1826). Since May 2016, Mr. Wan joined King & Wood
Mallesons, as a partner for its corporate and securities practice.
He has been an independent non-executive director of HM
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8416) from
December 2016 to December 2024.

Mr. Guan Jian ([#3#) (also known as Guan Suzhe (@ %7)),
aged 55, has been appointed as the independent non-executive
Director since 1 December 2015.

Mr. Guan graduated from Chinese People’s Liberation Army
University of International Relationships (4[5 A [ i fisCEH (5 B4
B{RE:05E) with a bachelor degree in English in July 1991 and
from China Europe International Business School (K[54 1.
i 2 Bt ) in the PRC with a master degree in business
administration in November 1997. In August 2014, Mr. Guan was
appointed as a guest professor by Shanghai Jiao Tong University
Continuing Education School (_F 32 18 K22 448 2B 2 Fx) in
the PRC.

Mr. Guan worked as a sales director in Yihaodian* (—5%)5), a
company engaging in business administration, responsible for
marketing, sales and operational management in May 2008.
During the period from July 2009 to August 2010, he was the vice
president of Shanghai Haolijia Electronics Commerce Limited, a
company engaging in the business of marketing, sales and
training, responsible for the business management. Mr. Guan has
been the consultant of China Telecom Corporation Limited
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Jiangsu electronics channel operations centre. Since 2 June 2015,
he has been the executive director and president of Shanghai New
Focus Investment Development Limited, responsible for
integrated corporate management. Since January 2021, he has
been serving as the executive partner of Shanghai Baijiao
Longchang Enterprise Management Service Center (limited
partnership). He has served as executive director of Shanghai
Baiyang Advisory Management Limited since April 2023. He
was an independent director of Hubei Forbon Technology Co.,
Ltd. from May 2019 to December 2023.

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Zhu Minghong (%4 #i#t), aged 48, has been appointed ais
the Chairman of the board of supervisors of the Company (the
“Board of Supervisors”) on 31 May 2023.

Mr. Zhu obtained his master’s degree in laws from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in 2010. He has a
professional title of senior economist and the qualifications of
lawyer, legal advisor and securities practitioner.

Mr. Zhu has been the assistant general manager of Jiangyao since
September 2020. He served as the director of the legal affairs
department and securities law department of Jiangxi Hongdu
Aviation Industry Group Corporation and Jiangxi Hongdu
Aviation Industry Co., Ltd., and the manager of the compliance
risk department of Huazhang Tiandi Media Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd..

Ms. Zhang Ling (58 ¥¥), aged 52, was appointed as the
independent Supervisor on 25 May 2015.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Beijing Wuzi University (1L Z¥1%&
£2:[5%) in the PRC with a bachelor degree in international trade in
July 1994. She obtained a master degree in industrial economics
from Shantou University (JI1FHK%%) in the PRC in June 2005
and a doctorate degree in accounting from Xiamen University (&
F9 K %) in the PRC in December 2009. She obtained the
certificate of Chartered Global Management Accountant
(CGMA) and certificate of member of The Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants (ACMA) in December 2017.

From March 2000 to September 2002, Ms. Zhang was the
assistant to general manager in the Company, responsible for
overseeing financial and administrative matters. From January
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2010 to April 2019, she was an associate professor in Shantou
University Business School (718 K% 75 2[5 ) in the PRC. Since
March 2017, she has been the vice president of Jiangsu Kunyee
Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd..

Ms. Zheng Xiyue (5% 1H), aged 45, was appointed as the
employee representative Supervisor on 25 May 2015.

Ms. Zheng graduated from China Central Radio and TV
University ("1 9 B AL KZ) in the PRC with a bachelor
degree in accounting in July 2009. She has also completed a
course on “Executive Master of Business Administration
(EMBA) Programme for Executives” in Market Economy
Academy of Peking University (b 5% RS [ 2 &RV AIE 50 22 Fx)
in the PRC in April 2010. In February 2017, she obtained a
graduate diploma in “Integrated Marketing Communications” (3
& % 84 %) from the Hong Kong University School of
Professional and Continuing Education.

Ms. Zheng joined the Group in July 2001 and held positions
including accounting officer and manager of settlement
department. She is currently the deputy chief marketing officer
and is responsible for providing assistance to our chief marketing
officer in the operation of our sales centre. She also acts as the
supervisor of Guangdong Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
Zhuhai Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Guangzhou
Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Huizhou Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Co., Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENTS

Mr. Yao Chuanglong (Zk£%E), aged 55, is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Biographical details of Mr. Yao are set
out in the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Zheng Yuyan (¥ £ i), aged 50, is the vice president of the
Company. Biographical details of Ms. Zheng are set out in the
paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Lin Zhijie (#kE4), aged 41, is the vice president of the
Company. Mr. Lin joined the Group in January 2007, he is
responsible for the logistics planning and operation of the Group,
including matters such as logistics budget and cost control. At the
same time, Mr. Lin is also in charge of the Group’s information
technology centre.
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Mr. Lin graduated from the Science and Technology College of
Jiangxi University of Traditional Chinese Medicine* (V.75 1 &
2Bt B+ 2 Bt ) in the PRC in July 2007, majoring in
pharmaceutics formulation, and obtained a postgraduate diploma
in “Organization and Human Resources Management” from the
School of Professional and Continuing Education of the
University of Hong Kong in May 2019. He was awarded the title
of Senior Logistician by the China Federation of Logistics and
Purchasing in December 2024.

Ms. Zhang Hanzi (58 3840, aged 45, is the chief financial officer
of the Company. Biographical details of Ms. Zhang are set out in
the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Liu Yingyu ($1#t %), aged 45, was appointed as the quality
director of the Company on 7 March 2019, and is responsible for
the medicine quality management of the Company.

Ms. Liu graduated from Xinyang Health School of Henan
Province (] F§ %4 15 I 1 £ 224%) in July 2000, majoring in
nursing. She graduated from Shantou University in January 2015
with a major in pharmacy. She graduated from Guangzhou
University of Chinese Medicine in January 2018, majoring in
traditional Chinese medicine. She was awarded the Chinese
Pharmacist Junior Certificate in May 2009, the Pharmacy
Intermediate Certificate in March 2012, and the Licensed
Pharmacist Qualification Certificate in January 2014.

Ms. Liu was the manager of Guangdong Province Kangzhixuan
Chain Co., Ltd. from October 2000 to March 2004. She served as
the quality controller of Shantou City Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. From April 2004 to July 2014. From August 2014 to
April 2015, she worked as a quality control manager in Shantou
City Xiangyue Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.. From April 2015 to
March 2019, she worked as a quality control manager at our

Company, responsible for quality control.

Ms. Yao Jiexi (ZkiE#), aged 33, joined the Company in 2015,
is the joint company secretary of the Company, and is responsible
for information disclosure, investor relations management, legal
compliance and other matters of the Company. Ms. Yao has a
Chinese legal professional qualification.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company believes that a healthy corporate culture is the core
of good governance, but also the soul of the enterprise and an
important part of sustainable development. The Board is
committed to promoting and cultivating the Company's service
concept of “sincere service, sincere dedication”, and the
enterprise spirit of “hard work and enterprising, and happy
struggle” at all levels and in all business areas of the Group, in
line with the Group's core values of “responsibility,
professionalism, discipline, authenticity and enterprising”, and
effectively embodying the Group's mission of “creating a healthy
and beautiful life” and the vision of “becoming the most
competitive service provider in China's pharmaceutical and
health industry”. The Board is responsible for determining,
promoting and monitoring the relevant corporate culture to
ensure that it complies with the Group's business objectives,
corporate strategies and future policies. The Group's corporate
culture is fully reflected and reflected in the Group's policies,
governance practices and procedures.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important roles of the Board in
providing effective leadership and direction to the Company’s
business, and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Company’s operations. In accordance with the principles set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Board sets appropriate
policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Company’s
business. The Company had been complying with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practice in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to
comply with the increasingly stringent regulatory requirements and
to meet the rising expectation of the Shareholders and investors
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of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
in dealings with the Company’s securities for the Directors and
Supervisors. Having made enquiries with all Directors and
supervisors of the Company, the Company confirmed that all
Directors and Supervisors had complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consisted of nine Directors,
of which three were executive Directors, three were non-
executive Directors and three were independent non-executive

ITHEH, HEHEFRAMEKLT:

Directors. The composition of the Board was as follows:

EH R

. . Duration of service contract/

Directors Age Position .
letter of appointment
‘ EERE . WU 5 B
kAR s meﬁ ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁgﬁ}ﬁd 2024 4 5 4 20 AF 2027 455 A 19 A
ice chairman, executive Director an

Mr. Yao Chuanglong chief exceutive officer 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
M et 50 FAATHE e R A 2024455 H20 HE 2027 45 19 H
Ms. Zheng Yuyan Executive Director and vice president 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027

. 7 He A 5 4 S
SR At 5| e ,%g%E%iﬁfﬁ | 2024 % 5 320 A 2027 465 A 19 F
Ms. Zhang Hanzi xecutive Director and chiet financia 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027

officer

RS 49 TR HRAFRATE S 2024 4E 5 H 20 H&E 2027 5 19 H
Mr. Yan Jingbin Chairman and Non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
FHE %+ 51 FEPITESR 2024 4E 5 H20 H&E 2027 5 19 H
Ms. Fu Zheng Non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
TRt 4l FPITESR 2024 45 H 20 H2 2027 45 H 19 H
Mr. Xu Fei Non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
FHE A 68 WS AEITER 2024 455 320 HZ 2027 45 4 19 H
Mr. Li Hanguo Independent non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
TR 49 BARPITES 2024455 H20 HE 2027 455 H 19 H
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony Independent non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
[ Sed 55 BARSITES 202445 H20 HE 2027 455 19 H
Mr. Guan Jian Independent non-executive Director 20 May 2024 to 19 May 2027
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Details for each of the Directors’ profile are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.

Save as the relationship disclosed in the section “Biographies of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” and the working
relationship in the Company, there is no relationship among the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management regarding the
financial, business, family or other material aspects.

BOARD MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings shall be convened at least 4 times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Other Board meetings shall
be convened when necessary for the discussion of the overall
strategy and financial performance of the Company’s operation.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
convened 9 Board meetings. Their details are as follows:

B i kB Y ik
4 L A1TA KB
Name Position Number of Meetings Attended/
Eligible for Attendance
; il v BT ERIAT B,

Bl i I AT RSB o
Mr. Yao Chuanglong ice chairman, executive Director an:

' chief executive officer
[TES S B I e A 0/
Ms. Zheng Yuyan Executive Director and vice president

. 17 HEEUE 75 4 B

. Executive Director and chief financial 9/9
Ms. Zhang Hanzi
officer

Rk RN S e 0l
Mr. Yan Jingbin Chairman and non-executive Director
A 41 BT 0/
Ms. Fu Zheng Non-executive Director
L BT 0/
Mr. Xu Fei Non-executive Director
T WA AT 0/
Mr. Li Hanguo Independent non-executive Director
PR RSLA AR 0/
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony Independent non-executive Director
CLTEE B AT 0/
Mr. Guan Jian Independent non-executive Director
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The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
which is not less than one-third of the number of Directors in the
Board. Among them, Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony has the

appropriate professional qualification.

In accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Chairman had a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Appropriate notification will be sent to each Director in advance
prior to the regular Board meetings and other Board meeting.
Meeting agendas and other relevant information are provided to
the Directors prior to the Board meetings. All Directors would be
inquired for the agenda for Board meetings and other additional

matters.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The comments made by the Directors at the meetings and both
draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all Directors.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the secretary of the

meetings.

GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held 3
general meetings. The detail is as follows:

B MRS 'R
Date Location Meeting
H R g R4 M T R D R TR SRR AR 5 33 5%
“HEEE

2024 3 A28 H
28 Marchl 2024

The conforence room on the 2nd floor, No. 33, Liyu
Street, Dongchong Town, Nansha District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

2024 4F5F — KRR B RO &
the 2024 First Extraordinary General Meeting

2024 4£5 A 20 H
20 May 2024

o B B TR B T R D SRR SELE AR A 33 9%
THEERRE
The conforence room on the 2nd floor, No. 33, Liyu
Street, Dongchong Town, Nansha District,

Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

2023 R AGEE K
the 2023 Annual General Meeting

2024 412 A 27 H
27 December 2024

H e 2 PR 2 M T R D I R SELE A A 33 9%
ZEEEE
The conforence room on the 2nd floor, No. 33, Liyu
Street, Dongchong Town, Nansha District,

Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

2024 4F5F BRI B ROK &
the 2024 Second Extraordinary General
Meeting
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The attendance of each Director at the general meeting during the
Reporting Period is as follows:

HF eIk e / A
% B TRIW
Name Position Number of Meetings
Attended/
Eligible for attendance
. El N . S e kY /ALF ‘%‘% N,

e R PR

Vice chairman, executive Director and chief 3/3
Mr. Yao Chuanglong )

executive officer

LS e AT HE S AR AR 3/3
Ms. Zheng Yuyan Executive Director and vice president
RIEA LA AT E AR A 13
Ms. Zhang Hanzi Executive Director and chief financial officer
i O SEAE FRAAEATE S 33
Mr. Yan Jingbin Chairman and non-executive Director
fHIE L+ FEPITES 33
Ms. Fu Zheng Non-executive Director
et EATE SR 33
Mr. Xu Fei Non-executive Director
S P ALARPITEHF 13
Mr. Li Hanguo Independent non-executive Director
R AT s
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony Independent non-executive Director
ks BALARPATE S 33
Mr. Guan Jian Independent non-executive Director
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for monitoring and managing
the Company’s affairs, including the adoption of long-term
strategies, appointment of and supervision on senior
management, to ensure that the operations of the Group are
conducted in accordance with its own objectives. The Board is
also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include: (i) the preparation of and
review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices; (ii) the review and regulation on the training and

continuous professional development of Directors and senior
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management; (iii) the review and regulation on the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; (iv) the review and monitoring of the Company’s
policies and practices regarding the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements and (v) the review on the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. The Board has
performed its duties in respect of the corporate governance
function mentioned above during 2024.

While the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various Board committees which
have been established by the Board to deal with different aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their
respective written terms of reference as approved by the Board,
these Board committees are governed by the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles of Association™) as well as the
Board’s policies and practices (in so far as the same are not in
conflict with the provisions contained in the Articles of
Association). With the composition of members of the risk
management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”),
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”),
remuneration committee (the ‘“Remuneration Committee”),
strategic development committee (the “Strategic Development
Committee”) and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee™)
of the Board, the independent non-executive Directors are able to
effectively devote their time to perform the duties required by
each of the Board committees.

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing
its strategies and the daily operation to the management of the
Company under the leadership of the executive Directors. Clear
guidance has been made as to the matters that should be reserved
to the Board for its decision which include matters on, inter alia,
capital, finance and financial reporting, internal controls,
communication with the Shareholders, Board membership,

delegation of authority and corporate governance.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. The Financial Statements were
prepared on the basis set out in note IV to the Financial
Statements. Financial results of the Group are announced in a

timely manner in accordance with statutory and/ or regulatory
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requirements. The declaration of reporting responsibility issued
by the external auditor of the Company on the Company’s
Financial Statements is set out in the Auditor’s Report.

The Company has no non-compliance with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
terms of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

The Board composition and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors should be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee on an annual basis, in particular the portion of the
independent non-executive Directors and the independence of the
independent non-executive director who has served for more than
nine years.

A written confirmation was received by the Company under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in relation to his/her independence to the
Company. The Company considers all its independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid
conflict of interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or
senior management of the Company’s controlling shareholders
and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders, would
abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions in relation
to the transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its
associates.

The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-
executive Directors at least once annually.

All members of the Board can seek independent professional
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advice when necessary to perform their responsibilities in
accordance with the Company’s policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guidance materials and
participated related training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group. Such guidance materials and
relevant overview are provided immediately to the Directors who
are newly appointed. Continuing briefings and professional
development for the Directors are arranged whenever necessary.

During 2024, all Directors have provided record of training
attendance. The Company continues to arrange or provide
training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

During 2024, continuing professional development participated
by the Directors is summarized as follows:

AHARER. BERREIAEREEZENEI

HH
. Training in relation to corporate governance, regulatory
Directors i i
developments and other relevant professional topics
PITES

Executive Directors

PeAIRE CRIERD
Yao Chuanglong (Vice Chairman)

B e
Zheng Yuyan

TRIEH
Zhang Hanzi

EPTEE

Non-executive Directors
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Training in relation to corporate governance, regulatory
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Yan Jingbin (Chairman)
AHIE /
Fu Zheng
43T
%%. /
Xu Fei
BILFPITES
Independent non-executive Directors
R Y
Li Hanguo
FHE e Y
Wan Chi Wai Anthony
o]

v
Guan Jian
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND DISMISSAL

All non-executive Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment or
agreements with the Company for a specific term of three years,
subject to re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors are
elected at the general meeting with a term of three years from the
effective date of being elected. Directors may offer themselves
for re-election if their terms expire. The chairman of the Board is
elected and removed by the majority votes from all Directors,
with a term of three years and may offer himself/herself for re-
election. The removal of any Directors with an unexpired term is
allowed at the general meeting by way of ordinary resolutions,
provided that it is complied with the requirements of related laws

and administrative regulations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF
THE BOARD

The responsibilities of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual to ensure more effective checks
and balances and thereby establish a better governance structure.
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Mr. Yan Jingbin is the chairman of the Board and is mainly
responsible for leading the Board and ensuring the effective
functioning of the Board and all important matters have been
discussed in due course. Mr. Yao Chuanglong is the chief
executive officer of the Company and is mainly responsible for
supervising the Company’s daily business and implement the
Company’s main strategies and policies.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of Mr. Yan Jingbin, Ms. Fu Zheng and
Mr. Xu Fei, the non-executive Directors, is three years,
commening on 20 May 2024 and expiring upon the expiration of
the current session of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of Mr. Li Hanguo, Mr. Wan Chi Wai
Anthony and Mr. Guan lJian, the independent non-executive
Directors, is three years, commencing on 20 May 2024 and
expiring upon the expiration of the current session of the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
November 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis;
identify individuals qualified to become the Board members;
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment or re-election of the Directors. As at
31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised three
members, two of them are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Guan Jian (chairman of the Nomination Committee)
and Mr. Li Hanguo and one is executive Director, namely Mr. Yao
Chuanglong.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee convened two meetings on 28 March 2024 and 20
May 2024 respectively. The meeting held on 28 March 2024 was
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
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assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
and the meeting held on 20 May 2024 was to propose to the Board
to recommend members of the Board committees of the fourth
session of the Board and recommend appointing senior
management personnel of the Company. The meeting was
attended by all the members of the Nomination Committee,
including Mr. Guan Jian, Mr. Li Hanguo and Mr. Yao
Chuanglong.

The Company has adopted the Director nomination policy for the
appointment of the members of the Board. Taking into account of
the Board diversity policy, the appointment of the members of the
Board will be based on a number of objective criteria to consider
the candidates suitably qualified to become Board members. The
selection criteria used to evaluate candidates include:

* personal character and integrity;

seducation background and qualifications (including the
professional qualifications, skills and knowledge related to the
Company’s business and corporate strategies);

» willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to perform the
duties of the Directors;

+ contribution of different aspects of diversity to the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, race, cultural and
education background, professional experiences, skills,
knowledge, and terms of services;

* requirements for independent non-executive Directors of the

Board under the Listing Rules; and

» any other conditions determined by the Board from time to time.

For the purpose of nomination procedure, any Board member can
nominate or invite candidates to hold directorship for the
consideration of the Nomination Committee. When identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process by making reference to the
skills, experience, education background, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and other
relevant laws and statutory requirements and regulations required

for the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the
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standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.
A candidate who is to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. For the re-appointment of
retiring Directors, the Nomination Committee will review the
overall contribution and performance of the candidates during
their terms of services (including the frequency of attendance at
various meetings, the level of participation and performance of
duties). Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board and the Sharcholders’ meeting for approval. The
Nomination Committee will review the Director nomination

policy in due course to ensure its effectiveness.
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
November 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Group and ensure none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The remuneration of
executive Directors are determined based on the skills,
knowledge, individual performance and contributions, the scope
of responsibility and duties of such Directors, taking into
consideration of the Company’s results performance and
prevailing market conditions. The remuneration policy of non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
to ensure that the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are adequately compensated for their efforts
and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs including their
participation in respective Board committees. The remuneration
of non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their skills,
experience, knowledge, duties and market trends. As at 31
December 2024, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Li Hanguo (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony, and a non-executive
Director, namely Ms. Fu Zheng.
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Details of remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set out
in note X.5.(1) to the Financial Statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings on 28 March 2024, 1 August 2024
and 25 September 2024. The meeting held on 28 March 2024 was
to evaluate the performance of the executive Directors, approve
the terms of the service contracts of the executive Directors,
review the overall remuneration policy for the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management and present them to the
Board. The meeting held on 1 August 2024 was to recommend
the formulation of the Company’s senior management
remuneration related system in 2024 to the Board. The meeting
held on 14 September 2024 was to establish management
regulations for the executive level to the Board. The meetings
were attended by all the members of the Remuneration
Committee, including Mr. Li Hanguo, Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony

and Ms. Fu Zheng.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will
review the proposals made by the management on the
remuneration of all Directors, Supervisors and senior
management and make recommendation to the Directors. The
Board will have final authority to approve the remuneration

recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 November
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2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with code
provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and has held regular
meetings since its establishment to review and make
recommendations to improve the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal controls. Other than that, the primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
external auditor, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and oversees internal
control of the Company. As at 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee consisted of three members including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wan Chi Wai
Anthony (chairman of the Audit Committee), and Mr. Guan Jian
and a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Fei.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
two meetings on 28 March 2024 and 28 August 2024. On both
occasions, the Audit Committee reviewed, amongst others, the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024, and
believed that the preparation of such results was in compliance
with applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules, in
addition to reviewing the changing of the accounting policies
adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements and the
re-appointment of auditors. All the members of the Audit
Committee, including Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony, Mr. Guan Jian
and Mr. Xu Fei attended the meetings at that time.

The Audit Committee was aware about the Group’s existing
system for risk management and internal control and noted that
the system would be subject to annual review.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has not taken a
different view from the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, designation or dismissal of external auditor.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
reviewed with the management of the Company the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed
internal controls and financial reporting matters. The Audit
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Committee also discussed and reviewed the annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2024 of the Company with the external
auditor of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on
26 November 2015 with written terms of reference. Its terms of
reference are available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to
annually review the general goals and fundamental policies of our
risk and compliance management, internal control and risk
management and internal audit functions and made
recommendations to the Board on the same. As at 31 December
2024, the Risk Management Committee comprised three
members, including two executive Directors, namely Mr. Yao
Chuanglong (chairman of the Risk Management Committee), Ms.
Zhang Hanzi and an independent non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Li Hanguo.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting on 28 March 2024 where the Risk
Management Committee reviewed the strategy, policy and
guideline of the Company’s risk management, the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and
the adequacy of resources, and considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. The meeting
was attended by all the members of the Risk Management
Committee, including Mr. Yao Chuanglong, Ms. Zhang Hanzi
and Mr. Li Hanguo.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Strategic Development Committee
on 10 June 2017, and determined its terms of reference in writing.

The Strategic Development Committee is mainly responsible for
studying the overall development strategies for the Company,
major investment and financing plans, and other material issues
that influence the development of the Company, and making
recommendations to the Board. As at 31 December 2024, the
Strategic Development Committee consisted of three members,

including a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Yan Jingbin
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(chairman of the Strategic Development Committee), and two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yao Chuanglong and Ms. Zheng
Yuyan.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Strategic
Development Committee held one meeting on 28 March 2024, at
which a study was conducted on the development strategies and
future development plans of the Company. All the members of
the Strategic Development Committee, including Mr. Yan
Jingbin, Mr. Yao Chuanglong and Ms. Zheng Yuyan, attended the

o meeting.
HAFRATER Board Committee Meetings
WEWN, EFEISRETHGHEIR During the Reporting Period, the number of meetings of the
L& = LU A P I Board committees and the attendance of members were as
follows:
L H R il R B 8 L il TR B
Number of Meetings Attended/ Eligible for attendance
44 FRERE | REZAT | AKEEZAY | REBRZAE | FMEAE
Name . .
Audit Nomination Risk Strategic Remuneration
. . Management Development .
Committee Committee . . Committee
Committee Committee
PUTHEF
Executive Directors
I 5 A o » » A
Mr. Yao Chuanglong Not applicable Not applicable
MRt A3 A3 N3 U1 it
Ms. Zheng Yuyan Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
SRIEM Lt i A » it A
Ms. Zhang Hanzi Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
FPITESRE
Non-executive Directors
st ek i At it » A
Mr. Yan Jingbin Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
FHE &t At A At At 3
Ms. Fu Zheng Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
s 2 A A At At
Mr. Xu Fei Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
BILIEPITES
Independent non-executive Directors
I At 2 " A 3
Mr. Li Hanguo Not applicable Not applicable
iy . - -
SRR T S S
Mr. Wan Chi Wai 22 Not applicable | Not applicable | Not applicabl 33
Anthony ot applicable ot applicable ot applicable
CLvn 2 2 A A Al
Mr. Guan Jian Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the following Board diversity policy:

With a view of achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity of the Board
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. All the appointments
made by the Board will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be adequately considered against objective criteria, together
with the benefit to the Board made by the Board diversity policy.
Selection of Board members will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on the specific demand for talents in various stages of the
business development and strategic planning of the Company, and
also the merits and contribution to be made by the selected
candidates. The composition of the Board (including gender, age
and length of service) will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report annually.

Set out below is the Board diversity achieved by the Company as
at 31 December 2024:

PATEH 3
Executive Directors
S BT 3
Position Non-executive Directors
P AT EH 3
Independent non-executive Directors
B i 6
R Male
Gender 4k
3
Female
40-49 4
i 50-59 4
Age
60-69 1
B,/ HhE rH R P g
Country/Region Mainland China
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Hh B A
Hong Kong, China

HEEE

BT

Bachelor degree

Education level

L FEE

Master degree

frat
Accounting

L% S84

Professional Experiences

P ES

Law

TrEH

Business Administration

0-3 4
0-3 years

REHERBEN

Terms of Services in the Board

4-6 F
4-6 years

7 HLL

Over 7 years

e
g %

Pharmaceutical

35,/ AT A

Market/Industry Experiences

BREH

Investment management

w TR

E-commerce

AERE 2024 £ 12 A 31 H1EEE, =
HY O EHE T 2 oLBOR ) H i
MMERFA . #E 2024 4F 12 H
31 H, EHRFH =L LHEFMSNZ
U ERAN. HHEGRE, HEY
CEL TN Z i, ARAF CE
T EHHAGE 13.92 GATEc EH
MR Z u e . IR_RBEEE
A A R N 5% A S N R
122 TOAK IR T A

£ 8 TR Z Tk

AAFBEEHAEME T (BE&S
EENE) BRI Z o,
2024412 A 31 H, AAFSHIAE
452 BB T 395 LB T,

B LM B TA L A 53.4% K%
46.6%. EHERL, A T
A2 AL ORI . AN FESUI4E

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the board diversity policy and confirmed its
effectiveness. As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised
three female Directors and six male Directors. The Board is of the
view that gender diversity has been achieved in the Board and the
Company has complied with the requirement of gender diversity
of the Board as set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee will continue to review and strive to

maintain an appropriate balance of gender diversity in the Board.

GENDER DIVERSITY IN THE WORKFORCE

The Company aims to achieve the gender diversity and equality
in the workforce (including officers). As at 31 December 2024,
the Company had 452 male and 395 female employees, the ratio
of male and female employees are 53.4% and 46.6% respectively.
The Board is of the opinion that the gender diversity in the
workforce has been achieved. The Company will work to
maintain the existing gender ratio and further enhance the gender
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diversity when appropriate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the Company engaged ShineWing
Certified Public Accountants (LLP) as the external auditor of the
Company. The fees in respect of audit services provided by
ShineWing Certified Public Accountants (LLP) to the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMBO0.85
million (tax exclusive), the non-audit service (regarding the
related services of continuing connected transactions) amounted
to RMBO0.10 million (tax exclusive).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to
prepare accounts of the Group and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and the Company’s management
will provide information and explanation to the Board to enable
it to make informed assessments of the finance and other

decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of their
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the “Auditor’s
Report” contained in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Yao Jiexi being one
of the joint company secretaries of the Company, was primarily
responsible for the company secretarial work of the Group.

For the purpose of maintaining the good corporate governance
and ensuring the compliance with the Listing Rules and
applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company has also engages Ms.
Wong Wai Ling from SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited (a corporate service provider) as another joint
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company secretary of the Company on 8 April 2022 to assist Ms.
Yao Jiexi in fulfilling her duties as the company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Wong Wai Ling’s main contact person in the
Company is Ms. Yao Jiexi.

In accordance with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, each of Ms. Yao and Ms. Wong confirmed that she
has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the system of
internal control and risk management; the Audit Committee
assists the Board in performing its duty of monitoring and
corporate governance, which covers the finance, operation,
compliance, risk management and internal control of the
Company, as well as performing the function of internal audit.
Assisted by the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, the Board is responsible for effectively maintaining
the system of internal control and risk management, to safeguard
the Group’s assets and the shareholders’ interests. The system
aims to manage (not eliminate) the risks that may cause the failure
to fulfill business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
(not absolute) assurance against major mistakes, losses or fraud.

Composed of a robust organisational structure and
comprehensive policies and procedures, the system of internal
control and risk management of the Company covers all its
operating departments, with clear specification of the duties of all
business and functional departments, to ensure effective checks
and balances. The structure of risk management and internal
control of the Company includes the following parts:

The Board

As the ultimate decision-maker on internal control and
management, the Board is responsible for assessing and
determining the nature and extent of the Company’s risks, to help
it deliver its business strategies and achieve its business
objectives. The Board is also responsible for establishing,
improving, and effectively implementing the Company’s system
of internal control and risk management, as well as supervising

the management in its design, implementation and monitoring of
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the system.
The Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee

The Board authorises its Risk Management Committee to review
and approve the risk management policies and guidance of the
Company, make decisions on risk level and preference as well as
relevant resource allocation, and review the effectiveness and
resources of the Group’s internal control system at least annually.

The Board authorises the Audit Committee to review the
Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management systems at least annually, discuss with the
management on the internal control system, ensure that the
management has performed its duty to establish an effective
internal control system (taking into account, amongst others, the
sufficiency of the Company’s resources, staff qualifications and
experience in auditing and finance, and the sufficiency of staff
training courses and relevant budgets), and review the Group’s
financial and accounting policies and practice.

The Board of Supervisors

As the supervisory body for internal control and management, the
Board of Supervisors is responsible for supervising the Board and
the management in establishing and implementing internal

control.
The Management

The management is responsible for leading the development and
daily operation of the Company’s internal control, as well as its
coordination and management, identifying, assessing and
managing the risks that potentially affects important operational
procedures, timely responding to and following the matters on
risk management and internal control raised by the internal
auditor, and confirming to the Board and the Audit Committee as
to whether the system of risk management and internal control is

effective.

The Company has also established a corresponding mechanism
for risk management, which provides the framework and scope
of risk management, business objectives, risk assessment process,

and the process of regular assessment and monitoring.

The risk assessment of the Company is mainly composed by 5

fundamental processes, namely risk management concepts and
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risk acceptance level establishment, goals formulation, risk
identification, risk analysis and risk response. The Company
conducts risk assessment on regular basis and classifies risks
based on different Company’s goals, including strategic
environmental risk, procedural risk (business operation risk,
financial risk, authorization risk, information and technology
risk, and comprehensive risk) and strategic decision information
risk. The Company identifies risks and selects suitable risk
response plan in accordance with the results of risk analysis, and
in consideration of the cause of the risks, through analysing all
kinds of risk. It also identifies and controls the potential risk
acceptance abilities and limits of the Company in a timely manner
during the risk assessment process, assesses the risks that the
Company may expose to, and takes specific countermeasures so
as to enhance the Company’s risk-resisting ability. By a
comparison of risk assessment results, the Company ranks the
priority of its risks and determines its risk management strategies
and internal control procedures, to curb, prevent or reduce risks.

The Board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control and risk management for the year
ended 31 December 2024, discovered no material defect in
internal control, and considered the existing system to be
effective and adequate. The Company also had adequate
resources, staff qualifications, training courses and budgets in its

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND REPORTING POLICIES

The Group has formulated systems such as the Administrative
Rules on Clean Practices ( { H & & H #l 2 ) ), the
Administrative Measures on Internal and External Complaints
( {NAPEHFRFE BEIHE) ) and the Administrative Rules on Gifts
( (FEMEHEHIED ), requesting all employees to sign the Letter
of Commitment to Clean Practices ( { BRiZ/&Kit= ) ), which
aim at regulating the behaviors of its employees, promoting the
self-discipline and law-abiding and clean practices among its
employees, as well as eliminating the occurrence of various
irregular and corrupted behaviors in the course of work or

business.

The Group has set up a variety of complaints and reporting
channels such as hotlines, complaint boxes, instant messaging
and emails to receive complaints or reports about illegal

-063-



2/ BEWMERGSRZLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

1T R PR BB . A7 ] 52 HE AR
MIERE SR B SR, WEHEAFIEAT
BORME S . BXGE, 407 TS
fraidte, 71 By R
2, REHERRIESEEE

WENREHEE

AN [ 1] — B AT A 4R 9 R
WK, #T G e SO e S s
BT % A T SRR P B T
PEFG . RRBOR A A AT 3
kT -

i B R A A T SR R e B T T
P 2R

AAFMERBE T REF TR
BAEH, EHGEREARN A T
R EEEF NS - EEAN. A
AR AFIE AR A HEF FHHE
R A A A A R A5 S TARRA
MEFE. EFERGRAERMEEHEH
WA EEEI . AL R S BAE
M. Baas. TariEEENHE
NN PN LRl AEPSEE g
(REoR S N

AR DN ) A5 JE 3 R SO T B A E
Wit WA T DL SRS AT o B 1
AL E AN I B 0. A S
S EAEA B B PR AR A 1O 1 RE B3¢
Fro AR ATARYE R AR H ARG
EWERGER, EEREREE AR
JAR 78 W8 1 B e IR ) AN e i e
BRSO PRI . BRAS B BUT
BoN, AN B T ARERENFER
FEATAT B AS 2w R -

-064-

behaviors of employees from its partners and internal sources.
After receiving complaints or reports, the relevant department
collects information and evidence on the issue to have a full
understanding of the entire process of the issue, and strives to get
the facts of the complaints clear and finally raises its suggestions
of treatment based on the investigation results.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has established a policy regarding the disclosure of
inside information, which sets out the procedures and internal
control measures of the handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in compliance with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance. The policy and its effectiveness would be

reviewed on a regular basis.

The procedures for handling and publishing inside information

and the internal control measures are as follows:

The Company’s information disclosure is led and managed by the
Board. The chairman of the Board is the first person who
responsible for the implementation of the information disclosure
management system of the Company. The company secretary of
the Company is responsible for coordinating and organizing the
specific matters of the Company’s information disclosure under
the leadership of the Board. The general office of the Board is the
competent authority for daily management of information
disclosure. All functional departments, branches and subsidiaries
of the Company will designate special contact person for
significant information, and report relevant information

disclosure materials to the general office of the Board.

The Company’s information disclosure documents primarily
include periodic reports, interim reports, and various types of
documents disclosed in accordance with the requirements of
relevant regulatory authorities. The announced information shall
be disclosed in the media designated by the relevant regulatory
authorities. The Company may also disclose information in other
media as required, but it shall ensure that the disclosures are
consistent and the time of disclosure by the designated media is
not later than the non-designated media. Save for the principle
regulation of information disclosure, employees of the Company
shall not receive any interviews related to the Company without

authorisation.
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The Board shall take necessary measures to keep the information
insiders within the minimum scope before information
disclosure. Before the inside information is disclosed in
accordance with laws, any information insider shall not disclose
or divulge the information, use the information for insider
trading, or manipulate the trading prices of the securities and its
derivatives with others. When an employee leaves the Company,
he or she shall hand over the relevant inside information of the

Company and must not disclose the above information.
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by the
Shareholders

Two or more shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
who jointly hold 10% or more of the shares carrying rights to vote
at the proposed meeting may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by signing a written requirement
or several copies with the same format and content, and to
illustrate the subject of the meetings. The Board shall convene an
extraordinary general meeting as soon as possible upon receipt of
the foresaid written requirement. The aforesaid number of
shareholdings is calculated as at the date of the submission of the
written requirement by the shareholders.

If the Board fails to issue a notice of convening such a meeting
within 30 days from the date of receipt of the aforesaid written
requisition, the Shareholders who raise the requisition may
themselves convene the meeting within 4 months from the date
of receipt of the requisition by the Board. The procedures of
convening the meeting shall be the similar as those of convening
a general meeting by the Board as far as possible.

If the Shareholders call and convene a meeting by themselves
since the Board cannot convene the meeting in accordance with
the foresaid requirement, the expenses reasonably resulted
therefrom shall be borne by the Company and deducted from the
amounts owed to the Directors who have neglected their duties.

Putting forward proposals at the general meeting

The Shareholders solely or aggregately holding more than 3% of
Shares of the Company may make an interim draft resolution to
the convener in writing 10 days before the convening of the
Sharcholders’ general meeting. The convener shall, within 2 days
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after receipt of the draft resolution, issue a supplementary notice
of general meeting and announce the content of such interim draft

resolution.
Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders who request related information or ask for
information shall provide the Company with the written
documents proving their types of shares and the number of Shares
being held. The Company would provide related information in
accordance with the request of the Shareholders after verifying
the identity of the Shareholders and receiving reasonable fees.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address:Joint Company Secretary, Yao Jiexi, No. 235 Song Shan
North Road, Longhu District, Shantou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (For the attention of Joint Company Secretary)

Fax: 86-0754-82752026
Email: Yaojiexi@charmacy.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

Shareholders may call the Company at 86-0754-88109272 for
any assistance.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

At the 2024 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 28 May 2024, the Company approved amendments to the
Articles of Association which included (1) updating and bringing
the Articles of Association in line with the amendments to the
Listing Rules which mandate the electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers to their securities
holders from 31 December 2023 onwards; and (2) making other

consequential amendments.
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Save for the above, there were no material changes to the Articles
of Association during the year ended 31 Dececmber 2024.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all Shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a
high level of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.
The Company has established the Shareholders’ communication
policy and is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure
of corporate information to the Shareholders and its public

investors.

The Company updates the Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its corporate
publications including annual reports and public announcements.
Information about the Company’s business for the year ended 31
December 2024 has been provided in this annual report. While
the annual general meeting provides a valuable forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders, the
Company also maintains its website (http://www.chmyy.com) to
provide an alternative communication channel for the public and
the Shareholders. All corporate communication and Company’s
latest updates are available on the Company’s website.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the Shareholders’ communication policy and
considered the Shareholders’ communication policy effective.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board are pleased to present 2024 annual report together with
the Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal business of the Company is pharmaceutical products
distribution in the PRC. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in Note VII of the financial statements.
Business review during the Reporting Period, discussion on the
future business development of the Group and performance
analysis of the Group within the year based on key financial
performance indicators are set out in the Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024
and its financial positions as at 31 December 2024 are set out in
the Financial Statements.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.45 per share (tax inclusive) for the year ended 31 December
2024, which is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting to be convened on 22 May 2025 (the
“AGM”), final dividend for full circulation H shareholders of the
Company will be paid in RMB, and the final dividend for other H
shareholders of the Company will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.
The exchange rate for the final dividend to be paid in Hong Kong
dollars will be the mean of the exchange rates of RMB to Hong
Kong dollars as announced by the PBOC during the 5 business
days preceding the date of approval of the final dividend at the
AGM. The final dividend is expected to be paid on 11 July 2025.
The Company will announce the details in relation to the record
date of dividend payment and the relevant dates when the
registration of the Company will be closed, when appropriate.

The Company does not hold any treasury shares (including any
treasury shares held or deposited with Central Clearing and
Settlement System) and holders of treasury shares, if any, would
not receive the dividends or distributions.
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As at the date of this report, there is no arrangement under which
the Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or shares.
The distribution of dividends is proposed by the Board in its
discretion after the approval of the Shareholders. The policy on the
declaration or payment of any dividends in the future and the
amount of dividends are depended on a number of factors,
including the Company’s operating results, cash flows, financial
positions, operating and capital expenditure requirements,
distributable profits determined in accordance with the PRC
GAAP, the Articles of Association, the Company Law of the PRC
and any other relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, and other
factors that the Directors considered to be relevant.

The profits of the Company after paying relevant taxes are
distributed in the following order: (1) covering the losses; (2)
withdrawing the statutory surplus reserve; (3) withdrawing the
discretionary surplus reserve; and (4) paying the ordinary shares
dividends.

The Company shall withdraw 10% of profit after tax as statutory
surplus reserve. If the accumulated amount of statutory surplus
reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital, it can no longer
be withdrawn. The discretionary surplus reserve is additionally
withdrawn from the Company’s profits after the withdrawal of
statutory surplus reserve in accordance with the resolution at the

general meeting.

The Company shall not distribute dividends or carry out other
distributions in the form of dividends until it has covered the losses
and withdrawn statutory reserve. The Company’s dividends are not
subject to any interest, unless it does not distribute the relevant
dividends to the Shareholders on its dividend payable date.

RESERVES

The details of changes in reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement
of change in equity in this annual report. As at 31 December 2024,
the distributable reserve of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB231.70 million.
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LAST FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years ended 31 December 2020 to 31
December 2024 is set out in financial summary. This summary
does not form part of the Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of changes in share capital of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note V. 27 to the Financial
Statements.

UNALLOCATED PROFITS AT THE END OF THE
YEAR

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unallocated profits
amounted to RMB200.56 million. Details of the movements in the
unallocated profits of the Group in 2024 are set out in Note V. 30
to the Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(1) Suppliers and the quality of products provided

As a pharmaceutical distributor, the Group has limited or no
control over the operation and quality of products of the suppliers.
The suppliers may not always be able to provide products which
satisfy the quality standard of the Group and with no defects.

As such, in the case that there are no damage in packaging and
relevant documentation including inspection report are properly
attached, the Group would not be able to know whether there are
any problem in the internal quality of the products and hence could
be subject to administrative punishment for selling interior drugs
if the suppliers of the Group fail to supply goods that meet the
quality standard.

Complemented by information system, the Company has
established a stringent verification system for suppliers and
product quality and internal control system for drug quality in
accordance with GSP so as to ensure that the internal control
system could be effectively implemented. Meanwhile, the
Company has entered into an Agreement on Quality Assurance of
Pharmaceutical Products with suppliers, pursuant to which it was
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agreed that suppliers shall be responsible for the quality of
products provided by it during the term of the agreement and all
loss arising thereby shall be borne by suppliers.

(2) Low gross profit margin and net profit margin

As a pharmaceutical distributor, the Group has low profit margins.
Any increase in procurement cost or decrease in selling price
would therefore significantly affect our profits. In addition, we
earn purchase discounts directly or indirectly from our
manufacturer suppliers and such purchase discounts are significant
to our gross profit. If there is a decrease in the amount of purchase
discounts received which result in a decrease in gross profit margin
and net profit margin, the results of operation of the Group may be
adversely affected.

The Company increased its gross profit margin continuously
through the following ways: 1) actively expand the terminal
network of retail pharmacy stores, clinics and health centers; 2)
continue to optimize the product structure; strengthen the
cooperation with well-known domestic as well as international
manufacturers; expand the variety and scale of primary
distribution products; and obtain higher commercial discounts
from suppliers; 3) in order to strengthen our product portfolio,
continue to introduce quality products which are easy to sell and
has high gross profit margin, including Chinese medical drink and
pill, healthcare products and medical device; and 4) take the
initiative to wipe off products with low gross profit margin and
inventory turnover.

(3) Risk of adjustments to policies and regulations

The pharmaceutical distribution industry is a strictly regulated
industry and is greatly affected by policies. In order to promote the
healthy development of the industry, the State Council of the PRC,
the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC, the National Development
and Reform Commission, the State Food and Drug Administration,
local food and drug administrations and other administrative
authorities have successively formulated and promulgated various
policies and regulations including Good Supply Practice for
Pharmaceutical Products, Two-Invoice System and separation of
pharmacy and medicine. The implementation of these policies and
regulations has profoundly affected the development direction of
the industry and the future competitive landscape of the market.
Enterprises that do not standardize operations, and do not attach
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importance to product quality management and have small service
networks and weak service capabilities, will be gradually
eliminated or consolidated. As the pharmaceutical reform
continues to deepen, the relevant policies and regulations will
change accordingly. If the current business strategy of the
Company cannot keep up with the future changes in industry
policies, the Company will lose its advantageous position in future

competition.

The Company will continue to strictly regulate its own operations
and management in the process of continuous adjustments of
industry policies and regulations, and while adapting itself to the
development trend of the pharmaceutical distribution industry, it
will continue to adhere to its strategic planning, and adjust business
focus according to market demand in order to achieve sustainable

development.
KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group believes that the core staff of the Group is the key to
the future development of the Group. The Group is able to maintain
its market competitiveness with their knowledge in the industry
and the understanding of the market as well as their sincere
services. The Group puts great emphasis on individual ability
enhancement and career development of staff and provides
corresponding training courses for the staff.

The Group maintains a close and stable relationship with existing
and potential customers and suppliers. As a bridge between the
pharmaceutical manufacturers and the customers, the Group is
familiar with the market trend and the diversified demand of
customers, which would extend the sales network coverage for the
pharmaceutical manufacturing enterprises in a more cost effective
way. Enriched product portfolio can be provided for satisfying
different demand of customers and ensuring a stable supply in a

timely manner.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, both the revenue
contribution from the Group’s top five customers and the purchase
from top five suppliers out of total purchase were less than 30%.

The largest supplier of the Group is a subsidiary of Guangzhou
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Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in any
of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
Reporting Period.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in Note VII to the Financial Statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of changes in fixed assets of the Group during the year of
2024 are set out in Note V.9 to the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in Note V.16 and 25 to the Financial Statements. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and land use right with
total carrying amount of approximately RMB278.28 million have
been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
(2023: approximately RMB641.20 million).

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group, with its long-term focus on protecting the
environment, is committed to making contribution to
environmental protection. Apart from its strict compliance with the
PRC laws and regulations on environmental protection, the Group
tries to minimize its environmental impact during business
operations and remind its staff of following such minimization
practice. Furthermore, the Group has adopted diesel vehicles
compliant with the China VI emission standards for
pharmaceutical logistics distribution to reduce exhaust emissions
and pollution. Automated rolling door facilities and an intelligent
central air-conditioning system have been implemented to achieve
precise temperature control and minimize cooling loss. A smart
lighting control system has been introduced to automatically adjust
localized lighting, complemented by photovoltaic power
generation to reduce electricity costs in warehouse areas. Paperless
office practices have also been promoted to decrease paper usage.
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Through these various measures, the Group strives to control the
consumption of energy and resources during operations, minimize

environmental impact, and foster sustainable development.
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As the Company incorporated and operates its business in
mainland China, the operation and management are strictly
regulated by relevant laws and regulations in the mainland.
Meanwhile, as the Company is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, it is subject to the relevant regulations. Due to the
certain differences in relevant laws and regulations between two
places, the Company could be bound in various areas such as
corporate governance, information disclosure, dividend policy,
merger and acquisition, and related transactions. The Board is
concerned about the policies and practices to comply with the
requirements of laws and regulations in relation to the Group. The
Group has engaged, legal advisors to PRC and Hong Kong laws to
ensure the transactions and business of the Group are conducted
subject to the applicable laws. The Group has included the related
laws and regulations into the internal management system in order
to supervise the staff to comply on an ongoing basis. The Group
has strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

SERVICE CONTRACTS WITH DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Yao Chuanglong (Vice chairman)
Zheng Yuyan

Zhang Hanzi

Non-executive Directors

Yan Jingbin (Chairman)

Fu Zheng

Xu Fei

Independent non-executive Directors
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Li Hanguo

Wan Chi Wai Anthony

Guan Jian

Mr. Yao Chuanglong, Ms. Zheng Yuyan and Ms. Zhang Hanzi, the
executive Directors, have entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the 20 May
2024 and subject to termination by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Li Hanguo, Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony and Mr. Guan Jian, the
independent non-executive Directors, have entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on 20 May 2024 for a term of three
years and subject to termination by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Yan Jingbin, Ms. Fu Zheng and Mr. Xu Fei, the non-executive
Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company on 20 May 2024 for a term of three years and expire until
the effective of next session of the Board, subject to termination by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation on independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them are considered to be
independent.

The Supervisors who held office during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Supervisors
Zhu Minghong (Chairman)
Zhang Ling

Zheng Xiyue
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The Board of Supervisors held two meetings during 2024. Details
of the meetings and events conducted by the Board of Supervisors
during 2024 are set out in the Board of Supervisors’ report of this
annual report.

Mr. Zhu Minghong, Ms. Zhang Ling and Ms. Zheng Xiyue, the
Supervisor, have entered into the service contract on 20 May 2024
for a term of three years and may be re-elected.

No Supervisor has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE
SUPERVISORS AND EMPLOYEES

DIRECTORS,

Details of the emoluments of Directors and Supervisors and the
five highest paid individuals of the Company are set out in Note
X.5.(1)and (2) to the Financial Statements.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, as
authorized by the Shareholders in the annual general meeting of
the Company, having regard to their time commitment and
responsibilities in the Group, the salaries paid by comparable
companies, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
performance-based remuneration. No Directors are involved in

deciding their own remuneration.
REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated on the
performance of individual employee and on the basis of the salary
trends in the PRC, and will be reviewed regularly. Subject to its
profitability, the Group may also distribute discretionary bonus to
its employees as an incentive for their contribution to the Group.
The Group has no long-term incentive plan.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or
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its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or Supervisor (or its connected entities) directly
or indirectly had a material interest subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has
not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company during 2024.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Group are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

To better safeguard the Group from any potential competition, Mr.
Yao Chuanglong has entered into the deed of non- competition
with the Company whereby Mr. Yao Chuanglong irrevocably and
unconditionally, undertakes with the Company that with effect
from the Listing Date and for as long as H shares of the Company
(the “H Shares”) remain listed on the Stock Exchange and (i) Mr.
Yao is, directly or indirectly, interested in not less than 30% of the
Shares in issue; or (i) Mr. Yao Chuanglong remains as the
executive Director, Mr. Yao Chuanglong shall, and shall procure
that his associates shall:

(a) not directly or indirectly engage, participate or hold any right
or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved in
any business in competition with or likely to be in competition with
the existing business activities of the Group or any business
activities which the Group may undertake in the future;

(b) not take any direct or indirect action which constitutes an
interference with or a disruption to the business activities of the
Group including, but not limited to, solicitation of customers,
suppliers and staff of the Group;

(c) keep the Board informed of any matter of potential conflicts of
interests between Mr. Yao Chuanglong (including his associates)
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and the Group, in particular, a transaction between Mr. Yao

Chuanglong (including his associates) and the Group; and

(d) provide as soon as practicable upon the Company’s request a
written confirmation in respect of compliance by it with the terms
of the deed of non-competition and their respective consent to the
inclusion of such confirmation in the Company’s annual report and
all such information as may be reasonably requested by the
Company for its review.

In addition, Mr. Yao Chuanglong hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally, undertakes that if any new business opportunity
relating to any products and/or services of the Group (the
“Business Opportunity”) is made available to him or his
associates (other than members of the Group), he will direct or
procure the relevant associate to direct such Business Opportunity
to the Group with such required information to enable the Group
to evaluate the merits of the Business Opportunity.

Mr. Yao Chuanglong shall provide or procure his associates to
provide all such reasonable assistance to enable the Group to
secure the Business Opportunity. If he (or his associates) plans to
participate or engage in any new activities or new business which
may, directly or indirectly, compete with the existing business
activities of the Group, he shall give the Company a first right of
refusal to participate or engage in the Business Opportunity and
will not participate or engage in these activities unless with the
prior written consent of the Company. None of Mr. Yao
Chuanglong and his associates (other than members of the Group)
will pursue the Business Opportunity unless the Group decides not
to pursue the Business Opportunity because of commercial
reasons. Any decision of the Company will have to be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors taking into consideration
the prevailing business and financial resources of the Group, the
financial resources required for the Business Opportunity and,
where necessary, any expert opinion on the commercial viability
of the Business Opportunity. Mr. Yao Chuanglong further
irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes that he will (i) provide
to the Group all information necessary for the enforcement of the
undertakings contained in the deed of non-competition; and (ii)
confirm to the Company on an annual basis as to whether he

complies with such undertakings.

The deed of non-competition will cease to have any effect on the
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earliest of the date on which:

(a) the Company becomes wholly-owned by Mr. Yao Chuanglong
and/or his associates;

(b) the aggregate beneficial shareholding (whether direct or
indirect) of Mr. Yao Chuanglong and/or his associates in the Shares
in issue falls below 30% of the number of Shares in issue and Mr.
Yao Chuanglong shall cease to be the executive Director; or

(c) the H Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yao Chuanglong has confirmed to the Company of his
compliance with the deed of non-competition provided to the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status
of compliance and received confirmation by Mr. Yao Chuanglong
of the Company and, on the basis of such confirmation, are of the
view that Mr. Yao Chuanglong has complied with the deed of non-
competition and such deed of non-competition has been enforced
by the Company in accordance with its terms.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions entered into in the ordinary
course of business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note X.2. to the Financial Statements.
Save for the transactions with Jiangyao as disclosed below, no
related party transactions set out in note X.2. to the Financial
Statements constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had the
following continuing connected transactions, and some details of
such transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The following is the transaction party

information related to the connected transactions:
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into
several continuing connected transactions under the following
agreements:

A. Sales of Goods

On 11 April 2022, the Group signed a framework sales contract
with Jiangyao for selling goods to Jiangyao and its subsidiaries
(the “Jiangyao Group”) . For the year ended 31 December
2024, the annual cap and actual amount of transactions for sales
of goods were RMB230.00 million and RMB20.08 million
respectively. The main terms and conditions regarding the
provision of goods in the sales contract are detailed as follows:

(1) Term: From the effective date to 31 December 2024

(2) Subject Matter: Any member of the Group may from time to
time within the ambit of the framework sales agreement enter into
individual implementation agreements with any members of the
Jiangyao Group for the sales of medicines, medical devices,
healthcare products and food for which the Group acts as a
primary distributor. Any such implementation agreements shall
not contravene the provisions of the framework sales agreemet.

(3) Pricing Basis: The price of the products shall be agreed and
stated in the implementation agreements after arm’s length
negotiation between the Group and Jiangyao Group based on
normal commercial terms after taking into consideration the
market conditions at the relevant time, the size of orders and the
technical conditions, and the relevant costs and prices offered to
independent third party customers, and in any event shall be
comparable to those offered by the Group to independent third
party customers.

On 8 November 2024 (after trading hour), the Company and
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Jiangyao have entered into the new framework sales agreement
(the “New Framework Sales Agreement”) for renewal of the
above framework sales agreement. The effective period is from 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2027. The New Framework Sales
Agreement was approved by the Shareholders at the 2024 second
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
December 2024. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 8 November 2024 and circular dated 9 December 2024 for
details.

B. Purchase of Goods

On 11 April 2022, the Group signed a framework purchase
agreement with Jiangyao for purchasing goods from Jiangyao
Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the annual cap and
actual amount of transactions for purchasing goods are
RMB320.00 million and RMB107.91 million respectively. The
main terms and conditions in the purchase agreement are detailed
as follows:

(1) Term: From the effective date to 31 December 2024

(2) Subject Matter: Any member of the Group may from time to
time within the ambit of the framework purchases agreement
enter into individual implementation agreements with any
members of Jiangyao Group for the purchase of medicines,
medical devices, healthcare products and food for which Jiangyao
Group acts as a primary distributor. Any such implementation
agreements shall not contravene the provisions of the framework
purchases agreement.

(3) Pricing Basis: The price of the purchase of products shall be
agreed and stated in the implementation agreements after arm’s
length negotiation between the Group and Jiangyao Group after
taking into consideration the market conditions at the relevant
time, the size of orders and the technical conditions, and all other
purchases from independent third party suppliers and in any event
shall be comparable to those offered to the Group by independent
third party suppliers.

On 8 November 2024 (after trading hour), the Company and

Jiangyao have entered into the new framework purchase
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agreement (the “New Framework Purchase Agreement”) for
renewal of the above framework purchase agreement. The
effective period is from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2027.
The New Framework Purchase Agreement was approved by the
Shareholders at the 2024 second extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 27 December 2024. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 8 November 2024 and circular
dated 9 December 2024 for details.

C. Framework Loan Agreement

(1) Agreement date: 2 March 2023 (after trading hours)

(2) The parties to the transaction and the connected relationship
between each other: The Company (as borrower) and Jiangyao
(as lender)

(3) Agreement transaction and its purpose: The signing of the
Framework Loan Agreement demonstrates the continuous
financial support provided by Jiangyao as the controlling
shareholder of the Company to the Group, and enables the Group
to secure scalable, stable and reliable funding support to meet its

operation needs.
(4) Principal Terms of the Agreement

Both parties obtaining their respective internal approval in
relation to the entering of the Framework Loan Agreement and
the transaction contemplated thereunder, Jiangyao agrees to
provide a loan facility not exceeding the maximum limit (within
a limit of not more than RMBS500 million per year) as authorised
by the statutory approval authorities of both parties to the Group
for a term of three years commencing from 17 April 2023.

In accordance with Jiangyao’s financial and credit approval
requirements, the Company shall provide Jiangyao with its or its
subsidiaries’ inventories as a collateral, the specific ratio depends
on the negotiation between the parties and the actual situation.
The interest rate shall be determined by the parties with reference
to the Company’s cost of financing from banks or financial
institutions in the same Period. Repayment arrangements shall be
agreed by the parties and stated in the individual loan agreement.

In the case of early repayment by the Company, interest shall be
paid according to the actual duration of drawdown. If the
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Company fails to repay the principal and accrued interests of the
loan or commits any of the default events as specified under the
individual loan agreement, the lender shall have the right to
recover that particular loan on demand

(5) Internal approval: According to the proposal and the actual
loan amount and loan term of the Group in 2024, the maximum
annual cap for the financing expenses of the Group in 2024 is
calculated to be RMB7,266,433.33, and the amount incurred in
current year is RMB6,705,259.16.

Confirmation by Auditor

The Company's auditor reported the Group's continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the Standards for
Other Assurance Services of Chinese Certified Public
Accountants No. 3101 - Assurance Services other than Audit or
Review of Historical Financial Information issued by the
Ministry of Finance of the People's Republic of China and by
reference to the Practice Note No.740 (Revised) - Auditor's Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. With respect to the aforementioned continuing
connected transactions, the auditor has issued an unqualified
conclusion letter containing its findings and conclusions in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

With respect to the aforementioned continuing connected
transactions, the board of directors has received a confirmation
letter from ShineWing Certified Public Accountants (Special
General Partnership), confirming that for the year ended 31
December 2024, for the disclosed continuing connected

transactions:

(1) The auditor did not notice any matter that made it believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions had not been
approved by the Board; (ii) With respect to the transactions
involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, the
auditor did not notice any matter that made it believe that such
transactions did not comply with the Company's pricing policy in
all material aspects; (iii) The auditor did not notice any matter
that made it believe that the transactions did not complied with
the relevant agreements affecting such transaction in all material

aspects; (iv) In respect of the aggregate amount of each
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continuing connected transaction set out in the list of subsidiary
continuing connected transactions, the auditor have not noticed
anything that would lead the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the aggregate
annual cap set by the Company.

Confirmation by the Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
existing internal control procedures of the Company and the
aforementioned continuing connected transactions, and
confirmed that, the internal control procedures are sufficient and
effective, and that such continuing connected transactions are (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
based on the normal commercial terms or the terms not inferior
to those provided by independent third parties or the Group; and
(iii) entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
regulating such transactions, of which the terms are fair,
reasonable, and in line with the overall interests of the
Shareholders.

INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony ceased to be an independent non-
executive director of HM International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8416) since December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, after making specific enquiries by the
Company and confirmed by the Directors and the Supervisors,
after the date of publication of the Company’s 2024 interim report
and up to the date of this annual report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND  CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES, AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company,
the members of the Group and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which is required, pursuant to
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section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which is required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

i L 8RAT B A 4B BHI

Name of Director Capac.ity/Nature of Number and class of the Approximate shareholding
interest Shares percentage of the total
issued share capital®
34,530,000 ¥ H fi%
wRAIRE B HaEA N (L) 31.97%
Mr. Yao Chuanglong Beneficial owner 34,530,00 H Shares '
@)

(L) AAERZS NIRRT a
(58 3 L3877 I B R B 2R XV
D

B A

(1) #ZatE TR 22024412 A 31
H £ 8547 H 44 #7108,000,000 1% 1 75
H

b bESCHlEE & Ah, 20244212 H 31
H, #F., BHELAAFREATEA
BB AAR AT HATMEB R A A
A B ANEE CE R A RES B
A XV HB) ATy AH B A
UfERERE T, B ARSI SOW B R
BISE XV 27 R AR T AR A
) S MGk A T AT AT A A BUR B
CRLAEAR S5 MR P 75 27 S B 19 A
8% SC A 3R 2 B A A %) RE 28 BRIR
B, BRI RE I B g 26 352
A ZERL SR AE A% 15 SC TR 28 50 11 N BSAR
AT E < I (AT Ao LA R 25 B
.

HE L B E B BRI B
Zil

B [#EF, BFRAZETERABRK
i A TR A % A5 R w8 2 i 2 IR
g1 — Wi EE AN, 20245 AT

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under
Part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Note:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 108,000,000
H Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company has
any other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company, its members of the Group
or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which are
required to be entered in the register referred to therein pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or which are required pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Interests or Short
Positions of the Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executives in
the Shares, Underlying Shares, and Debentures”, at no time
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during 2024, the Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors and Supervisors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, or any Directors, Supervisors or their
spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any right
to subscribe for Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate or exercised any such right.

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons/entities (other than any Directors, Supervisors
or chief executives of the Company) had or deemed to have an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which had entered in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

15 T RAT R AAT B
N ] 4 ®
B &R, e H i AR B 1 5 Bty B B WA b
Nature and Number and class of the Approximate shareholding
Name of shareolder . . .
capacity of interest Shares percentage of the total issued
share capital®
34,530,000 iz H Iz
i e T84 252 (L 31,079
Ms. You Zeyan Interest of spouse® 34,530,00 H Shares '
(9]
29,050,000 % H fix
et N (L 26.90%
Beneficial owner 29,050,000 H Shares
(o
o - 17,420,000 A% H A%
- Pk I 25O L
e Interest of corporation 16.13%
Jiangyao controlled® 17,420,000 H Shares
L
T%ﬁﬂﬁﬁj\ﬁg{%% Eﬁ)ﬁ 5.000.000 E&L H H&
rA® o
Person having a ‘L 4.63%
. . 5,000,000 H Shares
security interest in
shares® L)
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15 T BAT A AR 1
ol I £ (o)
RAAT PRAIEE R S B B E S AR IR 4 e
Nature and Number and class of the Approximate shareholding
Name of shareolder . . .
capacity of interest Shares percentage of the total issued
share capital®
b 17,420,000 Jix H iz
LB EREHIRAF sz
T _ 52 2N q) .
Jiangxi Pharmaceutical Beneficial owner 17,420,000 H Sh 16.13%
Investment Co., Limited Y, O ares

L] REZLNLRROEITA
CE 32 WS MBI XV i)

B A

(1) FZatE TR 2024 £ 12 H
31 H #7485 108,000,000 Ji%
H e immfs .

(2) i 4t Ry AR 2 =] Bl G e
AT EHBRARE S E RO, RIRRE
77 BB G L A s Wk S A 35 10
Py H AT HEE B

(3) MESARFFATNEERAER
BRAF, B, MR &8 bk
B, TLEEAR ARV B EE R A IR
N R B A R

(4) YLEEWEA b Wk ol 28 m) V1 48 2
[ 5,000,000 A7 O AR HE 24

bR ESCHERE AN, A 2024 4F 12 H 31
H, #EFIWAMBALHLMA L EH
B ORAFEE, BHEAARAA RS
THRNERRAN) , GRS
BB XV 5 2 K& 3 B2 g
LR N/NGIE TP ) e v
PERR B B, B RO AR RS I I
BARBIEE 336 1RAAR FIZAE B ISR
1 P9 R 2 B A o

350 5 J | 2 T R

BE 2024 12 H 31 HIESEE, B
I R e A, MR el - B
JI R BRAT AT 5 %% B IR N L
LA 3] SE 05 1 R B mT RE A RGBT 1

The letter “L” refers to a person’s long position (as defined under
Part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 108,000,000
H Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(2) Ms. You Zeyan is the spouse of Mr. Yao Chuanglong, the vice
chairman and executive Director of the Company, and is deemed
to be interested in these Shares held by Mr. Yao under the SFO.

(3) Jiangxi Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Limited is wholly-
owned by Jiangyao. Therefore, Jiangyao is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Jiangxi Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Limited pursuant to the SFO.

(4) Jiangyao has security interest over 5,000,000 Shares,
representing the Shares pledged by Mr. Yao in favour of Jiangyao.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors was aware that any other persons/entities (other than
any Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
had entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITIONS AND CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in the
Prospectus, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholders or
any of their respective associates conducted any business which
competes, or is likely to compete, with the business of the Group
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or had any other conflicts of interests with the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) for the benefit of
the Directors is currently in force.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, except for the New
Framework Sales Agreement and New Framework Purchase
Agreement entered into on 8 November 2024 (for details, please
refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions™), the
Company and its subsidiaries did not enter into any contracts of
significance with any controlling sharecholders or any of its
subsidiaries.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance or contract of significance
for provision of services, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling shareholder
or its subsidiaries had a material interest subsisted at the end of

the year or at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any of the listed
securities of the Company (including sale of treasury shares). As
at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

TAX RELIEF

Directors were not aware any details concerning the tax relief due

to any Company’s securities held by the Shareholders.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the PRC’s law applicable to the incorporation
place of the Company.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information publicly available to the Company
and so far as the Directors are aware, the Company had
maintained the public float stipulated under the Listing Rules as
at the date of this annual report.

CHARITY DONATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and its
subsidiaries actively participated in charity and public welfare
undertakings, and contributed the money and materials

amounting to RMBO0.05 million to the society.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

After the Reporting Period and as of the date of this report, there
are no material matters that the Group is required to disclose.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The details of the corporate governance practices of the Group
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual

report.
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
Shareholders to attend the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 19 May 2025 to 22 May 2025 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates should be lodged for registration with the H share
registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, no later
than 4:30 pm on 16 May 2025.
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AGM

The AGM will be held on 22 May 2025. The Shareholders should
refer to the circular to be issued by the Company on 28 April 2025
regarding the details of the AGM and the enclosed AGM notice
and proxy form.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management of the
Company and the external auditor, had conducted review on the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

The Company will propose a resolution to re-appoint ShineWing
Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership) as the
auditor of the Group for the year of 2025 at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Company has not changed its auditor
in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
Yan Jingbin

Chairman

Shantou, the PRC, 28 March 2025
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BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ REPORT

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors fully performed its supervisory
duties on members of the Board, managers and other senior
management of the Company as authorised at the general meeting
in accordance with the Company Laws of the PRC (the
“Company Law”’) and the Articles of Associations.

DAILY WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

On 28 March 2024, the Board of Supervisors considered and
approved the resolutions on the matters including the work report
of the Board of Supervisors of the Company for 2023, the
Financial Statements for 2023, the Results Announcement for
2023 and the Annual Report for 2023.

On 28 August 2024, the Board of Supervisors considered and
approved the resolutions on the matters including the 2024
Interim Financial Statements, the 2024 Interim Results

Announcement and the 2024 Interim Report.
LAWFUL OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

The Board of Supervisors attended all meetings of the Board
during the year, and fully performed its supervisory duties on the
lawful operation of the Company. It earnestly performed its duties
of supervision and inspection, and effectively discharged its
supervisory duties on the development strategies and the
significant decisions of the Company on a timely basis, thus
exerting its functions in a better way and fully delivering its duties
in the development of the Company during the year.

In the opinion of the Board of Supervisors:

1. In 2024, with care and strong support from all the Shareholders,
as well as the diligent work of all its staff, the operation of the
Company was in compliance with the Company Law and the
Articles, and the procedures for making decisions on operation of
the Company are lawful and normative, thus making satisfactory

achievements in the business.

2. During the Reporting Period, each member of the Board,
manager and other senior management of the Company diligently
performed his/her jobs and duties in the Company and, for the
benefit of the Company, strictly observed relevant laws,
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regulations and the Articles of Associations, and regulated the
work procedures for operation and management of the Company,
thereby protecting the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders.

INSPECTION ON FINANCIAL STATUS OF THE
COMPANY

The Board of Supervisors has reviewed the 2024 Auditor’s
Report for submission. In the opinion of the Board of
Supervisors, the financial report of the Company completely,
objectively and fairly reflects its financial position and operating
results. The annual operating results of the Company have been
audited by ShineWing Certified Public Accountants (Special
General Partnership) who has also issued an audit report which is

true, objective and fair.

INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
OF THE COMPANY

The Board of Supervisors considers that the Group's connected
transactions in 2024 have been filed, annually reviewed,
announced and approved by independent Shareholders in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REVIEW OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ON
THE INTERNAL CONTROL SELF - ASSESSMENT
REPORT

The Board of Supervisors has conducted a review on the
Company, and considered that the Company has established an
appropriate internal control system in all important aspects and
the internal control management system has operated effectively,
thus ensuring its consistent implementation and normal

production and operation.

IMPLEMENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS PASSED AT
THE GENERAL MEETINGS

The members of the Board of Supervisors had no objection to the
contents of resolutions submitted to the general meetings. The
Board of Supervisors supervised the implementation of
resolutions passed at the general meetings, and considered that
the Board was able to implement the relevant resolutions

earnestly.
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Being confident of the Company’s development prospects, the
Board of Supervisors will remain consistent in performing its
supervisory function for the operation of the Company and
safeguarding its interest and that of the Shareholders as a whole.

Zhu Minghong

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors

Shantou, the PRC, 28 March 2025
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Auditor’s Report

XYZH/2025SZAA8B0175
CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LD.:
I. AUDIT OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet and balance sheet of the parent company as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated income statement and
income statement of the parent company, consolidated statement
of cash flow and statement of cash flow of the parent company
and consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity of the parent
company for the year 2024, and relevant notes to the financial
statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
requirements under the Accounting Standards for Enterprises,
which give a fair view of the consolidated financial position and
financial position of the parent company of Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company as at 31 December 2024 and the
consolidated results of operation and cash flows and results of
operation and cash flows of the parent company for the year 2024.

I1. BASIS FOR FORMING AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China’s Auditing
Standards for the Certified Public Accountants. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
section headed “CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS” in the Auditor’s Report. We are independent of
Charmacy Pharmaceutical Company in accordance with the Code
of Professional Ethics for China’s Certified Public Accountants
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and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in respect
of professional ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

=. BEEFEFEH
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III. KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of the greatest significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our audit opinion thereon, and we do

e not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
1 BRI A S TH
1. Impairment of trade receivables
[EE e AT EE
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bk 2024 55 12 H 31 H, ngsEgE3EN
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SR TMAARE S 118,445.52 70 SEEREM &
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As set out in the Note V .7 , to the
consolidated financial statements of Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company, as at 31 December
2023, trade receivables balance amounted to
RMBI1,184.4552 million, provision for bad
debts amounted to RMB21.2177 million and
the carrying amount of trade receivables
amounted to RMB1,163.23.76 million. As the
carrying amount of trade receivables accounts
for a relatively high proportion of assets, there

FAMEAT 1) EZRE PR

)G 2 7 WA TR sk A 2 SR AT [ S 1 3
fiti A B PR A 4 1«

2)E AL P S SR S AT AR Ak PO R T 25 L 2
BRASYE, BVEREBE RG 8ran CAE I E R TR
3) A B T S R VR A Y B SOIR FGE B A, A
g S FHIIAF SR AR A S A8 A 5 B

4) A B IR P BB e A A o T e S R T A )
WOHRAR, 78 A% B A 5 ISR ARURE S IE R I O AT
PRI FH R IR e DA B 3 2R AR 48 AR e 1) TR 23 B S5 il
TG FHRR R, R I E R B SCRE FHIRE 1 &
P

5)ahE IR Rl S Dl s,
FofEstilcan

The main procedures we performed are as follows:

AR B IR A TR

1) tested the management’s internal control relating to the
daily management of trade receivables and assessment on
their recoverability as at the end of the period,

2) reviewed the relevant consideration and objective
evidence of impairment test on trade receivables by the
management, and attached importance to the management’s
adequate identification of impaired items;

3) selected samples of trade receivables for which bad debts
was separately provided, and reviewed the basis and
reasonableness of the management’s estimation on the
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would be a material impact on the financial
statements if the trade receivables cannot be
recovered on schedule or fail to be recovered.
Therefore, we regard the recoverability of
trade receivables as a key audit matter.

expected lifetime loss;

4) as for trade receivables with provision made for bad debts
based on credit risk characteristic groups by management,
reviewed the expected credit loss rate appraised by the
management after taking account of, amongst others, the
historical default profile of trade receivables, current credit
risk exposure and the forecast analysis on future economic
condition, and reviewed the reasonableness of the provision
for credit impairment of trade receivables accordingly;

5) taking into account the checks on the subsequent recovery
of amounts, evaluated the appropriateness of the provision
for bad debts determined by the management.

2 EREFIR
Impairment of inventories
B g A T I F T R
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BbZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 H, WAISEZESRE N | AT F G
Al P REM R T 7 FEITE, £ | D WEREHE SAP R EHE B FOH SN JE R
BARMERHEA A 65,979.82 870, A EERMEYE | AHE N A2
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As set out in the Note V.7 Inventories to the
consolidated financial statements of Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company, as at 31 December
2024, the balance of inventories amounted to
RMB659.7982 million, the provision for
impairment of inventories amounted to
RMB3.8872 million and the carrying amount
of inventories amounted to RMB655.9111
million. Inventories are measured at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. The
Management determined the provision for
impairment of inventories based on the stock
age and the level of approaching expiry date,
taking into consideration the actual sales of
inventories.

We regard the impairment of inventories as a

The main audit procedures we performed are as follows:

1) tested the management’s internal control relating to the
validity period and stock-in time of inventories in the SAP
system,

2) performed the inventory-taking supervision procedure to
check the quantity and condition of inventories;

3) obtained the list of inventories of year-end stock age and
approaching expiry date, to conduct analytical review on the
inventories in storage for a longer period of time; checked if
the Company made full provision for impairment of
inventories which will expire within 180 days and unsold
prior to the reporting date;

4) obtained the table of subsequent sales performance of
inventories as at the end of period, to test the adequacy of
calculation of such provision for impairment of inventories.
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION

The Management of Charmacy Pharmaceutical Company
(hereinafter referred to as the “Management”) is responsible for
the other information. The other information comprises the
information covered in the 2024 annual report of Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that should
there be any material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

V. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
requirements under the Accounting Standards for Enterprises, and
for the design, performance and maintenance of necessary internal
control which renders the financial statements free from any
material misstatement caused by fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management is
responsible for assessing the ability of Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
the matters relating to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Management either intends to
liguidate Charmacy Pharmaceutical Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
financial reporting process of Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Company.

VL CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our audit opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are generally
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. Meanwhile, we also perform the
following work:

(1)1dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the overriding of internal
control.

(2)Obtain an understanding of internal control in relation to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control.

(3)Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Management.

(4)Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of
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the going concern basis of assumption and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists in relation
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
ability of Charmacy Pharmaceutical Company to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
the Accounting Standards require us to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the relevant disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to express our
qualified opinion. Our conclusions are based on the available
information up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause Charmacy Pharmaceutical
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

(5)Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

(6)Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
Charmacy Pharmaceutical Company, to express an audit opinion
on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit, and remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any deficiencies worthy
of concern in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant professional ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with
them on all the relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
relevant precautionary measures.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of the greatest
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless laws or regulations preclude
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our audit report because the adverse
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consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ShineWing Certified Public Accountants

(Special General Partnership)

Chinese Certified Public Accountant : (Project partner)
Liu Xiaocong

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:

Zhuang linbin

28 March 2025

Beijing, China
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Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

AL NRIETT Unit: RMB
202412 A31H (2023512 A31H
HE Item M3 Note
31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023
REBIE E : Current assets:
BRHE Monetary funds 7V 563,150,403.45 634,197,229.09
GVl Trading financial assets
FT A Gl Derivative financial assets
IR Bills receivables V2 5,570,435.00 3,633,001.16
JECRK Trade receivables V3 1,163,237,552.39 961,718,850.06
B IR Rl Account receivable financing H V4 57,615,292.39
TAATIH Prepayments Vs 527,344,501.01 382,948,695.69
Ho Al FEUCE Other receivables Ve 12,297,041.51 12,075,916.66
b EYCR] S, Incl: Interest receivable
JEW A Dividends receivable

NGRS RhE e Buying back the sale of financial assets
175 Inventories V7 655,911,091.04 775,841,635.16
HIRE Contract assets
R R G Assets held for sale
— RN B AR ) & Non-current assets due within one year
HAh IR B & FE Other current assets Ve 44,866,517.92 41,584,593.72

RBEE SR Total current assets 3,029,992,834.71 2,811,999,921.54
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2024412 A31H (2023412 A31H
JHH Item HfEE Note
31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023
JEMENE B Non-current assets:
ERERE Debt investment
HAh R E Other debt investment
R HERK Long-term accounts receivable
RIS & Long-term equity investments
HAbRER TE#E Other equity instrument investments
HoAh AR B4 mhiE Other non-current financial assets
P s b Investment properties
IFil 52 ¥ E Fixed assets Vo 278,271,752.17 294,721,220.12
R Construction in progress
{3 FAHE A E Right-of-use assets 7 V10 39,330,027.02 33,826,415.92
T 5 P Intangible assets AV 72,492,702.02 76,722,809.78
Bl #% 3t Development expenditure
[k Goodwill Vi 5,997,776.04 6,024,104.16
RS 2 Long-term expenses to be amortized # VI3 22,913,989.34 16,978,756.37
TEAE TSR E Deferred income tax assets H V14 7,644,601.03 7,382,648.71
HAtAE R E) & e Other non-current assets
ERBEESFT Total non-current assets 426,650,847.62 435,655,955.06
B Total assets 3,456,643,682.33 3,247,655,876.60
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202412 H31H

2023412 A 31 H

HE Item Hf:E Note
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
REIEE: Current liabilities:
FAMER Short-term borrowings VI 811,574,543.09 587,994,113.46
2T 5y Ml A 1 Trading financial liabilities
T ah AR Derivative financial liabilities
JEAT 0 Bills payables H V17 826,507,576.48 936,487,754.65
JEATERR Trade payables # V18 387,825,713.54 659,073,566.35
TR IR advance receipts
& A f Contract liabilities 7z V19 2,102,373.45 19,490,768.05
JREAR B T Salaries payable to employees AV 20 6,402,420.60 9,688,286.53
JEAE T # Tax payables V21 62,374,954.14 55,950,428.80
HoAth AT R Other payables V22 681,544,720.76 341,051,900.01
b JEARE Incl: Interest payable
JEAT R Dividends payable
FFHERFEAH Liabilities held for sale
Non-current liabilities due within one
—AE N B AR ) A 1 A V23 9,997,389.09 6,587,383.36
year
HoAt iR B & 65 Other current liabilities V24 273,329.94 2,533,799.78
RENREERT Total current liabilities 2,788,603,021.09 2,618,858,000.99
| EUf=Fi-¢ Non-current liabilities:
R Long-term borrowings A V25 13,800,000.00
JEA S Bonds payable
e BRI Incl: preferred stock
Tk A A Perpetual note
T &6 Lease liabilities 7V 26 35,171,818.27 30,390,117.80
RIIEAR Long-term payables
R IR A TR T 7 Long-term payroll payable
THET A% Accruals and provisions
IR FEYS 2 Deferred income
TR AL FTAS A A £ Deferred income tax liabilities Z V4 377,894.98 600,901.51
HAb AR B Al Other non-current liabilities
EREIAEEFT Total non-current liabilities 49,349,713.25 30,991,019.31
&EaE Total liabilities 2,837,952,734.34 2,649,849,020.30
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202412 H31H

2023412 A 31 H

HE Item M3t Note
31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023
B R RS« Shareholders’  equity:
JieAs Share capital V27 108,000,000.00 108,000,000.00
HAbRER TH other equity instruments
Hep: Bk Incl: preferred stock
TR AN Perpetual note
HANTH Capital reserve V28 278,990,829.04 278,990,829.04
W AR Less: Treasury stock
Fothr Al Other comprehensive income
BURGK Special reserve
FLERATH Surplus reserve # V29 31,143,182.74 29,661,138.05
— e A General Risk Preparation
b ad LN Unallocated profits 4V 30 200,556,936.21 181,154,889.21
Total equity attributable to the
) ) SEYNGI S+ e 618,690,947.99 597,806,856.30
shareholders of parent company
A SRR 2 Minority interests
R ARt Total shareholders’ interests 618,690,947.99 597,806,856.30
Total liabilities and shareholders’
BRI R S AT 3,456,643,682.33 3,247,655,876.60

interests
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Balance Sheet of the Parent Company
31 December 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Bz NRET Unit: RMB
202412 A 31 H 202312 A 31 H
IHHE Item M3t Note
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
WENHZE Current assets:
L) Monetary funds 204,875,850.16 217,959,848.86
5 M4 A Trading financial assets
RTAE 4R Derivative financial assets
JEWCR S Bills receivables 5,570,435.00 3,633,001.16
JESIR R Trade receivables 177 X1V 1 553,974,292.47 371,877,150.38
JEWGIIHRE Account receivable financing 44,098,165.47
TR IR Prepayments 71,366,326.17 86,577,404.76
oAt R Other receivables 177 X1V 2 82,773,621.84 413,652,378.56
Forpr: JEWCR] R Incl: Interest receivable
JEW R Dividends receivable

5 Inventories 152,154,806.02 173,668,920.22
G R&PE Contract assets
EREERRACYS Assets held for sale
—ENBIWI R B & e Non-current assets due within one year
HABRE) & 2 Other current assets 4,648,416.84 4,606,060.56

WHRE A Total current assets 1,119,461,913.97 1,271,974,764.50
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2024412 A 31 H 2023412 A 31 H
HH Item MEE Note
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
ERENE E: Non-current assets:

RS Debt investment
FAb AR A Other debt investment
A B ISGK Long-term accounts receivable
R A Long-term equity investments +/4 X1V 3 230,078,852.24 219,978,852.24
HAhRER T A& Other equity instrument investments
FAt AR B 4 ki Other non-current financial assets
& s Investment properties 27,501,376.96 28,535,293.33
I 5 ¥4 P Fixed assets 226,287,319.15 240,790,086.36
EETH Construction in progress
i FIHE R PE Right-of-use assets 36,943,107.61 31,117,446.71
Y pE Intangible assets 58,781,332.89 62,283,601.37
B % Development expenditure
[k Goodwill
IR 2 A Long-term expenses to be amortized 19,967,294.75 13,603,674.56
TRAE FAF AL Deferred income tax assets 2,343,907.90 1,789,461.21
HoAt AR B % Other non-current assets

ERBE E SR Total non-current assets 601,903,191.50 598,098,415.78

BEMG Total assets 1,721,365,105.47 1,870,073,180.28
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2024412 A 31 H

2023412 A 31 H

IHHE Item MEE Note
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
WEY AR Current liabilities:
SEULEE Short-term borrowings 388,321,815.72 334,132,918.32
TG A A g Trading financial liabilities
R Sl &0 Derivative financial liabilities
JEAT % Bills payables 433,240,527.50 380,317,525.82
JEATHRK Trade payables 90,813,189.45 164,463,736.49
THWCRIE advance receipts
A 1A A Contract liabilities 766,568.76 18,468,535.71
JOE A B 5 T Salaries payable to employees 3,731,156.41 5,326,060.59
JREAZ AL 2 Tax payables 14,757,882.01 11,204,381.89
HoAREAT K Other payables 299,149,511.61 452,944,179.32
Forpr: JEAHR]E Incl: Interest payable
JEAT R Dividends payable
R fis ik Liabilities held for sale
—EN R AER B & 1 Non-current liabilities due within one year 8,390,925.55 6,039,021.93
HABE) AT Other current liabilities 99,654.31 2,400,909.68
WBREAF Total current liabilities 1,239,271,231.32 1,375,297,269.75
EREERE: Non-current liabilities:
RAIER Long-term borrowings
JEAE S Bonds payable
o B Incl: preferred stock
TR AN Perpetual note
HE AR Lease liabilities 32,980,709.87 28,083,193.16
RT3 Long-term payables
R 0 AT TG TS T Long-term payroll payable
THA A1 Accruals and provisions
RIS o Deferred income
TRAE FTARA A M Deferred income tax liabilities
HoAb AR ED A Other non-current liabilities
R AEEH Total non-current liabilities 32,980,709.87 28,083,193.16
b=l - Total liabilities 1,272,251,941.19 1,403,380,462.91
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20244E 12 A 31 H

2023412 A 31 H

HH Item MEE Note
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BORER Shareholders’  equity:

oA Share capital 108,000,000.00 108,000,000.00
oAt R TR other equity instruments
Ho B Incl: preferred stock

IS Perpetual note
BAATH Capital reserve 282,204,487.50 282,204,487.50
W AR Less: Treasury stock
HoAbsz Al e Other comprehensive income
BUBERE Special reserve
BERAT Surplus reserve 31,143,182.74 29,661,138.05
A3 BEAH Unallocated profits 27,765,494.04 46,827,091.82

MR AR Total shareholders’  interests 449,113,164.28 466,692,717.37

BB R AT Total liabilities and shareholders’ interests 1,721,365,105.47 1,870,073,180.28
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Bz NRET Unit: RMB
2024 5 2023 £F
JHH Item M3t Note
2024 2023
— BEMSEA 1. Total operating revenue # V31 4,435,460,674.85 |  4,403,633,478.08
Hepe BRI Incl:Revenue # V31 4,435,460,674.85|  4,403,633,478.08
I, BEMARE 1L Total operating cost 4,358,586,508.17 |  4,332,543,936.81
Hrp, BEERA Incl: Operating cost 7V 31 4,110,698,122.00 4,110,889,553.80
4 I Bt Taxes and surcharges # V32 10,330,610.01 9,303,097.63
SHEEEH Selling expenses V33 120,444,337.87 122,467,089.60
HHEEA Management expenses 7V 34 54,820,936.74 47,532,938.44
Tk % 2 A Research & development expenses
A B Finance costs #H V35 62,292,501.55 42,351,257.34
o FIE & Incl: Interest expenses 4V 35 60,651,514.02 40,790,342.89
GISUON Interest income #H V35 3,981,988.45 4,301,317.10
e e Add: Other income V36 103,309.43 11,263.47
BB RKL -] SR Investment income (“- for loss) V37 -100,000.00
Hor: BV ASIEASE AR Incl: investment income from associates
B A and joint ventures
DL AR A 5T 52 1) 4 R 8 Financial assets measured at
I . . . -100,000.00
H LR 2 amortized cost are derecognized earnings
[ S fieas (JRREL [-] SRIEFD Exchange gains(“-” for loss)
VB S GRKREL [-] SRR Frequent exposure to hedge gains (“-”
F1) for loss)
AREEEEGEE GRELL -] 9% Gain on change in fair value (“-” for
A loss)
HREER (JBRRL (-] SRR )
5 fRHBEIAR GRKEL T-1 5 Impairment loss of credit (“-” for loss) 7V 38 -125,850.53 -492,054.34
BAERERR (FBRUL [-] BRI )
5 PURBASR (UKL T-) 5% Impairment loss of assets (“-” for loss) V39 -3,913,486.48 -4,361,225.47
R AR [-] 5RIE .
5 PR o Gains on disposal of assets (“-” forloss) | 7 1V 40 307,774.55 47,339.87
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2024 ££/5 2023 £
JHH Item HiZE Note
2024 2023
=, BEAE OBHEU (-] 5BEFD 1L Operating profit (“-” for loss) 73,245,913.65 66,194,864.80
e EESMEN Add: Non-operating revenue &V o4l 231,079.63 1,322,095.37
e B Less: Non-operating expenses AV 42 2,284,741.00 97,396.20
VU, FIEIAEEE (ESIEAREEDL -] 98
) i L IV. Total profit (“-” for total loss) 71,192,252.28 67,419,563.97
e AR E A Less: Income tax expense &V 43 17,908,160.59 16,074,838.28
. SR GREEU [-1 385D V. Net profit (“-” for net loss) 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
(=) EHEBFEENE (I) By continuity of operations 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
LA TR GFASHELL T- . inui ion(*-”
FrA FHE GFsHRLEL [-] 1.Net profit from continuing operation(*-” for 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
SRIHTD net loss)
2 AR IE G REL -] 2.Net profit from discontinued operation(*-”
SRR for net loss)
() WRFERRBAE (1) By ownership 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
LSRR B0 7 A 2 A . i
5 JBR T B W) A FR R 1.Net profit attributable to the shareholders of 53,284,001.60 51,344,725.60

GERESHRLL -1 SRE5)D

parent company (“-” for net loss)

20 BB R GFSIREL [-] 5%
B

«

2.Profit of loss of minority shareholders (
for net loss)
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2024 B 2023 4EJE
JHH Item HfiE Note
2024 2023
N Hihsr SRR VI. Net of tax of other comprehensive income
= - o > Net of tax of oth hensive i
R 2 T R A e 25 F R Net of tax of other comprehensive income
o v attributable to the shareholders of parent
featit |
company
(—) REEEANERIES A S fI) Other com.preh?nswe income not )
subject to reclassification to profit or loss in
& §
uture
LR T 2 1. Remeasure the change in the set benefit
plan
2 HE 25V R IR 2% A 2l A 2. Other comprehensive income unfier the
. equity method that cannot be converted into
o profit or loss
3 E A 25 T B A S0 A 3. Cha-nge in fair value of other equity
instrument investments
A4S 1 S RS A S0 LI 4. 'C}Tanges in thfe fi.iil‘ value of the
enterprise's own credit risk
5. 50t 5. Others
(2 BESFERRPHARS A (IT) Other comprehensive income to be
= reclassified into profit or loss in future
FIOIN RN 1. Other comprehensive income of
LAERRVE T PR 2 1 He b A S i i ) .
M ALA T AT R RS A A i convertible profit or loss under the equity method
2 E MRS A S0 (L ) . 2. Changes in the fair value of other debt
mnvestments
3.4 RN FE H A AT N Hofh A A IR R 3. The amount of financial assets reclassified
IS into other comprehensive income
L e L S e S 4. Other debt investment credit impairment
4 FEA R 15 PR 2 y v P
provisions
S5.HEREERHEN (BeREEn 5. Cash flow hedging reserve (effective part
R A R of cash flow hedging profit or loss)
6 5N T 2 4 B 24 6. Conversion difference of foreign currency
statement
7. 5 Atk 7. Others
S5 S A/ W SR HLAth e S S i O AL Net other comprehensive income after-tax
1% VR AE which belongs to minority shareholders
L. AR VIL Total comprehensive income 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
. e - Total hensive i ttributable t
S5 A 2 ) PR 0 A M 2 A ota’ comprehensive fhcome aftributabie fo 53,284,091.69 51,344,725.69
the shareholders of parent company
e e s - Total comprehensive income attributable to
B B U 2 R i pre LensIy !
minority shareholders
AN =1 26 VIIL Earnings per share:
(—) EEARFR S G/l (I) Basic earnings per share 0.4934 0.4754
(=) PRI G/ (1) Diluted earnings per share 0.4934 0.4754
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

Income Statement of the Parent Company

For the year 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

BA: NRHIT Unit: RMB
VA 2024 £ 2023 £
HE Item
Note 2024 2023
— BEEA 1. Operating revenue +/4 X1V 4| 1,623,151,810.28|  1,793,152,127.98
W BERA Less: operating cost +P X1V 4 1,433,519,794.80 |  1,633,800,015.12
iy ipll Taxes and surcharges 5,771,223.25 4,979,614.53
HEEH Selling expenses 89,850,411.58 82,219,724.89
EH Management expenses 25,525,116.81 23,815,267.23
W & A Research & development expenses
s e Finance costs 45,182,859.45 28,390,172.24
H: RIS HA Including: Interest expenses 42,950,394.08 26,478,133.74
RN Interest income 1,242,316.52 1,871,620.15
e HoAphli s Add: Other gains 79,412.45 4,478.89
B s GRKLL [-] 9RIH
Investment income (“-” for loss)
LZp)
o B SEMES SN Incl: investment income from
Edodiani associates and joint ventures
VLR AT =1 S il A Financial assets measured at
JE # I RERR I amortized cost are derecognized earnings
FERE OB (KL (-] Frequent exposure to hedge gains (“-”
SR for loss)
ASMEEEE G RKEL Gain on change in fair value (“-” for
[-] SRIEF]D loss)
fEHAEIRR GRKRDL [-] 5%
Impairment loss of credit(“-” for loss) -832,507.55 484,819.72
HH)D
BEERMESR (FRRLL [-] 5%
Impairment loss of assets(“-” for loss) -867,712.24 -906,192.54
)
BEEREW A GRRLL T-] 9%
Gains on disposal of assets(*“-” for loss) 452,541.92 41,783.12
HH)D
=, BENE (R (-] SEEED 11. Operating profit (“-” for loss) 22,134,138.97 19,572,223.16
JIFR=¢ LNTPN Add: Non-operating revenue 61,745.50 180,790.85
W B Less: Non-operating expenses 2,164,041.29 60,688.77
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W 2024 E£F 2023 E£F
JHH Item
Note 2024 2023
=. FVEAE GBRMEN (-] 5BE 111. Total profit (“-” for total loss)
20,031,843.18 19,692,325.24
7]
e PSR Less: Income tax expense 5,211,396.27 4,941,463.49
PO, SR GRERRL -] READ IV. Net profit (“-” for net loss) 14,820,446.91 14,750,861.75
(—) FREEFER GREEHELL (1).Net profit from continuing operation
14,820,446.91 14,750,861.75
[-] S83%0) (- for net loss)
() #UEEFERIY GRS, (I).Net profit from discontinued operation
[-] S8 «” for net loss)
F. HAbkFE WA AR V. Net of tax of other comprehensive income
" (1) Other comprehensive income not
(—) TREE D FUER G M AR E
subject to reclassification to profit or loss in
L&
future
o o 1. Remeasure the change in the set benefit
LEBI AT SRR 52 e BB B AR
plan
) 2. Other comprehensive income under the
2 MERRVE T/ e A 4 (1 He A A7 Sl
N equity method that cannot be converted into
i
profit or loss
" i ) 3. Change in fair value of other equity
3 HAME 25 T BHBUA A REEEE)
instrument investments
. ) 4. Changes in the fair value of the
4438 B SR U A SR S )
enterprise’s own credit risk
5. At 5. Others
() R 23508 $R 2 1 HAh Az AUk (I1) Other comprehensive income to be
it reclassified into profit or loss in future
1. Other comprehensive income of
LM BT T 2 ) A A S Wi
convertible profit or loss under the equity method
o . 2. Changes in the fair value of other debt
2 H A AEHER G A U fEAH S E)
investments
3R FE A MR T N HoAh A A I e 3. The amount of financial assets
14235 reclassified into other comprehensive income
. ‘ 4. Other debt investment credit
4 FAb RS 15 B YA
impairment provisions
S.ENBEENMN (HeEREEl 5. Cash flow hedging reserve (effective
RS A B ) part of cash flow hedging profit or loss)
) 6. Conversion difference of foreign
6.41 s B s iR AT S22
currency statement
7.3t 7. Others
VAN Sty gk ok VI. Total comprehensive income 14,820,446.91 14,750,861.75
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

For the year 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

AL NRFETT Unit: RMB
2024 4E 2023 R
HE Item HizE Note
2024 2023
—. REVHELENEERE: I. Cash flow from operating activities:
e Cash received from sales of goods and rendering
SRR SRS BRI 4,090,329,943.38 3,790,827,966.19
of services
LeElfioying-¢ises Tax refund received 553,739.65
AT LA BRA S Bl B 9 B 4 Other cash received relating to operating activities | 7 V 44 2,996,751,534.51 64,545,887.85
REWHBRERNDG Sub-total of cash inflow from operating activities 7,087,635,217.54 3,855,373,854.04
- Cash paid for purchases of goods and receiving
IEE R R SATIB4 3,810,949,168.80 3,605,378,643.65
services
N N ) Cash paid to employees and on behalf of
SR T U S R BB T SEA B 92,939,784.50 93,023,987.18
employees
SCAST I & TH AR B Cash paid for various taxes 53,536,611.48 58,861,950.64
SO Ho A BRAS VS B B 10 B 4 Other cash paid relating to operating activities 7V 44 3,024,172,351.18 194,646,917.70
REFHHRESWH DT Sub-total of cash outflow from operating activities 6,981,597,915.96 3,951,911,499.17
REEDEENFERETH Net cash flow from operating activities 106,037,301.58 -96,537,645.13
= REEHEEANESRE: II. Cash flow from investing activities:
g Il B U B B 4 Recover cash received on investments
BB R B B 4 Cash received from investment gains
JE [ A . MR B EEAIAER | Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
o o 84,500.00 80,186,100.00
1 PE WA Il P B v AR intangible assets and other long-term assets
B BTN F R A S 2 AR | Net cash received for disposal of subsidiaries and
BTt | other business units
OB F A B BV B A B B 4 Other cash received relating to investing activities
BEFRSHHEEWNDaT Sub-total of cash inflow from investing activities 84,500.00 80,186,100.00
T e G . MBI |  Cash paid for acquisition and construction of fixed
. 15,729,380.18 40,848,644.46
W& FE A B4 assets, intangible assets and other long-term assets
PEAT B G Cash paid for investments
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2024 4R 2023 £
HH Item M3t Note
2024 2023
AR A ) S A 2 2 AL AT | Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and
R RE | other business units
AT HoA BRBE & G EhA B IR 4 Other cash paid relating to investing activities
REFHHSW /DT Sub-total of cash outflow from investing activities 15,729,380.18 40,848,644.46
BEEHEEN B SR B Net cash flow from investing activities -15,644,880.18 39,337,455.54
=, SREYEENEESRE: II1. Cash flow from financing activities:
R T W R R 3 4 Absorb cash received from investments
Horp FARRSCEBR R | Of which: the subsidiary absorbs cash received
E2l[Eiohi T from minority shareholders' investments
AR TR B B 4 Cash received from borrowings 1,266,250,000.00 836,600,000.00
A3 oAt B S T B BRI T 4 Other cash received relating to financing activities 4V 44 3,692,261,239.81 2,496,052,916.88
BB EFHERNDGT Sub-total of cash inflow from financing activities 4,958,511,239.81 3,332,652,916.88
TR B TS AT B4 Cash paid for repayment of debts 1,027,810,000.00 762,300,000.00
SBCRE R R EE AT RS T A | Cash payment for distribution of dividends and
) 64,200,824.51 75,500,263.17
M4 profits or interest payment
Hp: FAFRIAT#P IR F K | Of which: dividends and profits paid by
Rl R subsidiaries to minority shareholders
A FAR B S AR B A B B 4 Other cash paid relating to financing activities AV 44 3,898,036,499.90 2,393,590,786.00
BEEHTSWH G Sub-total of cash outflow from financing activities 4,990,047,324.41 3,231,391,049.17
BEEGEENRESRETH Net cash flow from financing activities -31,536,084.60 101,261,867.71
M. ERSHHTRERFESSEYNK | IV. Effect of change in exchange rates on cash and
8,760.90 5,730.90
23 cash equivalents
A RERRESEYESINE V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 58,865,097.70 44,067,409.02
. ) Add: Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
e PRI G K B G A E D e AR 7V 45 112,928,817.62 68,861,408.60
of the period
N VI. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the )
75~ HIRBE KB ST HMERER # V45 171,793,915.32 112,928,817.62

period
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

Statement of Cash Flow of the Parent Company

20244F % For the year 2024
G BT BISEEEER AR AT Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
A NRWIT Unit: RMB
EH Item Vizia 2024 £ 2023 5
Note 2024 2023
— REVHEENTRERE: 1. Cash flow from operating activities:
SRR S EIEI 4 of Sgre\;\/sirgersecewed from sales of goods and rendering 2.787,892.397.71 1,847.297.971.81
WCE R Bk 1 Tax refund received
S E Al ERLA 25T ; Other cash received relating to operating
R AR EIE B BN RE | ivities 4,684,423,245.68 |  1,703,513,029.84
REVEHHRSWMN DT Sub-total of cash inflow from operating activities 7,472,315,643.39|  3,550,811,001.65
T s sy serv?cfsh paid for purchases of goods and receiving 1,716,675.799.26 1,827,686,086.94
AT LK BT A B 4 emp(fg)s,:e’;a'd to employees and on behalf of 51,196,748.91 50,376,278.59
AT TERG B Cash paid for various taxes 20,630,030.94 36,637,602.07
AT HAh Bl S BN B IR & Other cash paid relating to operating activities 5,721,613,081.57 1,735,336,216.26
REVEBHREHR B /Dt Sub-total of cash outflow from operating activities 7,510,115,660.68 3,650,036,183.86
BBEWMELENTREHRERE Net cash flow from operating activities -37,800,017.29 -99,225,182.21
=, BEEHEENEERE: 11. Cash flow from investing activities:
T IS R B4 Recover cash received on investments
A B G AR I B B 4 Cash received from investment gains
BB EEE. BILEEMLME Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
HAE AL [ 1 B 4 v e intangible assets and other long-term assets 35,500.00 80,061,800.00
VBT A e H AR 3 FLAL IR Net cash received for disposal of subsidiaries and
BT | other business units
L) . Other cash received relating to investing
B34 4 TE
WCE FoAh B B E B A B B 4 activities
BEFEHHRERA DT Sub-total of cash inflow from investing activities 35,500.00 80,061,800.00
e e Cash paid for acquisition and construction of
i 7 [ i TG RE AL ] - :
Hﬂ%f%ﬁ%i% fp R R fixed assets, intangible assets and other long-term 11,218,798.25 2,858,871.35
AR SF assets
&S AT BLA Cash paid for investments
AT -2 F] B FoAth 2 3E B S AT Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and 10.100.000.00
i 415 other business units U0
A A B A TR B B 4 Other cash paid relating to investing activities
BEEERER B /et Sub-total of cash outflow from investing activities 21,318,798.25 2,858,871.35
BERESELNREHEPE Net cash flow from investing activities -21,283,298.25 77,202,928.65
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HE Item V733 2024 4EJE 2023 4EJE
Note 2024 2023
=, EnrEeEENEESRE: 111. Cash flow from financing activities:
UiLreita-Lhellinpiea Absorb cash received from investments
MR AL o 3 Cash received from borrowings 545,550,000.00 403,600,000.00
Wi B 4 G T P T actiaiiheesr cash received relating to financing 630,428,445.42 667.491,713.27
SRFHHESFEN DT Sub-total of cash inflow from financing activities 1,175,978,445.42 1,071,091,713.27
ORGSO & Cash paid for repayment of debts 491,410,000.00 347,400,000.00
YRR, IR L S e istribution of divi
Iﬁ{ﬁu\@ldﬁxﬂx I S AE AT LS AT prof(iite;\sgr?ra:%;rp:sr:tpfgnciés;tnbutlon of dividends and 53.488,118.35 66,656,416.89
AT AR B B A B B Other cash paid relating to financing activities 527,778,819.11 634,644,418.38
SHEHHLSWH/DET Sub-total of cash outflow from financing activities 1,072,676,937.46 1,048,700,835.27
BEEHEENRERETR Net cash flow from financing activities 103,301,507.96 22,390,878.00
M. ERSEHFELFEEHEMI | IV. Effect of change in exchange rates on cash and 8.760.90 5730.90
-4 3 cash equivalents ' !
fi. BERRESEYEHmME V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 44,226,953.32 374,355.34
e IR KRS | trfed‘fér%?h and cash equivalents at the beginning 58,655,358.03 58,281,002.69
. BRES BT SEYRE VI. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 102,882,311.35 58,655,358.03

period
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

At AL AISREESR BT IR AW

Bz NR#ETT

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s

Equity

For the year 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Unit: RMB

HH

Item

2024 SEFE
2024

RER AT BRRER

Equity attributable to shareholders of parent company

A

Share capital

BEAR

Capital reserve

BHATHE
Surplus
reserve

RO EFE

Unallocated
profits

/Mt
Subtotal

LBBER
P
Minority
interests

RN AR
Total
shareholders’
equity

—. REERBE

1. Closing balance for last year

108,000,000.00

278,990,829.04

29,661,138.05

181,154,889.21

597,806,856.30

597,806,856.30

e EETECESE
Add: changes in accounting policies

AT S8 IE
Correction of previous errors

A3~ A3 A O
Business combinations under common
control

ot
Others

= EERE

11. Opening balance for the year

108,000,000.00

278,990,829.04

29,661,138.05

181,154,889.21

597,806,856.30

597,806,856.30

=\ FAEHFEEEHSE FL [-] SEFD

II1. Movement for the year (“-” for decrease)

1,482,044.69

19,402,047.00

20,884,091.69

20,884,091.69

(=) S At s
(1) Total comprehensive income

53,284,091.69

53,284,091.69

53,284,091.69

() BARBAFRD> EEA
(11) Contribution of shareholders and capital
reduction

LB AN B e

1. Shareholders’ contribution to ordinary shares

2 HABME R T R RANAA
2. Capital contribution by holders of other
equity instruments

BBt SRR N R 7 11 A
3. Share-based payment credited to
shareholders’ equity

434t
4. Others

(=) FREsAC
(1) Profit allocation

1,482,044.69

-33,882,044.69)

-32,400,000.00

-32,400,000.00

LA AR AT
1. Appropriation of surplus reserve

1,482,044.69

-1,482,044.69)

2. B A SR v AR
2. Appropriation of general risk provision

3R 43 L
3. Allocation to shareholders

-32,400,000.00]

-32,400,000.00

-32,400,000.00

4. 5 Al
4. Others

U B SROAE 2 P B4
(IV) Transfers within the shareholders’ equity

LB AR AT A
1. Transfer of capital reserve to share capital

2.5 RN T R i A
2. Transfer of surplus reserve to share capital

3.7 R N TSR S I
3. Surplus reserve for making up losses

4.0 32 ot S AR A W R A
4. Change in defined benefit plan carried
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2024 £EJE
2024
Ly SETNEI) T e
fei Equity attributable to shareholders of parent company A)égﬁ IR &5
Total
I\ AR
A BARAR ﬁéﬁi\ﬁ * k ﬂﬂ; ANgF Minority | shareholders’
Share capital Capital reserve urpius Unallocate Subtotal interests equity
reserve profits
forward to retained earnings
5. oAt A I A5 T B AR U
5. Other comprehensive income carried forward
to retained earnings
6. 344t
6. Others
CHD) BUIHR
(V) Specific reserve
LAAESEH
1. Appropriation for the year
24
2. Use in the year
(7)) HAth
(V1) Others
N tﬂ_‘:ﬂ‘:*ﬁﬁﬁ 108,000,000.00 278,990,829.04  31,143,182.74| 200,556,936.21 618,690,947.99 618,690,947.99
1V. Closing balance for the year
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

HH

Item

2023 £

2023

BER AT B RER

Equity attributable to shareholders of parent company

B

Share capital

BEAR

Capital reserve

BGAR
Surplus
reserve

REPAEFIE
Unallocated
profits

Mgt
Subtotal

BRI
gy
Minority
interests

BoREER AR
Total
shareholders’
equity

— RAEEARARER

1. Closing balance for last year

108,000,000.00

278,990,829.04

28,186,051.87

179,885,249.70

595,062,130.61

595,062,130.61

. fra RS S
Add: changes in accounting policies

B ZE S5 T IR
Correction of previous errors

Al — &I~ A O
Business combinations under common
control

Fopt
Others

= REEYIRE

11. Opening balance for the year

108,000,000.00

278,990,829.04

28,186,051.87

179,885,249.70

595,062,130.61

595,062,130.61

=, FERESHER BOU (-] HEFD

111. Movement for the year (“-” for decrease)

1,475,086.18

1,269,639.51

2,744,725.69

2,744,725.69

() ERBWR A
(1) Total comprehensive income

51,344,725.69

51,344,725.69

51,344,725.69

(2 BRI R B A
(I1) Contribution of shareholders and capital
reduction

LB AN B

1. Shareholders” contribution to ordinary shares

2 HABME R T AR RANEA
2. Capital contribution by holders of other
equity instruments

3B SAT RN SR 25 ) B
3. Share-based payment credited to
shareholders’ equity

4. oAl
4. Others

(=) FREsAC
(1) Profit allocation

1,475,086.18

-50,075,086.18

-48,600,000.00

-48,600,000.00

LIRHUR R AT
1. Appropriation of surplus reserve

1,475,086.18

-1,475,086.18

2. B A SR v AR
2. Appropriation of general risk provision

3B 4y
3. Allocation to shareholders

-48,600,000.00

-48,600,000.00

-48,600,000.00

434t
4. Others

(YD i SRORE 2 19 st
(1V) Transfers within the shareholders’ equity

LA A AT A
1. Transfer of capital reserve to share capital

2. B IR A TR A
2. Transfer of surplus reserve to share capital

3B ER A THIR IR
3. Surplus reserve for making up losses

4. FROE % ot M8 B AR I R A7 el
4. Change in defined benefit plan carried
forward to retained earnings

5. At 7 A A A B A7 AR
5. Other comprehensive income carried forward
to retained earnings

6. 344t
6. Others

() HURfH
(V) Specific reserve

LAEESRIR
1. Appropriation for the year

2 AL
2. Use in the year

() HAte
(VI) Others

T, AR

1V. Closing balance for the year

108,000,000.00

278,990,829.04

29,661,138.05

181,154,889.21

597,806,856.30

597,806,856.30
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Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity of the Parent

Company

For the year 2024

Prepared by: Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

[=1=Ry AN Magr — .
. NR¥I Unit: RMB
2024 *EBE
2024
JEH A
- Bk PEIN- R AR KA ERAE RORRE G
Share Capital Surplus Unallocated s
. ) shareholders
capital reserve reserve profits .
equity
- LEEAGE 108,000,000.00 282,204,487.50 29,661,138.05 46,827,091.82 466,692,717.37

1. Closing balance for last year

s ErEFECEEEE
Add: changes in accounting policies

T 7 6 IE
Correction of previous errors

ot
Others

= ZEEPRE

11. Opening balance for the year

108,000,000.00

282,204,487.50

29,661,138.05

46,827,091.82

466,692,717.37

=, AENBEHSE RAU [-] HHFD

I11. Movement for the year (“-” for decrease)

1,482,044.69

-19,061,597.78

-17,579,553.09

() ARG 4R
(1) Total comprehensive income

14,820,446.91

14,820,446.91

() RSB SEA
(I1) Contribution of shareholders and capital
reduction

LIBR BN 3 M
1. Shareholders’ contribution to
ordinary shares

2 HAbRE RS TR EBRANAA
2. Capital contribution by holders of other
equity instruments

BBt SRR N SRR 7 11 A
3. Share-based payment credited to
shareholders’ equity

4344t
4. Others

(=) FlEs AL
(1) Profit allocation

1,482,044.69

-33,882,044.69

-32,400,000.00

LA AR AT
1. Appropriation of surplus reserve

1,482,044.69

-1,482,044.69

2. BB 4y B
2. Allocation to shareholders

-32,400,000.00

-32,400,000.00

3. oAt
3. Others

YD s SR 25 P9 i 4
(IV) Transfers within the shareholders’ equity

LE AN T A
1. Transfer of capital reserve to share capital

2. B ER A TR R A
2. Transfer of surplus reserve to share capital

3R ATHTNES IR
3. Surplus reserve for making up losses

4.8 g w W SE B AL W R AR
4. Change in defined benefit plan carried
forward to retained earnings

5. Hofth fet A 10 2 At B AP 2
5. Other comprehensive income carried
forward to retained earnings
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2024 SR
2024
HE e
i Bk BAAR ESRAR TR ROoR gk it
Share Capital Surplus Unallocated
. y shareholders’
capital reserve reserve profits .
equity

6. 34t

6. Others
D) BUIHER
(V) Specific reserve

LA

1. Appropriation for the year

2 AR

2. Use in the year
(7)) HAth
(V1) Others

m. Z'EEF&F*%% 108,000,000.00 282,204,487.50 31,143,182.74 27,765,494.04 449,113,164.28
1V. Closing balance for the year
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EH

Item

2023 £EJ
2023

A
Share
capital

BAAH
Capital
reserve

BHAH
Surplus
reserve

REOBFE
Unallocated
profits

B ARt
Total
shareholders’
equity

—. LEFERGBE

1. Closing balance for last year

108,000,000.00

282,204,487.50

28,186,051.87

82,151,316.25

500,541,855.62

St EcE T
Add: changes in accounting policies

[IEGE ns
Correction of previous errors

Fopt
Others

= KRNI

11. Opening balance for the year

108,000,000.00

282,204,487.50

28,186,051.87

82,151,316.25

500,541,855.62

=, AEHPBEHSE U [-] D

111. Movement for the year (“-” for decrease)

1,475,086.18

-35,324,224.43

-33,849,138.25

(=) fEEIat A
(1) Total comprehensive income

14,750,861.75

14,750,861.75

() RN FNR > A

(1) Contribution of shareholders and capital reduction

LB RBN 35 i
1. Shareholders’ contribution to
ordinary shares

2 Fo bR SR TR A H A B A

2. Capital contribution by holders of other equity

instruments

3B SAT RN SR 25 ) B
3. Share-based payment credited to
shareholders” equity

4. 3t
4. Others

(=) FHsAC
(1) Profit allocation

1,475,086.18

-50,075,086.18

-48,600,000.00

LIRHUR R AT
1. Appropriation of surplus reserve

1,475,086.18

-1,475,086.18

2. IR 43 L
2. Allocation to shareholders

-48,600,000.00

-48,600,000.00

3 A
3. Others

VU BB SOHE 28 9 B A5
(IV) Transfers within the shareholders’ equity

LA A AT A
1. Transfer of capital reserve to share capital

2 B R A TR R A
2. Transfer of surplus reserve to  share capital

3.F R A TR B4
3. Surplus reserve for making up losses

4.5 2t w BB AS R A s

4. Change in defined benefit plan carried forward to

retained earnings

5. JLAhu i Ak 465 8 B AR U

5. Other comprehensive income carried forward to

retained earnings

6.5 At
6. Others

() LR
(V) Specific reserve

LAAFEFREL
1. Appropriation for the year

2 AL
2. Use in the year

(7)) Hedts
(VI) Others

W, AEERGH

1V. Closing balance for the year

108,000,000.00

282,204,487.50

29,661,138.05

46,827,091.82

466,692,717.37
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—. AR REKRENR

1. EHHN

RAIEBEER M AR AR (LU fg 2
AFHCBIREENF, EELETA
HIE A ASSEE”) A 2000 FELLITE
AT B ) O 2R By B T AR
ZEg., WETHBR. WEET A
7 B HE A = LA ZE[2000]6 9% 5C
fedE, malsEELE (EED A,
ST AISE B 5 A R A R Kl i i g 38
3 35 A PR 2> ) S [F) H R eIl B T 8 g
B 5 B RN T AR L A BR B AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

I. GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE
COMPANY

1.General Information

As approved by Shantou Commission for Restructuring the
Economic Systems, Shantou Economic Committee, Shantou
Finance Bureau and Shantou State-owned Property
Management Office with Circular [2000] No.6 of Shantou
Reform Commission, Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or “Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Company”, together with its subsidiaries
referred to as the “Group”) was restructured from “Shantou
Pharmaceutical Trading Development Company (il 5 7 55 4%
& 5 8% AR /A )" and established as a limited liability
company by Shantou Medicine (Group) Limited (31l 58 5%
(4£[#)/A 7]), Shantou Chuangmei Trading Limited (L& 7 £
%™ % A M 2AF) and Shantou Chuangmei Advertising
Limited (71l 55 7 8135 & 45 A PR A 7]) with joint investments in
2000. The Company obtained the BUSINESS LICENSE OF
THE ENTERPRISE LEGAL PERSON issued by Shantou
Administration for Industry and Commerce on 6 March 2000.
On 28 May 2015, the Company changed its name to Charmacy
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. The registered address of the
Company is No. 235 Song Shan North Road, Longhu District,
Shantou City with a uniform social credit number of
91440500722414635C.

The Company operates in the pharmaceutical distribution
industry and is mainly engaged in the distribution of
pharmaceutical products. The business scope is: Licensed
items: drug wholesale, distribution of Class 11 medical devices,
food sale, road transportation of goods (excluding dangerous
goods), urban distribution and transportation services
(excluding dangerous goods), sale of disinfection equipment,
online drug information services, and online medical device
information services. Sale of Class | medical devices, sale of
Class Il medical devices, sale of health foods (prepackaged),
sale of foods (only prepackaged foods), domestic cargo
transportation agency, information consulting services
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(excluding information consulting services subject to
licensing), health consulting services (excluding medical
services), enterprise management consulting, general cargo
warehousing services (excluding hazardous chemicals and
other items subject to licensing and approval), low-temperature
warehousing (excluding hazardous chemicals and other items
subject to licensing and approval), information technology
consulting services, advertisement design and agency, non-
residential real estate leasing, warehousing equipment leasing
services, office equipment leasing services, sale of disinfectants
(excluding hazardous chemicals), sale of sanitary pesticides,
cosmetics wholesale and retail, sale of sanitary products and
disposable medical products, sale of personal hygiene products,
sale of food detergents, sale of daily groceries, wholesale of
daily necessities, sale of chemical products (excluding
chemical products subject to licensing), sale of labor protection
products, sale of special labor protection products, purchase of
primary agricultural products, sale of agricultural by-products,
primary processing of edible agricultural products,loading and
unloading, cargo transportation and packing services,
packaging services, consulting and planning services, online
sale (except for sale of commodities subject to licensing),
online sale of foods (only prepackaged foods), sale of daily
masks (non-medical), domestic trade agency, and leasing
services (excluding leasing services subject to licensing), labor
services (excluding labor dispatching), import and export of
technology, import and export of foods, and import and export
of goods. (For special projects subject to approval according to
law, business activities can be carried out only after being

approved by relevant departments)

The Company has the General Meeting, the Board of Directors,
the Board of Supervisors and the General Manager. The
Company has functional departments such as marketing centre,
information technology centre, logistics centre and finance
department.

The financial report was approved and published by the Board
of the Company on 28 March 2025.
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II. BASIS FOR THE PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.Preparation basis

The financial statements of the Group are prepared according
to the actually incurred transactions and matters, the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises promulgated by
the Ministry of Finance and its application guidelines,
interpretations and other related provisions (hereinafter referred
to as the “Accounting Standards for Enterprises”), the
Preparation Rules for Information Disclosure by Companies
Offering Securities to the Public No. 15 - General Provisions
on Financial Reports (Revision 2023) of China Securities
Regulatory Commission (hereinafter referred to as the
"CSRC") and related provisions, and the Company Ordinance
of Hong Kong, as well as disclosure related provisions in the
securities listing rules of SEHK (“Listing Rules™).

2.Going concern

The Group has conducted the evaluation on the 12-month going
concern capacity from 31 December 2024. According to the
evaluation, no matters or circumstances which give rise to great
doubts about the going concern capacity are found. The
financial statements are presented on the basis of going
concern.

[II. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The specific accounting policies and estimates established by
the Group based on its actual production and operational
characteristics include, but are not limited to, provisions for bad
debts of receivables, inventory write-downs, depreciation of
fixed assets, amortization of intangible assets, revenue
recognition and measurement, etc.

1.Declaration on compliance with Accounting Standards
for Enterprises

The financial statements meet the requirements of the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and truly,
accurately and completely reflect the financial situation of the
Company and the Group on 31 December 2024, and 2024
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operating results and cash flow, as well as other related
information.

2.Accounting period

The Group’s accounting period begins on 1 January and ends
on 31 December of the calendar year.

3.Business cycle

The Group treats 12 months as a business cycle and the criteria
for classifying the liquidity of assets and liabilities.

4.Functional currency
The Group adopts Renminbi as its functional currency.

5.Determination Method and Selection Basis of Materiality
Criteria

BREEMEEHBNHESH | SFREAMBRRMEFOSE | EEEERREE AR

Items for Disclosure Involving the
Judgment of Materiality Criteria

B E 3

Location for Disclosure in the Determination Method and
Notes to the Financial Statements Selection Basis of Materiality

Criteria

HE B IHGT SR AR YE A 1) WG
T8

Significant account receivables with
bad debt allowance set aside
separately

THAFAMIE 200 BEocbl L
Smgle amount exceeding RMB2
million

BETL, 3 (2)
Note V. 3 (2)

JRE ATk T A 3 R Y A ] sl [
SR

Significant recovery of bad debt
allowance (amount) for accounts
receivable during the period

BIH A 200 BoLl L
Single amount exceeding RMB2
million

AN ] B ) VAT TH A% B
Significant accounts receivable
written off during the period

FLIASRHEIE 200 &bl L1
Single amount exceeding RMB2
million

A Y EH {1 F A R SGR A BH
Significant other receivables written
off during the period

B TH G RHEEE 200 H oL K
Single amount exceeding RMB2
million

PR i 1 4 HL R E B FRAT K
H

Prepayments aged over one year and

with a significant amount

FIAS A 500 &bl B
Single amount exceeding RMB5
million
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B R EEAAR TN ET P IR
Items for Disclosure Involving the
Judgment of Materiality Criteria
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Location for Disclosure in the
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Determination Method and

Selection Basis of Materiality
Criteria

R BRI 1 4 1Y) HE A HR
Significant accounts payable aged
OVer one year

B TH S RA I 200 oLl B
Single amount exceeding RMB2
million

MR BRI 1 4 i) H A AT 3k
Significant other payables aged over
one year

B FL, 221 (2

B TH A RA I 300 oLl B
Single amount exceeding RMB3

Note V. 22.1 (2) iltion
1

IR I 1 4 1) B A A &
Significant contractual liabilities aged
over one year

B TH A RE I 200 oLl B
Single amount exceeding RMB2
million
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6. Accounting methods for business combinations under
common control and business combinations not under
common control

(1) Business Combinations under Common Control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties both before and after the combination, and that control
is not transitory.

The assets and liabilities obtained by the Group as the merging
party in a business combination are measured at the
combination- date carrying amount of the merged party in the
consolidated statement of ultimate controller. The difference
between the carrying amount of net assets obtained and the
carrying amount of the combination consideration paid shall
adjust additional paid-in capital; if the additional paid-in capital
is not sufficient for offsetting, the retained earnings shall be
adjusted.

(2) Business Combinations not under common Control

A business combination involving enterprises not under
common control is a business combination in which all of
the combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by
the same party or parties before and after the combination.
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When the Group is the acquirer, the acquiree's identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities obtained from a
business combination not under common control are measured
at fair value at the date of acquisition.Where the cost of
combination exceeds the acquirer’s share of the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognized
as goodwill; where the cost of combination is less than the
acquirer’s share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets, the measurement of the fair values of all the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities obtained
in the business combination and the fair values of non-cash
assets or equity securities issued as the consideration for
combination are firstly reviewed. If, after that review, the cost
of combination is still less than the acquirer’s share of the fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets in the business
combination, the difference shall be included in the

consolidated non-operating revenue for the period.

7.Criteria for Control and Preparation Method of
Consolidated Financial Statements

The scope of consolidation of the Group's consolidated
financial statements is determined on the basis of control,
including the Company and all the subsidiaries controlled by
the Company. The Group controls an entity if it is exposed, or
has rights, to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity.

When preparing consolidated financial statements, if there is
inconsistency on the accounting policies or accounting periods
between the subsidiaries and the Company, necessary
adjustments will be made to the financial statements of the
subsidiaries based on the accounting policies or accounting
periods of the Company.

The effects of internal transactions between the Company and
its subsidiaries, and those between subsidiaries, on the
consolidated financial statements are offset upon consolidation.
The share in a subsidiary's owner's equity that does not belong
to the parent company and the share in net profit and loss, other
comprehensive income and comprehensive income for the
current period that belongs to minority shareholders' equity are

-129-
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presented separately in the consolidated financial statements
under "minority shareholders' equity, minority shareholders'
profit and loss, other comprehensive income attributable to
minority shareholders, and total comprehensive income
attributable to minority shareholders” .

The operating results and cash flows of a subsidiary acquired
from business combination under common control shall be
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
beginning of the period of the combination. When preparing the
comparative consolidated financial statements, relevant items
in the financial statements of the previous year will be adjusted
as if the reporting entity formed after the combination had been
in existence since the time when the ultimate controlling party
gains control.

The operating results and cash flows of a subsidiary acquired
from business combination not under common control shall be
included in the consolidated financial statements since the date
when the Group gains control. When preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of
the subsidiary shall be adjusted based on the fair values of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
determined on the acquisition date.

For the partial disposal of the Group’s long-term equity
investments in a subsidiary without losing control, the balance
between the disposal price and the share of net assets (being
calculated from the acquisition date or combination date) of the
subsidiary enjoyed correspondingly in the disposal of the long-
term equity investment shall be used to adjust the capital
premium or share premium, or the retained earnings if the
capital reserves are not sufficient for offsetting, in the
consolidated financial statements.

8.Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in the cash flow statements of the Group refers to cash on
hand and the deposits ready for payment at any time. Cash
equivalents in the cash flow statements represent the
investment with a term less than 3 months, which are highly
liquidated, easy to be converted into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

9.Foreign currency business
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(1) Foreign currency transactions

Upon initial recognition of the Group's foreign currency-
denominated transactions, the foreign currency amount is
converted into RMB amount at the spot exchange rate on the
day when such transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
items are converted into RMB at the spot exchange rate on the
balance sheet date, and the conversion differences resulted
therefrom, except that those arising from special foreign
currency loans related to the acquisition and construction or
production of assets eligible for capitalisation should be treated
on the capitalisation principle, are all included in the current
profit or loss.

10.Financial Instruments
(1) Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability
when, and only when, it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (or part of a financial asset/a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognized, i.e., the previously recognized
financial asset is derecognized from the balance sheet: 1) the
right to receive the cash flows of the financial asset is
terminated; 2) the right to receive the cash flows of the financial
asset has been transferred, or the obligation to timely pay cash
flows to a third party in full amount is undertaken under a
transfer agreement. And, substantially all of the risks and
rewards related to the ownership of the financial asset have
been transferred, or the control over the financial asset has been
given up although the Group does not transfer or retain
substantially all of the risks and rewards related to the
ownership of the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognized if the liability towards it
has been discharged, canceled, or expired. If the existing
financial liability is replaced by the same creditor with another
one under almost totally different terms and conditions in
substantial aspects, or almost all the terms and conditions on
the existing liability are modified substantially, such
replacement or modification results in derecognition of the old
liability and recognition of the new one, with the difference
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included in current profit and loss.

The financial assets traded in a conventional way are
recognized and derecognized on the transaction day.

(2) Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets

The classification of financial assets is generally based on the
business model in which a financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash flow characteristics. On initial recognition, a
financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost, at
fair value through other comprehensive income, or at fair value
through profit or loss. All related financial assets affected will
be reclassified when and only when the Group changes its
business model of managing financial assets.

Financial assets are measured at fair value when initially
recognized, but if the accounts or bill receivable arising from
the sale of goods or the provision of services do not contain
significant financing components or do not consider financing
components for no more than one year, the initial measurement

is made at the transaction price.

For financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction expenses are directly recognized in the current
profit or loss. For other financial assets, transaction expenses

are included in the initial recognition amount.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets is subject to their
classification:

1) Financial assets measured at amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both
of the following conditions: (D. it is managed within a business
model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual
cash flows; and 2. its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Specifically, the
Group classifies the following into this type of financial assets:
cash on hand/in bank, accounts receivable, notes receivable,
and other receivables.
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2) Debt instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income if they meet the
following conditions simultaneously: (O The business model
for managing the financial asset is aimed at both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial asset. @ The
contract terms of the financial asset stipulate that the cash flows
generated on specified dates consist solely of payments of
principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount.
Interest income on such financial assets is recognized using the
effective interest rate method. Except for interest income,
impairment losses, and exchange differences, which are
recognized in current period profit or loss, all other fair value
changes are included in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition of the financial asset, the accumulated gains or
losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are transferred out of other comprehensive income and included
in current period profit or loss. The financial assets classified
as such by the Group mainly include: receivables financing.

3) Equity instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group irrevocably designates part of non-trading equity
instruments as financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Once the designation is made, it
cannot be revoked. The Group only includes relevant dividend
income (except that recovered as investment costs) in the
current profit and loss and subsequent changes in fair value in
other comprehensive income, and no impairment provisions are
required. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
accumulated gains or losses previously included in other
comprehensive income are transferred out and included in the
retained earnings.

4) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In addition to the above classifications as financial assets
measured at amortized cost and financial assets classified or
designated as measured at fair value with changes recognized
in other comprehensive income, the Group classifies the
remaining financial assets as measured at fair value through
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profit or loss. Such financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value, and all fair value changes, except those related to
hedge accounting, are recognized in profit or loss.

If the contingent consideration recognized by the Group in a
business combination not under common control constitutes a
financial asset, the financial asset is classified as a financial
asset measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(3) Classification, recognition basis and measurement
method of financial liabilities

Except the financial guarantee contracts awarded,
commitments to loans at lower than market interest rates and
financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets
that do not meet the conditions for derecognition or continued
involvement in the transferred financial assets, the Group's
financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss and financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost upon initial recognition.
Relevant transaction expenses for financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are directly booked into profit or
loss, while those for financial liabilities measured at amortized
cost are booked into initially recognized amount.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is subject to
their classification:

1) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.

2) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(including derivatives that contain financial liabilities) include
trading financial liabilities and financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
Trading financial liabilities (including derivatives falling under
financial liabilities) are subsequently measured at fair value.
All changes in fair value are included in the current profit or
loss. The Group subsequently measures financial liabilities at
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fair value through profit or loss at fair value. Except that
changes in fair value that are brought about by changes in the
Group's own credit risk are included in other comprehensive
income, other changes in fair value are included in the current
profit or loss. Unless inclusion of such changes in other
comprehensive income causes or expands accounting mismatch
in profit or loss, the Group will include all changes in fair value
(including the amount affected by changes in its own credit
risk) in the current profit or loss.

(4) Impairment of Financial Instruments

The Group conducts impairment treatment of financial assets
measured at amortized cost and contract assets and recognizes
related loss provisions based on expected credit loss.

Expected credit loss refers to the weighted average of the credit
losses of financial instruments weighted by the risk of default.
Credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate and receivable
according to the contract and all cash flows expected to be
collected of the Group, i.e., the present value of all cash
shortfalls.

The expected credit loss over the entire expected life refers to
the expected credit loss resulting from all possible default
events that may occur during the entire expected life of a
financial instrument. The expected credit loss over the next 12
months refers to the expected credit loss resulting from possible
default events of the financial instrument within 12 months
after the balance sheet date (or over its expected life, if the
expected life of the financial instrument is less than 12 months),
and represents a portion of the expected credit loss over the
entire expected life.

The Group assesses the expected credit loss of financial
instruments based on single items and combinations. For the
later, it divides financial instruments into different
combinations on the basis of common credit risk
characteristics. Common credit risk characteristics adopted by
the Group include: financial instrument type, credit risk rating,
debtor's geographical location/industry, overdue information,
and aging of account receivable.
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To use the expected credit loss model for assessing the
impairment of financial instruments and contract assets, the
Group needs to make significant judgments and estimates by
taking into consideration all reasonable and evidence-based
information, including forward-looking information. When
making these judgments and estimates, the Group infers
expected changes in the debtor’s credit risk based on historical
repayment data and with due regard to economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, and industry risks, among other
factors. Different estimates may affect impairment
provisioning, and the impairment provisions that have been set
aside may not be equal to the actual amount of future
impairment losses.

1) Impairment testing methods for accounts receivable and
contract assets

The Group uses simplified methods to measure the loss
provisions for accounts receivable, notes receivable, receivable
financing and other receivables arising from day-to-day
business activities such as selling goods and providing services,
which do not contain significant financing components, i.e.,
calculating them on a basis equivalent to the expected credit
losses during the duration.

The Group recognizes receivables with a single amount
exceeding RMB2 million and that have credit impaired as
receivables with significant individual amount and tests their
impairment separately.

Except separately determining the credit loss of a receivable
with significant single amount and having credit impaired, the
Group prepares a comparison table of accounts receivable
aging and default loss rate based on the portfolio of common
credit risk characteristics, with consideration to the factors that
the expected credit loss measurement methods should reflect,
and with reference to historical credit loss experience, and
calculates expected credit losses based on this table. If the credit
risk characteristics of a customer are significantly different
from other customers in the portfolio or have changed
significantly (e.g., the customer trapped in serious financial
difficulties), causing the expected credit loss rate of the
accounts receivable from the customer significantly higher than
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that of other customers in the same aging and overdue interval,
etc., the Group accrues loss provisions for the accounts
receivable from the customer on an individual basis.

@ Portfolio categories and determination basis of accounts
receivable

The Group classifies accounts receivable by the similarity and
correlation of credit risk characteristics based on information
such as age of accounts receivable, nature of payment, credit
risk exposure, and historical payment collection. The Group
identifies aging as the main factor affecting the credit risk of
accounts receivable. Therefore, the Group assesses its expected
credit losses based on the aging portfolio. The Group
determines the aging of accounts receivable based on the
confirmation date.

@ Portfolio categories and determination basis of notes
receivable

The Group classifies notes receivable into different portfolios
based on the common risk characteristics of the acceptor's
credit risk and determines the accounting estimation policy for
expected credit losses: a. banker's acceptance bills. The Group
deems that banker's acceptance bills are exposed to low credit
risks and thus does not recognize expected credit losses; b.
commercial acceptance bills, the expected loss rate of which is
confirmed and loss provisions are made with reference to the
Group's accounts receivable policy. They are classified the
same as the portfolios of accounts receivable.

2) Other Receivables

The Group accrues the expected credit loss using a general
approach (three-stage method). On each balance sheet date, the
Group assesses whether its credit risk exposure has increased
significantly since the initial recognition. If the credit risk has
not increased significantly since its initial recognition and is in
the first stage, its loss reserve is measured at an amount
equivalent to its expected credit loss in the next 12 months, and
the interest income is calculated at the book balance and the
effective interest rate; if the credit risk has increased
significantly since the initial recognition but no credit
impairment has occurred, and it is in the second stage, then its
loss reserve is measured at an amount equivalent to its expected
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credit loss throughout its duration, and the interest income is
calculated at the book balance and the effective interest rate; if
the financial instrument is credit-impaired since its initial
recognition and it is in the third stage, the Group measures its
loss reserve at an amount equivalent to its expected credit loss
throughout its duration, and calculates the interest income at the
amortized cost and the effective interest rate. If, on the balance
sheet date, the credit risk of the financial instrument is judged
to be low, the Group assumes that the credit risk of the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since the initial
recognition.

Expected credit losses throughout the entire duration refer to
the expected credit losses caused by all default events that may
occur during the entire expected life of a financial instrument.
Expected credit losses in the next 12 months refer to the
expected credit losses caused by the financial instrument
default events that are likely to occur within 12 months after the
balance sheet date (the expected duration if the expected
duration of a financial instrument is less than 12 months), which
are part of the expected credit losses throughout the entire
duration.

Please refer to Note 1X.1 for disclosures on the Group’ s
criteria for determining a significant increase in credit risk and
the definition of credit-impaired assets.

For other receivables, when the Group is unable to obtain
sufficient evidence of a significant increase in credit risk at a
reasonable cost at the individual instrument level but can assess
whether the credit risk has significantly increased on a portfolio
basis, it will classify other receivables by taking the type of
financial instrument, credit risk rating, and relationship with
related parties as common risk characteristics, consider and
evaluate whether the credit risk has significantly increased on a
portfolio basis.
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The Group adopts the following accounting estimation policy
for measuring expected credit losses based on actual credit
losses in previous years and taking into account the forward-
looking information for the current year: Calculate expected
credit losses with reference to the past experience of credit loss,
in combination with the current situation and anticipation on
future economic conditions and based on default risk exposure
and expected credit loss rates in the next 12 months or
throughout the duration.

(5) Recognition Basis and Measurement Method of
Financial Asset Transfer

If substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the
transferred financial asset have been transferred, the financial
asset is derecognized; if substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership of the transferred financial asset have been retained,
recognition of the financial asset is continued; if substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial
asset have not been transferred or retained, the financial asset
is derecognized with the resulting assets and liabilities
recognized when the Group gives up control over the financial
asset, or the relevant financial asset is recognized to the extent
of its continuous involvement in the transferred financial asset
with the relevant liability recognized accordingly when the
Group does not give up control.

If the whole transfer of the financial asset meets the conditions
for derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount
of the transferred financial asset at the date of derecognition and
the sum of the consideration received for the transfer and the
accumulative amount of fair value changes originally recorded
into other comprehensive income which is relevant to the
portion of derecognition (the transferred financial asset shall
meet all of the following conditions: 1) the Group's business
model for managing the financial asset is to collect contractual
cash flows and sell the financial asset; 2) the contractual terms
of the financial asset require that the cash flow generated on a
specific date is only for the payment of interest based on the
principal).

If the transfer of financial asset partially satisfies the conditions
of derecognition, the entire carrying amount of the transferred
financial asset is, between the portion which is derecognized
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and the portion which is not, apportioned according to their
respective relative fair value, and the difference between the
sum of the consideration received from the transfer and the
accumulative amount of the changes of the fair value originally
included in other comprehensive income which shall be
apportioned to the derecognized portion (the transferred
financial asset shall meet all of the following conditions: 1) the
Group's business model for managing the financial assets is
aimed at both receiving contract cash flows and selling the
financial assets; 2) The terms of the contract for the financial
asset provide that the cash flow generated on a particular date
is only for the payment of principal and interest based on the
amount of the outstanding principal.), and the apportioned
entire carrying amount of the said financial assets are included
into current profit or loss.

If the Group continues to be involved by providing financial
guarantee for the transferred financial assets, the assets formed
by the continued involvement are recognized at the lower of the
book value of the financial assets and the amount of financial
guarantee. The amount of financial guarantee refers to the
maximum amount of the consideration received that will be
required to be repaid.

(6) Distinction between and treatment of financial
liabilities and equity instruments

The Group distinguishes between financial liabilities and
equity instruments in accordance with the following principles:
1) A contractual obligation meets the definition of a financial
liability if the Group cannot unconditionally avoid meeting that
obligation by delivering cash or other financial assets. Some
financial instruments do not explicitly contain terms and
conditions for delivery of cash or other financial asset
obligations, but it is possible that contractual obligations may
arise indirectly through other terms and conditions. 2) If a
financial instrument is required to be, or may be, settled with
the Group’ s own equity instruments, it’ s needed to take into
account whether the Group’ s own equity instruments used to
settle the instrument in question are intended as a substitute for
cash or other financial assets or are intended to give the holder
of the instrument in question certain residual interest in the
assets of the issuer net of all liabilities. If the former prevails,
the instrument will be treated as a financial liability of the
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issuer; or if the latter prevails, the instrument will be treated as
an equity instrument of the issuer. In certain circumstances, a
financial instrument contract requires or allows the Group to
settle the financial instrument with its own equity instruments,
where the amount of the contractual right or contractual
obligation is equal to the number of the Group’ s own equity
instruments available for acquisition or required for delivery
multiplied by their fair value at the time of settlement, then the
contract is classified as a financial liability regardless of
whether the amount of the contractual right or obligation is
fixed or varies, in whole or in part, with variables other than the
market price of the Group’ s own equity instruments (for
example, interest rates, the price of a commaodity or a financial
instrument).

When classifying financial instruments (or their components)
in the consolidated statements of operations, the Group takes
into account all terms and conditions agreed between the
members of the Group and holders of financial instruments. An
instrument shall be classified as a financial liability if the Group
as a whole has borne an obligation to deliver cash, other
financial assets or to settle in a manner that otherwise results in
the instrument becoming a financial liability.

(7) Offset of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
presented separately in the balance sheet without offsetting. But
whenever all of the following conditions are met, they shall be
presented in the balance sheet at the net amount after offsetting:
1) The Group has the legal right to offset recognized amount
and is currently able to execute this legal right; and 2) The
Group plans to settle on a net basis, or realize the financial
assets and settle the financial liabilities at the same time.

11. Inventories

The inventories of the Group mainly include merchandise
inventory and goods shipped in transit.

The inventories are initially measured as per costs. The
inventory costs are purchase costs. The perpetual inventory
system is carried out for the inventories. When the inventories
are received or shipped, the actual costs are determined by the
moving weighted average method.
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On the balance sheet date, the inventories are measured by the
costs or net realizable value, whichever is lower. If the
inventory costs are higher than the net realizable value, the
inventory falling price reserves are accrued, which is included
into the current profit or loss. The net realizable value refers to
the amount of estimated sales price of inventories minus the
purchase costs in the daily activity.

Regarding the merchandise inventory of the Group, according
to the single inventory item, the inventory falling price reserves
are accrued. The net realizable value of merchandise inventory
is determined according to the estimated sales price of such
inventory minus the purchase costs.

12. Contract Liabilities

The contract liability reflects the obligation of transfer of goods
to the customer due to the customer consideration received or
receivable of the Group. Before the Group transfers the goods
to the customer, if the customer has paid the contract
consideration or the Group has gained the right of
unconditionally receiving the contract consideration, the
contract liability is recognized according to the amount
received or receivable based on the money actually paid by the
customer or matured money payable, whichever is earlier.

13. Long-term Equity Investment

The long-term equity investment of the Group is the investment
in the subsidiary primarily.

(1) Judgment of Significant Impact and Common Control

It is the equity investment of the Group with significant impact
in the investee, namely, investment in the joint venture. The
significant impact refers to “the Group has the power to
participate in the decision-making of financial and operation
policies of the investee, but cannot control the formulation of
these policies or jointly control the formulation of these policies
together with other parties” . If the Company possesses more
than 20% but less than 50% voting rights of the investee
directly or indirectly through the subsidiary, it is usually
deemed that the Company has the significant impact on the
investee, unless there are explicit evidences showing that the
Group cannot participate in the decision-making of production
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and operation of the investee or form the control over the
investee.

(2) Accounting Treatment Method

The Group initially measures the long-term equity investment
according to the initial investment cost.

For long- term equity investment acquired through business
combination under common control, the share of the book value
of net assets of the combined party in the combined statement
of the ultimate controlling party on the combination date shall
be accounted for as the initial investment cost of the long-term
equity investment. If the book value of net assets of the
combined party on the combination date is negative, the cost of
the long- term equity investment is determined as nil.

For long-term equity investment acquired through business
combination not under common control, the combination cost
is regarded as the initial investment cost; for the combination
of enterprises not under common control by steps through
multiple transactions, if it is not a package transaction, the sum
of book value of originally held equity investment plus newly-
added investment costs is the initial investment cost.

Except the long-term equity investment due to the business
combination, for the long-term equity investment acquired
through cash payment, the actually paid purchase price and
expenses directly related to the acquisition of long-term equity
investment, taxes and other necessary expenditures are
regarded as the initial investment cost; for the long-term equity
investment acquired through issuing the equity securities, the
fair value of issued equity securities is regarded as the
investment cost.

The investment of the Company in the subsidiary is accounted
by the cost method in some financial statements. When the cost
method is adopted, the long-term equity investment is valuated
according to the initial investment cost. When the investment is
added, according to the fair value of cost amount paid in the
added investment and relevant transaction fees incurred, the
book value of long-term equity investment cost is increased.
The cash dividends or profits allocated by the investee are
recognized as the investment income of current period
according to the amount.
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The investment of the Group in the cooperative enterprise and
joint venture is accounted by the equity method. When the
equity method is adopted, for the portion of initial investment
cost of long-term equity investment greater than the fair value
of net identifiable assets of the investee in the investment, the
book value of long-term equity investment is not adjusted; for
the portion of initial investment cost of long-term equity
investment less than the fair value of net identifiable assets of
the investee in the investment, the book value of long-term
equity investment is increased based on the difference, which
is included into the current profit or loss of investment
simultaneously.

In the subsequent measurement, for the long-term equity
investment accounted by the equity method, during the period
when the investment is held, with the change of owner’ s
equities of the investee, the book value of long-term equity
investment is increased or decreased accordingly. When the
portion of net profit and loss of the investee enjoyed is
recognized, based on the fair value of identifiable assets of the
investee in the investment acquisition, according to the
accounting policy and accounting period of the Group, after the
offsetting of unrealized internal transaction profit and loss due
to the non-business transaction with the cooperative enterprise
and joint venture, the part of the Group is calculated as per the
proportion (if the internal transaction loss belongs to the asset
impairment loss, it is recognized by full amount), and the net
profits of the investee are recognized after adjustment. The
Group recognizes the net losses of the investee subject to the
write-down to zero of book value of long-term equity
investment and other long-term equities which constitute the
net investment in the investee in essence, except that the Group
bears the additional loss obligation.

14. Investment Property

The investment property of the Group refers to the property
held for earning the rentals or capital appreciation, which is
measured by cost model.

The investment property of the Group shall be depreciated or
amortized on straight-line basis. The estimated useful life, net
residual value rate and annual depreciation (amortization) rate
of various investment properties are as follows:
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Fixed assets are tangible assets refer to the following
characteristics at the same time, that are held for use in the
production of goods, supply of labour, rental or operation
management, with a unit value of more than RMB2,000 and
have a useful life of more than one year.

Fixed assets are recognized only when its related economic
benefits are likely to flow into the Group and its cost could be
reliably measured. The Group’s fixed assets include houses and
buildings, machinery, transportation equipment, office
equipment, etc.

For subsequent expenses related to fixed assets, if the economic
benefits related to such fixed assets are likely to flow into the
Group and its cost could be reliably measured, such expenses
are included in the cost of fixed asset, and the book value of the
replaced part will be derecognized. Save for the above, other
subsequent expenses are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they are incurred.

The Group depreciates all fixed assets, except for those that
have been fully depreciated and continued to be used as well as
land that has been separately stated in the accounts.
Depreciation is recognised using the average service life
method (or other methods). The categorised depreciable service
life, estimated net residual values and depreciation rates of the
Group’s fixed assets are shown as follows:
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At the end of each year, the Group reviews the estimated useful
life, estimated net residual value and depreciation method of
fixed assets, and if there is a change, it treats it as a change in
accounting estimate.

16. Borrowing Costs

The to-be-incurred borrowing costs of construction or
production which may be directly attributed to the assets
meeting the capitalization conditions of the Group are
capitalized and they are included into relevant asset costs, and
other borrowing costs are included into the current profit or
loss. For the borrowing costs of assets meeting the
capitalization conditions determined by the Group, including
fixed assets which may reach the predetermined serviceable or
sellable state after more than 1-year construction or production
activity, investment property and inventory, when the asset
expenditures are incurred, the borrowing costs are incurred, and
the construction or production activity necessary for the assets
to reach the predetermined serviceable or sellable state starts,
they are capitalized; when the assets meeting the capitalization
conditions of construction or purchase reach the predetermined
serviceable or sellable state, the capitalization is stopped, and
the borrowing costs incurred thereafter are included into the
current profit or loss. If the assets meeting the capitalization
conditions suffer from the abnormal suspension during the
construction or production, and the suspension time exceeds
three 3 months, the capitalization of borrowing costs is
suspended till the asset construction or production activity re-
starts.

Regarding each accounting period during the capitalization
period, the Group recognizes the capitalized amount of
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borrowing costs according to the following methods: for the
borrowing of special loan, it is determined according to the
amount of actually incurred interest expenses after the
deduction of interest income gained of unused loan fund
deposited into the bank or investment income from temporary
investment; for the occupation of general loan, it is determined
according to the weighted mean of asset expenditures of
accumulated asset expenditures greater than the special loan
multiplying by the capitalization rate of occupied general loan,
and the capitalization rate is calculated and determined
according to the weighted average interest rate of general loan.

17. Intangible Assets

The intangible assets of the Group include land use right,
computer software, customer resources, and they are measured
according to the actual costs in the acquisition. For the
purchased intangible assets, the actually paid prices and related
other expenditures are regarded as the actual costs; for the
intangible assets invested by the investor, the actual costs are
determined according to the value agreed in the investment
contract or agreement, but the actual costs are determined
according to the fair value if the value agreed in the contract or
agreement is unfair.

(1) Service Life and Determination Basis, Estimate,
Amortization Method or Review Procedure

The land use right shall be evenly amortized when it is obtained
from the date of transfer. Computer software and, customer
resources are amortized evenly by stages over the shortest of
estimated useful life, beneficial term stipulated by contract and
legal effective term. The amortization amount is credited into
relevant asset cost and profit or loss for the period according to
its beneficiaries. The Group reviews the estimated useful life
and amortization method of intangible assets with limited
useful life at the end of each year, and any changes will be
treated as changes on accounting estimates.

18. Long-term Asset Impairment

On each balance sheet date, the Group checks the long-term
equity investment, fixed asset, right-of-use asset, intangible
assets with limited service life and other items. If the
impairment sign exists, the Group conducts the impairment test.
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For goodwill, no matter the impairment sign exists, the
impairment test is conducted at the end of each year.

(1) Impairment of Non-current Assets except Financial
Assets (Except Goodwill)

In the impairment test of the Group, according to the higher one
between the net amount of fair value of asset minus the disposal
expenses and present value of predicted future cash flow of
asset, the recoverable amount is determined. After the
impairment test, if the book value of such asset exceeds the
recoverable amount, the difference is recognized as the
impairment loss.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount based on the
single asset. If it is difficult to estimate the recoverable amount
of single asset, based on the asset group of such asset, the
recoverable amount of asset group is determined. The asset
group is identified based on whether the main cash inflow of
asset group is independent of cash inflow of other assets or asset

group.

The net amount of fair value minus the disposal expenses is
determined based on the sales agreement price or observable
market price of similar asset in the fair transaction minus the
incremental cost which may be directly attributed to such asset
disposal. When the present value of future cash flow is
predicted, the Management must estimate the predicted future
cash flow of such asset or asset group, and choose the proper
discount rate to determine the present value of future cash flow.

(2) Goodwill Impairment

For the goodwill of the Group due to the business combination,
from the purchase date, the book value is amortized to the
related asset group according to the reasonable method. If it is
difficult to amortize the book value to the related asset group,
it is amortized to the related asset group portfolio. In the
impairment test of related asset group or asset group portfolio
including goodwill, if the goodwill related asset group or asset
group portfolio has any impairment sign, the impairment test is
conducted on the asset group or asset group portfolio excluding
goodwill at first, and the recoverable amount is calculated, the
comparison is done with related book value, and the
corresponding impairment losses are recognized; after that, the
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impairment test is conducted on the asset group or asset group
portfolio including goodwill, and the book value and
recoverable amount are compared, and the impairment loss
amount offsets the book value of goodwill amortized to the
asset group or asset group portfolio at first, and then offsets the
book value of other assets in proportion according to the
proportion of book value of other assets in the asset group or
asset group portfolio, except goodwill, if the recoverable
amount is lower than the book value.

Refer to Note V.12 for the goodwill impairment test method,
parameter and assumption.

Once recognized, the impairment losses of abovementioned
assets are not reversed during the later accounting period.

19. Long-term Unamortized Expenses

The long-term unamortized expenses of the Group include the
expenses whose period is more than 1 year and which have been
paid by the Group and should be amortized in the current period
and later periods, for example, house decoration expenditures.
Such expenses are averagely amortized during the benefit
period. If the long-term unamortized expenses cannot bring
benefits to the later accounting period, the amortized value of
unamortized item is converted into the current profit or loss
entirely.

20. Staff remuneration

The Group’s staff remuneration includes short-term
remuneration, post- employment benefits, termination benefits
and other long-term benefits.

The short-term salaries mainly include the staff wages and staff
benefits. During the accounting period when the staff provide
services, the actually incurred short-term salaries are
recognized as liabilities, which are included into the current
profit or loss or related asset cost according to the benefit
object.

The post-employment benefits mainly include the basic
endowment insurance expenses and unemployment insurance
expenses, and they are classified into the defined contribution
plan and defined benefit plan according to the risks and
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obligations borne by the Company. For the defined contribution
plan, the contribution money paid to the independent subject
for gaining the services provided by the staff during the
accounting period on the balance sheet date is recognized as
liabilities, which is included into the current profit or loss or
related asset cost according to the benefit object.

Termination benefits is due to the compensation to employees
when the Group terminates the employment relationship with
employees before the expiry of the employment contracts or as
an offer to encourage employees to accept voluntary
redundancy. If the Group provides termination benefits to the
employees, the liabilities arising from termination benefits will
be recognized and included in profit or loss for the period at the
earlier of the following dates: (O when the Group cannot
unilaterally withdraw termination benefits for the employment
termination plan or the redundancy offer; and @ when the
Group recognizes the costs or expenses related to the
reorganization involving in payment of termination benefits.Of
these, compensation paid in excess of one year is discounted at
a discount rate and credited to current profit or loss.

21. Income Recognition Principle and Measurement
Method

When the performance obligation in the contract is fulfilled,
namely, the customer gains the control right over related goods
or services, the Group recognizes the income.

The Group’s revenue includes pharmaceutical sales revenue,
consulting service revenue, and third-party logistics revenue.
The specific accounting policies related to its main activities
are described as follows:

Specific policies for pharmaceutical sales revenue: the Group
and the customer sign a sales contract to agree that the opposite
party should conduct the acceptance within three days after
receiving the goods according to the goods quality
requirements and GSP acceptance standards. If no acceptance
is conducted within the period, it is deemed that the goods are
qualified. If the provided goods are inconsistent with the order,
or they are damaged, polluted or expired, the feedback should
be given to the Group within three days after the goods arrive,
and detailed data should be provided. If the Company is
responsible after verification, the return formalities will be
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handled after confirmation. Based on the abovementioned
clauses and the prudent principle, three days after the goods are
shipped, it is deemed that the control right of goods has been
transferred to the customer, and the income is recognized.

Specific policies for consulting service revenue: The Group
provides services such as brand promotion and product
marketing promotion to certain pharmaceutical manufacturers
and distributors. Fees are charged based on the specific services
provided and are independent of product procurement
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue from consulting
services when the performance period of the services
concludes, and either the customer payment is received or it is
determined that the payment is fully collectible.

Specific policies for third-party logistics revenue: The Group
provides warehousing and pharmaceutical distribution and
transportation services to customers through its third-party
logistics business. The Group recognizes revenue when the
services provided to customers are completed and there are no
objections from both parties.

22. Government Subsidy

The government subsidy is recognized when the conditions are
met and the subsidy can be received. If the government subsidy
belongs to the monetary asset, it is measured according to the
actually received amount. For the subsidy allocated according
to the fixed quota standard, or there are concrete evidences
showing that related conditions specified in the fiscal support
policy can be met and it is predicted that the fiscal support fund
can be received at the end of the year, it is measured according
to the amount receivable; if the government subsidy is the non-
monetary asset, it is measured according to the fair value. If the
fair value cannot be obtained reliably, it is measured according
to the nominal amount (RMB1).

Asset-related government subsidies refer to government
subsidies obtained by the Group for the construction or, in other
means, for the formation of long-term assets; revenue-related
government subsidies refer to government subsidies other than
those related to assets. If the targets of the subsidies are not
specified in government documents, the Group shall make
judgments in accordance with the above-mentioned distinction
principles, and where distinctions are difficult to be made, the
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subsidies shall be classified as revenue-related government

subsidies as a whole.

The asset-related government subsidy is recognized as the
deferred income and averagely distributed and included into the
current profit or loss during the service life of related asset. If
related asset is sold, transferred, scrapped or damaged before
the service life ends, the balance of undistributed related
deferred income is converted into the current profit or loss of
asset disposal.

When the government grants related to the revenue are used to
make up the relevant expenses or losses incurred in subsequent
periods, they shall be recognized as deferred revenue and shall
be included in the profit or loss for the period during the period
in which relevant expenses are recognized. When the
government grants are used to make up the relevant expenses
or losses incurred, they shall be directly included in the profit

or loss for the period.

come according to the economic business essence. The
government subsidy unrelated to the daily activity of the Group
is included into the non-business income.

The Group accounts for interest subsidies of policy-based
preferential loans it obtains on the following principles and

under two circumstances:

(1) Where the finance allocates the interest subsidy to the
lending bank and the lending bank loans to the Group at the
policy- based preferential interest rate, the Group records the
amount of loan it actually receives as the entry value of the loan,
and calculates the related borrowing costs based on the
principal amount of the loan and the policy-based preferential
interest rate (or records the fair value of the loan as the entry
value of the loan and calculates the borrowing costs based on
the effective interest rate method; and recognises the difference
between the actual amount received and the fair value of the
loan in deferred income. The deferred income is amortised over
the duration of the loan using the effective interest rate method

and is used to offset the related borrowing costs.)



(2) MBI E B & HRE T a AL
[, AR FRE S50 8 10 e 2P ] ik
.

23 IBIE T EE AR T A B A R

AEEFIEFE T LA 2E AR SE TR L A
TR A 8 2 AN B f5 ) T RS 2 i B LR 1
B IR DLRCRIE R EE A A
TR RRE F5 IR e R DA E AT A
FLRERIE H A EH AR SR T (E
Fel] 149 22 B 2E A= 1 (R B M 22 B ) B i

=7
At o

AR S ER AN S TSN B A AN R R
ik 22 BAERIEE S M A (D
PR 22 B P 2 P T A A 6 e R B
AR B Gt RE A B AR A5 A
(BTN E IR Y AR A3 5 OF (58 5
PEA BB E B AR PR R (2D
GESRANCTNE Foe ISy ke Sia i
B BB R E 2 R, AR M eI
A e 2 SR [ ) P ] L e B g 2
SEAE ] TH R R AR AT REAS S [l £ o

A LR T LUAR AT RE S AR AT K1
pPEZE 5. ARG SR AR SRR AR
HNEAAFR AT R RS IR,  BHBR LR 1 41
JECE AT AR AT R R 22 B TR 4R
AN ASE K A v il 2 3 AE T A5 AR A
(1) B2z BPE AR EA LB g5
R AN S A SR P 19 B (B PT IR
R AR SE S HF I 5 h EE AR I B
A PIRERE .  (2) BT A
A B A3 e SRR A AT
AN R PEZE S, ASRE RIS 2 LT 1
P e B IR 2 AR ) TR LR AR 7]
RERIR]. R ARAR AT BEFE AT I AR AR AT 4K
TR s 22 B 1 JE A AR T 1S B

2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT

(2) Where the finance allocates the interest subsidy to the
Group directly, the Group offsets the related borrowing costs
with the subsidy.

23. Deferred Income Tax Assets and Deferred Income Tax
Liabilities

The deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax
liabilities of the Group are calculated and recognized according
to the (temporary difference) due to the difference between
taxation basis of assets and liabilities and book value, and the
difference between taxation basis of the item which is not
recognized as asset and liability but whose taxation basis may
be determined according to the tax law and book value.

The Group recognizes the deferred income tax liabilities for all
taxable temporary differences, except the following
circumstances: (1) initial recognition of goodwill which gives
rise to the temporary difference or initial recognition of assets
or liabilities due to the transaction of non-business combination
which neither affects the accounting profits nor affects the
taxable income (or deductible loss); (2) taxable temporary
difference related to the investment of subsidiary, cooperative
enterprise and joint venture, the Group can control the reversal
time of temporary difference, and it is likely that such
temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable

future.

Subject to the future taxable income which is likely to be gained
for offsetting the deductible temporary difference, deductible
loss and tax credit, the Group recognizes the deferred income
tax assets regarding the deductible temporary difference,
deductible loss and tax credit, except the following
circumstances: (1) the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in the transaction of
non-business combination which neither affects the accounting
profits nor affects the taxable income (or deductible loss); (2)
the deductible temporary difference related to the investment of
subsidiary, cooperative enterprise and joint venture fails to
simultaneously meet the following conditions: the temporary
difference is likely to be reversed in the foreseeable future, and
it is likely to gain the taxable income for offsetting the
deductible temporary difference in the future.
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Within the limit of sufficient taxable income for offsetting the
deductible loss probably, the Group recognizes the deferred
income tax assets regarding all unutilized deductible losses.
The Management estimates the time and amount of taxable
income obtained in the future through tremendous judgments,
and decides the amount of to-be-recognized deferred income
tax assets based on the taxation planning strategy, so the

uncertainty exists.

On the balance sheet date, the deferred income tax assets and
deferred income tax liabilities are measured according to the
applicable tax rate during the period of anticipated recovery of
such assets or settlement of such liabilities.

24. Lease
(1) Identification of Lease

On the contract start date, the Group assesses whether the
contract is lease or includes lease. If a contract party assigns the
right to control the usage of one or multiple identified assets
during a certain period for exchange of consideration, such
contract is lease or includes lease.

If multiple separate leases are included simultaneously in the
contract, the Group splits the contract and accounts the separate
leases separately. If lease and non-lease parts are included in
the contract simultaneously, the Group -carries out the
accounting treatment after splitting the lease and non-lease
parts. The lease parts are accounted according to the lease
criteria, and the non-lease parts are accounted according to
other applicable accounting standards for business enterprises.

(2) The Group as the Lessee
1) Recognition of Lease

Except the short-term lease and low-value asset lease, on the
start date of lease term, the Group recognizes the right-of-use
asset and lease liability for the lease.

The right-of-use asset refers to the right for the Group as the
Lessee to use the lease asset during the lease term, which is
initially measured based on the cost. Such cost includes: @
Initial measurement amount of lease liability; @ Lease
payment made on or before the start date of lease term minus
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the enjoyed lease incentive related amount; 3 Initial direct
expenses incurred; @ predicted to-be-incurred costs (except
the costs incurred for inventory production) for dismantling and
removing the lease asset, restoring the lease asset location or
restoring the lease asset to the state specified in the lease clause.
If the Group re-measures the lease liabilities according to
related rules of lease criteria, the book value of right-of-use
asset is adjusted accordingly.

According to the anticipated consumption method of economic
interests related to the right-of-use asset, the Group accrues the
depreciation of right-of-use asset by the straight-line method. If
the acquisition of use right of lease asset upon the expiration of
lease term can be reasonably determined, the depreciation is
accrued during the remaining service life of lease asset; if the
acquisition of use right of lease asset upon the expiration of
lease term cannot be reasonably determined, the depreciation is
accrued during the period of lease term and remaining service
life of lease asset, whichever is shorter. The accrued
depreciation amount is included into the cost of related asset or
current profit or loss according to the purpose of right-of-use
asset.

According to the present value of lease payment which has not
been made on the start date of lease term, the Group initially
measures the lease liability. The lease payment includes (D
Fixed payment and substantial fixed payment minus lease
incentive related amount; @) Variable lease payment subject
to the index or ratio; 3 Exercise price of call option when the
Group reasonably determines the exercise of call option; @
Money paid for exercise of termination of lease option when
the Group’s exercise of termination of lease option is reflected
during the lease term; &) Predicted money payable according
to the guaranteed residual value provided by the Group.

In the calculation of present value of lease payment, if the
Group fails to determine the lease interest rate, the interest rate
of incremental loan is regarded as the discount rate. According
to the fixed periodical interest rate, the Group calculates the
interest expenses of lease liabilities regarding different periods
during the lease term, and includes them into the current profit
or loss, except the capitalized expenses.

After the start date of lease term, when the Group recognizes
the interest of lease liability, the book amount of lease liability
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is increased; when the lease payment is made, the book amount
of lease liability is decreased. In case of any change to the
substantial fixed payment, any change to the predicted amount
payable of guaranteed residual value, any change to the index
or ratio for determining the lease payment, or any change to the
assessment result or actual exercise of call option, renewal
option or termination option, the Group re-measures the lease
liability according to the present value of lease payment after
change.

2) Short-term Lease and Low-value Asset Lease

For the short-term lease whose lease term is less than twelve
months and low-value asset lease when the single lease asset is
the new asset, the Group chooses not to recognize the right-of-
use asset and lease liability. The Group includes the lease
payment of short-term lease and low-value asset lease into
related asset cost or current profit or loss according to the
straight-line method regarding different periods during the
lease term.

(3) The Group as the Lessor

When the Group acts as the Lessor, if a lease substantially
transfers almost all risks and rewards related to the ownership
of lease asset, the Group classifies such lease as the financing
lease, and the rest is the operating lease.

1) Financing Lease

On the start date of lease term, the Group recognizes the
financing lease money receivable regarding the financing lease,
and de-recognizes the financing lease asset. In the initial
measurement of financing lease money receivable of the
Group, the net amount of lease investment is regarded as the

entry value of financing lease money receivable.

The net amount of lease investment is the sum of unguaranteed
residual value and present value of unreceived lease receipts on
the start date of lease term after the discount according to the
interest rate of lease. The Group calculates and recognizes the
interest income regarding different periods during the lease
term according to the fixed periodical interest rate. The variable
lease payment which is gained by the Group and brought into
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the measurement of net amount of lease investment is included

into the current profit or loss when it is actually incurred.
2) Operating Lease

Regarding different periods during the lease term, the Group
recognizes the lease receipts of operating lease as the rental
income by the straight-line method.

The initial direct expenses of the Group related to the operating
lease are capitalized to the cost of lease object asset and they
are included into the current profit or loss by stages according
to the recognition basis same as the rental income during the
lease term. The variable lease payment which is not included
into the lease receipts and which is gained by the Group and
related to the operating lease is included into the current profit
or loss when it is actually incurred.

In case of any change to the operating lease, from the effective
date of change, the Group regards it as a new lease for
accounting treatment. The lease receipts collected in advance
or receivable in connection with the lease before the change are
regarded as the new lease receipts.

25. Discontinued operation

Discontinued operation refers to a component of the Group
which meets one of the following requirements and can be
distinguish separately and has been already disposed of or
classified as held-for-sale: (1) the component represents an
independent major line of business or a major independent
geographical area of operations; (2) the component is part of a
plan for the contemplated disposal of an independent major line
of business or a major independent geographical area of
operations; (3) the component is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively for the purpose of resale.

26. Changes of significant accounting policies and accounting
estimates

(1) Changes of significant accounting policies

1) The Group implemented the relevant provisions and
guidelines of the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance in 2024, mainly including:
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@ Provisions on the Classification of Current and Non-Current
Liabilities as per Interpretation No. 17 of Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises (Cai Kuai [2023] No. 21) (hereinafter
referred to as “Interpretation No. 177)

According to the provisions of Interpretation No. 17, when
classifying liabilities based on liquidity, the Group considers
only whether, as of the balance sheet date, it has a substantive
right to defer settlement of the liability for more than one year
beyond the balance sheet date (hereinafter referred to as the
“right to defer settlement”), without considering the subjective
probability of exercising such right.

For liabilities arising from a loan arrangement, if the Group's
right to defer settlement is contingent on its compliance with
conditions stipulated in the loan arrangement (hereinafter
referred to as “covenant conditions”), the Group considers only
the covenant conditions that must be met on or before the balance
sheet date when classifying related liabilities based on liquidity,
without considering the impact of covenant conditions that
should be complied with after the balance sheet date.

For liabilities that may be settled by delivering the Group's own
equity instruments at the counterparty's option, if the Group
classifies such option as an equity instrument and recognizes it
separately as part of a compound financial instrument's equity
component in accordance with the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 37 - Presentation of Financial
Instruments, it does not affect the liquidity classification of the
liability. Otherwise, if such option cannot be classified as an
equity instrument, it will affect the liquidity classification of the
liability.

The Group adopts the retrospective adjustment method to restate
the financial statement data of comparable periods accordingly.

The adoption of this provision has not had a significant impact
on the Group's financial position or operating results.

(2 Provisions on the Accounting Treatment of Guarantee-Type
Quality Assurance Not Constituting a Separate Performance
Obligation as per the Interpretation No. 18 of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (Cai Kuai [2024] No. 24)
(hereinafter referred to as “Interpretation No. 18”)
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According to the provisions of Interpretation No. 18, the Group
includes the accrued guarantee-type quality assurance expenses
in “main business costs” and “other business costs,” instead of

“selling expenses.”

The Group adopts the retrospective adjustment method to restate
the financial statement data of comparable periods accordingly.

The adoption of this provision has not had a significant impact
on the Group's financial position or operating results.

(2) Changes of significant accounting estimates

There is no change in the significant accounting estimates of the
Group for the reporting period.

g, I8 IV. TAXATION
1EERBLRR 1. Main types of tax and tax rates
B AT TR ES

Type of tax Tax basis Tax rate

BB PN ZESE PR GE A JEE AR T A4 0
. ) : 25%
China Enterprise Income Tax Taxable income
FEE AR S ON o/ 70/ c0/ 00 0
VAT Taxable income 0%, 3% 6%, 9%, 13%
LA e R
ST R B AT B :
Urban maintenance and 7%
. Amount of actual payable turnover tax
construction tax
HE B M B RSN A ER 30,
Education surcharge Amount of actual payable turnover tax
W7 HCE BN {5 G S T 29,
Local education surcharge Amount of actual payable turnover tax
A AR b THIAR SE R
Tax on land use Land area Fixed rate
B J7 J JE AR ¥ 70% 3800 4 N 12%5% 12%
o . . 2%8H
Property taxes 70% of original Valqe of the properties 1.9% or 12%
or rental income

f. AHHBEREREZIAE R

V . NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NH T R I SRR g, R RE For data in the financial data as disclosed below, “beginning of
Bz 4k,  “4FEH])” ZRE§ 2024 4F 1 A 1 the year” represents 1 January 2024, “end of the year”

H, “4K” 152024412 A 31 H,

CRE” RIR2024FE1 A1 HE12 A

represents 31 December 2024, “the year” represents the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, “last year”
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31H, “b#” R¥E202341H1H represents the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
£12 31 H, &¥EAHNREIT, 2022, and the monetary unit shall be RMB, unless specified
otherwise.

1LERES 1. Monetary funds

i ARG Balance asﬂjf)gl%iﬁe inning of

Item Balance as at the end of the year g g

the year
JeE A7 B 4
Cash on hand 231,121.38 238,303.54
A A
ﬁaﬁﬁ'ﬁ\ 171,562,793.94 112,690,514.08
Cash in bank
H A 1 ik
HARFH S 391,356,488.13 521,268,411.47
Other monetary funds
G
563,150,403.45 634,197,229.09
Total
Horr: AFTBHEBE AN TRARER
Incl: the total amount of money 412,617.06 404,255.17
deposited abroad
188 F 32 3] B i ) B O < Use of restricted monetary funds
G AR Balance asﬂ:j&)gl%iﬁe inning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year

HRAT 7R SO ME SR IR <
Bank acceptance draft margin

391,356,488.13

521,268,411.47

a3t
Total

391,356,488.13

521,268,411.47
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2. BN R 2. Bills receivables
(1) JEWCEEE 535857~ (1) Classification of bills receivables
A FARER Balance asfj?l%ﬁ inning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year
SRAT A Su i 52
Bank acceptance bills
5 A Sr £ P T
ﬁ%g(ﬂ.@m 5,590,000.00 3,645,761.32
Commercial drafts
it
5,590,000.00 3,645,761.32
Subtotal
Tk IEARUEM
Less: Provision for bad debt 19,565.00 12,760.16
a3
5,570,435.00 3,633,001.16
Total

(2) FEREHEIE ISR

(2) Classification by the methods for making provisions for bad

debt
ERBH
Balance as at the end of the year
-~ BT T
Classification Book balance Provision for bad debt T R
&5 il (%) &5 FHRELB] (%) Book value
Amount Percentage (%) Amount Provision ratio (%)
15 HLIHET SR IR e My
Bad debt provision
made on individual
basis
e At PR AR YE A
Bad debt provision 5,590,000.00 100.00 | 19,565.00 0.35 5,570,435.00
made on a collective
basis
Hi. A SH A
I/\ EP EE&QH o 5,590,000.00 100.00 19,565.00 0.35 5,570,435.00
ncl: Aging portfolio
A
ITjof:l 5,590,000.00 100.00 | 19,565.00 — 5,570,435.00
(%) (continued)
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LEHIERER
Balance as at the beginning of the year
xR HRTA &R %8R SEEREM
Classification Book balance Provision for bad debt HE T
HF (%) &8 aHREH (%) Book value
Amount Percentage (%) Amount Provision ratio (%)
o B TERT TR IR AR UE
Bad debt provision
made on individual
basis
A AR IEIREE A
Bad debt provision 3,645,761.32 100.00 | 12,760.16 035 3,633,001.16
made on a collective
basis
A RS 3,645,761.32 100.00 | 12,760.16 0.35 3,633,001.16
Incl: Aging portfolio
P
”ll“:loil 3,645,761.32 100.00 | 12,760.16 — 3,633,001.16
D %GR BRI IR e A 1) Bad debt provision for bills receivables made on a collective
basis
FERBRE
LB Balance as at the end of the year
Title BRI AR AR LRARYEM AR B (%)
Book balance Provision for bad debt Provision ratio (%)
HE A 41 A
'Eg? Als . 5,590,000.00 19,565.00 0.35
Aging portfolio
A3t
5,590,000.00 19,565.00 —
Total

ab 1 BPREERRRAT KR S K SO M 3R
FARCH B BAER & AR H AR 2N
T AR ST SR (1 e R APREC LS, 2
R EWSCIR R B TR SRR RTR LT

Sef FHIRAE IR % -

A 20 AR ERFERIBBCEE MRS

BWELHEZ N,
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Note 1: For the aging portfolio comprising the amounts of the
commercial drafts held as at the end of the year and the
commercial drafts discounted as at the end of the year but not
mature at the balance sheet date, the impairment losses of credit

are provided for with reference to the expected credit loss rates
for trade receivables.

Note 2: The age of the aforementioned bills receivables of the

Group as at the end of the year was within 1 year.
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(3) JEWCEE AR, dlel, (3) Provisions for bad debt accrued, recovered and reversed for
()3 R HE A bills receivables in the year
KRB ENEER
Changes in the year
AR e SN ER R
g =Yl Balance as at %55
.. o =] Balance as at the
Category the beginning =HE R q Written | HAih end of the year
of the year Accrued CCOVEreC | pack or | Other
or written
reversed off
P S A S 5
Commercial 12,760.16 6,804.84 19,565.00
drafts
=
12,760.16 6,804.84 19,565.00
Total

(4) FERCHEMIESCEE

(4) Pledged bills receivables as at the end of the year

THH FERDENEHE
Item Pledged amount as at the end of the year
>z ANBE BH
FSE RIS 5,590,000.00
Commercial drafts
&t
(==
Total 5,590,000.00

(5) FRERMERMEOL HahiRA
FE R FE AR H MR B R

(6) ALEFALE M TT A% 8 10 JE WO R

the balance sheet date.

(5) The Group had no notes receivable that had been endorsed
or discounted at the end of the year and were not yet mature at

(6) The Group has no actually written-off bills receivable this

. year.
3 JEBEER 3. Trade receivables
HE A FARGHE Balance as at tl%ﬁaeginning of
Name of Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
JEE SR K

Trade receivables

1,184,455,239.82

982,891,686.13

W BEARYEM

Less: Provision for bad debt

21,217,687.43

21,172,836.07

HH

Net amount

1,163,237,552.39

961,718,850.06
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(1) JERIRFILIRES 517~

FEIRANH R P 2R, AR IE ] AT
o B RS EUCR AR R P A
R E S B . AR [ %
FEAN R A5 B, (5 A —
R N8 o B A, AR R
AL A i B A A BRI B B S8
ANHIRERR IR RS, B a6E S IRES .

(1) Accounts receivable by aging

Before accepting new customers, the Group assessed the credit
worthiness of potential clients and set corresponding credit limits
according to the internal credit assessment policies. The Group
applies different credit policies to different customers, credit
period is generally six months. As for commodity sales, the trade
receivables and operating revenue are recognized and the age of
the same is calculated after the control right has been transferred

to the buyers.

BRE FERGBH SEHIERIH

Age Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
L £FEA 1,156,354,646.21 956,817,773.59
Within 1 year
1-2 4 13,018,971.27 10,258,740.50
1 to 2 years
23 % 629,729.86 1,254,876.36
2 to 3 years
3 fELLE 14,451,892.48 14,560,295.68
More than 3 years
A
il 1,184,455,239.82 982,891,686.13
Total

(2) NIRRT 52 07 i 70 45

(2) Accounts receivable by the method of provisioning for bad

UIFN debt
FERERER
Balance as at the end of the year
BRI &R 8H SRR YA
1R Book balance Provision for bad debt
Classification net/il SHE L) BB A
&8 (%) £ (%) Book value
Amount Percentage Amount Provision ratio
(%) (%)
o B TR SR AR R
Bad debt provision 15,956,834.44 1.35 15,955,734.44 99.99 1,100.00
made on individual
basis
el T LA
Bad debt provision 1,168,498,405.38 98.65 5,261,952.99 0.45 | 1,163,236,452.39
made on a collective
basis
Hop IRECHHE 1,168,498,405.38 98.65 5,261,952.99 0.45 | 1,163,236,452.39
Incl: Aging portfolio
&5t 1,184,455,239.82 100.00 21,217,687.43 — 1,163,237,552.39
Total
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() (Continued)
SEAIERER
Balance as at the beginning of the year
BRI SR EH BERYEME
k=] Book balance Provision for bad debt
Classification s/l SHE B ERTEEE
&8 (%) &8 (%) Book value
Amount Percentage Amount Provision ratio
(%) (%)

T BIAGH IR M A
Bad debt provision 17,125,410.33 1.74 | 16,915,061.23 98.77 210,349.10
made on individual
basis
Tedl A At PRI R A
Bad debt provision 965,766,275.80 98.26 | 4,257,774.84 0.44 | 961,508,500.96
made on a collective
basis
o, [EEAAR A
Herfr: Bgﬁ? R . 965,766,275.80 98.26 4,257,774.84 0.44 | 961,508,500.96

Aging portfolio
&5t
Total 982,891,686.13 100.00 | 21,172,836.07 — 961,718,850.06

1) ISR % B IR SRR e

1) Bad debt provision for trade receivables made on individual

basis
EAIERER
Balance as at the beginning of the AR
Balance as at the end of the year
year
Company pame S sogy | F e
JRTEIRE b JRTEIREH o (%) AHEEH
Book balance Provision for Book balance Provision for Provision Reasons for provision
bad debt bad debt -
ratio(%)
EYADIPNIIE S R P TR B ERad IR RE A
HRAH &, JEEFArEEG
Huizhou Dachuan 6,436,891.56 6,436,891.56 6,436,891.56 6,436,891.56 100.00 Default in overdue goods
Pharmacy Co., payment, low expected
Ltd. recoverability
YNG4 e o T e e
gfjélzigg * R P TR B A B 1
Shensh &, JEEFArEEG
v enzhen 3,007,101.83 3,007,101.83 3,007,101.83 3,007,101.83 100.00 Default in overdue goods
PE:E:;C Co payment, low expected
L ¥ &0 recoverability
RPN it R 4E 3 R TR Booa AR e AR
AR AHE &, JERFAT
Huizhou Haichen 2,759,94229 2,647,04229 1,854,61829 1,854,6 18.29 100.00 Default in overdue goods
Pharmacy Co., payment, low expected
Ltd. recoverability
R TR BoIoa AR e AR
o 18, FHRIATEE
O\th " 4,921,474.65 4,824,025.55 4,658,222.76 4,657,122.76 99.98 Default in overdue goods
ers payment, low expected
recoverability
&3t
Total 17,125,410.33 16,915,061.23 15,956,834.44 15,955,734.44 — —
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aF: HAth R 200 B LU /NEEE L HA
R T s B 35 5 PR A &) SR A 4 B
it 200 B oG, KT AR

2) JENRER LA A RHR AR YE M

Note: Other small customers with balances below 2 million yuan;

among them, Huizhou Haichen Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. had an

opening balance exceeding 2 million yuan at the beginning of the

year, thus are disclosed separately.

2) Bad debt provision for trade receivables made on a collective

basis

FERBE
BRES Balance as at the end of the year
Age SR T B B BEAR YR FHREH (%)
Book balance Provision for bad debt Provision ratio (%)
! EEU‘W 1,155,853,221.18 4,045,486.26 0.35
Within 1 year
1-2 4 12,645,184.20 1,216,466.73 9.62
1 to 2 years
G
1,168,498,405.38 5,261,952.99 —

Total

(3) JEWCIRFKA R i Iol e

[E] ) SRR I Y8 5 5 0 re

garding accounts receivable

(3) Provision for bad debt accrued, recovered or reversed this year

KRIEBE SR
Changes in the year
FAIRAR SN B ARG
g )] Balance as at the i ] Balance as at
Item beginning of the =g ] S e Written HAh the end of the
year Accrued Recovered or back or Others year
reversed X
written
off
HIHFHE
Individual 16,915,061.23 168,580.38 | 1,101,276.74 | 26,630.43 15,955,734.44
provision
IRESAH S
Ageing 4,257,774.84 | 1,004,178.15 5,261,952.99
portfolio
&5t
Total 21,172,836.07 | 1,172,758.53 | 1,101,276.74 | 26,630.43 21,217,687.43

(4) AR5 8 1) BRSO

(4) Actually written-off accounts receivable this year

HH

B

Item

The amount of write-off

B PR ) R K

Actually written-off accounts receivable

26,630.43
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AR A% 5 1) B HR AR 2 /N K
ANAFAE B L) SRR AZ 5 o

(5) IR T5 B 4R ) A R B B AT 1

2 [ ESOIR A E D

AAEFE RR T B AR A R GREE AT 1L 44
JEUOHR BKOBE 4B & BE A N KRB
489,808,441.01 JG, A% IR KR
EREEAFTEI ] 41.35%, FHIER!
PR IR ME M SRR R R AR SR AN

B 1,714,329.53 TG

4. WG IR &

(1) JEWCHIHR & 7

SPIN

2024 FEERE
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The written-off accounts receivable this year are small-amount
payment for goods, and there is no write-off of important

accounts receivable.

(5) Details of top five balances of trade receivables classified by
borrowers as at the end of the year

In the year, the sum of accounts receivable of five borrowers with
the largest closing balance of accounts receivable was
RMB489,808,441.01, 41.35% of the total closing balance of
accounts receivable. Accordingly, the bad debt provisions set
aside had a total closing balance of RMB1,714,329.53.

4.Accounts receivable financing

(1) Classification and presentation of financing receivables

IEH AR FEHIERE

Item Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
LH 4= % 4N PR BE
SRATACSLRESE 57,615,292.39
Bank acceptance bills
£

57,615,292.39
Total
5. AR 5. Prepayments

(1) TEAFRIAMRES

(1) Aging of prepayments

FEREGHR RN RRER
IHH Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
Item &5 el (%) SH Bl (%)
Amount Proportion(%) Amount Proportion(%)

! EU‘W 526,522,608.06 99.85 382,143,556.42 99.78
Within 1 year
1-2 4 275,585.49 0.05 681,258.81 0.18
1 to 2 years
2-3 4 434,049.88 0.08 119,020.35 0.03
2 to 3 years
3 FLLE 112,257.58 0.02 4,860.11 0.01
More than 3 years
a3t
Total 527,344,501.01 100.00 382,948,695.69 100.00

(2) HETAN B B dE B0 4F R R AR A

(2) Details of top five balances of prepayments classified by
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FARITRAT RS

AREFETEAS B G B AR S K R AR AT 1L
ZTEAT ERTEME 4R & RE A N R
213,184,623.14 7T, fLTAfIEKIEMER

BREA G RTEI LE B 40.43%.
6. S0 A WK

payees as at the end of the year

prepayments.

6.0Other receivables

largest closing balance of prepayments
RMB213,184,623.14, 40.43% of the total closing balance of

In the year, the sum of prepayments from five companies with the

by payee was

HH AR Balance asﬂjtjgt]ffﬁ inning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year
JESCRIE
Interests receivable
JREUS IR
Dividend receivable
+ &
HARIELGK 12,297,041.51 12,075,916.66
Other receivables
A5t
12,297,041.51 12,075,916.66
Total
6.1 HoAth W K 6.1 Other receivables
(1) HoAth ESCGR R IE 1 48 (1) Classification of other receivables by nature
IR SRR ARER EA R AR AR
Book balance as at the end of the | Book balance as at the beginning
Nature of amounts
year of the year
296 A
%@ﬁ 10,704,937.80 10,559,202.00
Deposit
S 2w
TEACK 1,245,524.91 1,239,324.91
Current accounts
I\
fii il <2 1,178,368.53 1,109,179.48
Reserve
HoAth
N 898.20 898.20
Others
aat
13,129,729.44 12,908,604.59
Total
T SEARVER
2 . 2 )
Less: Provision for bad debt 832,687.93 832,687.93
ki 12,297,041.51 12,075,916.66

Net amount
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Rhire AR Balance as aﬁﬂﬁfffinning of the

Age Balance as at the end of the year year
! EU‘W 2,010,316.33 2,271,597.42
Within 1 year
12 4 1,191,417.94 339,326.00
1 to 2 years
234 6.350.00 963,849.72
2 to 3 years
3 fELLL 9,921,645.17 9,333,831.45
More than 3 years
L

13,129,729.44 12,908,604.59

Total

(3) HoAty EWSCH H BEAR T $2 07 % 70

(3) Other receivables are classified and presented according to the

VPN accrual method of bad debt.
FEREGBH
Balance as at the end of the year
BRI 4H BEERYEM
Book balance Provision for bad debt
& S
Classification RREEE
= o
&5 BB (%) &0 EH%H:M ( 0.) Book value
Provision ratio
Amount Percentage (%) Amount
(%)
P BT AR YE A
Bad debt provision made on individual 1,240,223.11 9.45 832,687.93 67.14 407,535.18
basis
A G EHE SRR
Bad debt provision made on a collective | 11,889,506.33 90.55 11,889,506.33
basis
Hrh, i aH A
A TE&ELI%,\E o 11,889,506.33 90.55 11,889,506.33
Incl: low-risk portfolio
IREC A&
Aging portfolio
a3t
13,129,729.44 100.00 832,687.93 — 12,297,041.51
Total
(%) (continued)
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FEHIRER

Balance as at the beginning of the year

HRTH SR 5R BT
231l Book balance Provision for bad debt
Classification
. HRTEEE
o RHRELHT (%) Book value
&5 BB (%) &8 . .
Provision ratio
Amount Percentage (%) Amount
(%)
2 IR IR UE A
Bad debt provision made on individual 1,240,223.11 9.61 832,687.93 67.14 407,535.18
basis
A A AT IR e A
Bad debt provision made on a 11,668,381.48 90.39 11,668,381.48
collective basis
. o]

EEP ﬁEwE”E o 11,668,381.48 90.39 11,668,381.48
Incl: low-risk portfolio

HRESAH A

Aging portfolio
ol
Total 12,908,604.59 100.00 832,687.93 — 12,075,916.66

1) SR IS MR e

1) Provision for bad debts for other receivables made individually

FEHIRE

Balance as at the beginnin SRS
g g Balance as at the end of the year
of the year
R FHR
Name ¥ ¥ o .
mEgE | oot | ey | EREE 0 e
Book balance Provision Book balance Provision for Accrual Accrual reason
for bad debt bad debt proportion
(%)
TR B
N . et
Bl 7 4 40 AR G
B RAF IERCHS G/ S EZ
Hunan The payment for
. 698,143.66 698,143.66 698,143.66 698,143.66 100.00 goods of such
Pharmaceutical customer is
Company Limited of
TUS Guhan Group delayed and there
are many
lawsuits
THRAET 0 R
. It is estimated
{EE%E?E 523,181.25 115,646.07 523,181.25 115,646.07 22.10 that such amount
Yin Lihua cannot be
recovered
THAET 0 R
A It is estimated
) 18,898.20 18,898.20 18,898.20 18,898.20 100.00 that such amount
Others
cannot be
recovered
5t
Total 1,240,223.11 832,687.93 1,240,223.11 832,687.93 — —

-170-



2) FoAth MISUER 4% HE U P A% —

FRAB R T SRR K v 25

2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT

2) Accrual of provision for bad debt according to the general

model of expected credit loss regarding other receivables

BRIREAS

Provision for bad debt

BREE
First stage

o124

Second stage

B=PREER
Third stage

ARk 12 fE A
fERA%
12-month expected
credit loss

BRSNS HE
ROERBAEAS FEE)
Lifetime expected
credit loss (not credit-
impaired)

REFEENERE
KEHFLEERRE)
Lifetime expected credit
loss (credit-impaired)

Pas—s
]

Total

2024 E 1 A 1 HERHE
Balance on 1 January 2024

832,687.93

832,687.93

202441 A1 H
A JEE AL R T R AR AR A4

Book balance of other receivables

on 1 January 2024 in the year

—IENER RSB

--Transfer to the second stage

TN =PSB
-- Transfer to the third stage

- [ 5 P B

-- Reversed to the second stage

- Al 5 RS B

-- Reversed to the first stage

AREEEHE

Accrued for the year

47,563.90

47,563.90

A [n]

Reversed in the year

A

Written off in the year

AR S

Cancelled in the year

47,563.90

47,563.90

HoAths#En
Other changes

2024 4 12 A 31 H&%E
Balance on 31 December 2024

832,687.93

832,687.93
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(4) At JEUCHKAFEHR . Ui 8k

(4) Provisions for bad debt accrued, recovered or reversed this

it [m] 1 3 R B 1R L year regarding other receivables
R EBEH

55 B é:s?mﬁ@gﬁ ¢ Changes in the year Bﬂlﬁ{ﬁ%ﬁ .

alance as a - - alance as a
Item the beginning =g e S ] ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&% HAh the end of the

of the year Accrued Recovered | Written back Others year

or reversed | or written off
FIHG
Individual 832,687.93 47,563.90 47,563.90 832,687.93
provision
IREG A A
Ageing
portfolio
At
832,687.93 47,563.90 47,563.90 832,687.93
Total
(5) ARG R B R AZ S I HoAh B ik (5) Actually written-off other receivables this year
THH BisH&HR
Item Write-off amount

gy [ ko Al vt e
BRSNS A K 1756390

Actually written-off other receivables

A EF A% S 11 At AR 2 A /N EER
I, AAEAE B HAb ECR A% -
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The written-off other receivables this year are small-amount
money and there is no write-off of important other receivables.
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(6) ¥R FI7 B F R EREERT o (6) Top 5 other receivables based on balances at the end of the
24 T H A SRR WL year by debtors
i Fe At EGR AR R N
L — BIAAMILG | ok
Bhr g & Balance as at R (%) Balance of
Nat
Company name ature the end of the Age Percentage provision for bad
of of total year-end
year debts at the end of
amounts balances of other the year
receivables (%0)
BRI 4 B A IR A . 34EDLE
Zhuhai Jinming Pharmaceutical DeuT);i ¢ 5,600,000.00 More than 3 42.65
Co., Ltd P years
AR i B T .
INF 2y
&~ . _ RS 1 050,00000 | More than 3 8.00
Taiji Group Chongqing Fuling Deposit ears
Pharmaceutical Factory Co., Ltd y
LA R T A N 34D
Fujian Nan'an Lianhua Peak D eut)éit 1,000,000.00 More than 3 7.62
Pharmaceutical Factory P years
RS v A ) e B S IR 1-24F, 3 4F
bl R b
Enlightenment Guhan Group Depgsit 698,143.66 1 to 2 years, 5.32 698,143.66
Hunan Pharmaceutical Co., More than 3
LTD years
%J‘[‘]%E@ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁa {%%f&\ 1-2 QE
Guangzhou Longzehui Property D\euzéit 644,800.00 110 2 vears 4.91
Management Co., LTD P y
a3
— 8,992,943.66 — 68.50 698,143.66
Total

(7) ALEMAERL WA K EEPE
SRRy SEN VTGN E /O

TR

(1) fFENH

(7) The Group has no money presented in other receivables
due to the centralized capital management this year.

7. Inventories

(1) Classification of inventories

FERGH EYIREH
Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
THH R B R
Item BRI BRBH Provision for HRTHEE HRTH SR ER Provision for BRI EIE
Book balance inventory Book value Book balance inventory Book value
impairment impairment
JREAF T i
Goods in 595,818,912.38 3,887,158.36 591,931,754.02 719,424,210.78 4,361,225.47 715,062,985.31
stock
i L g
R 63,979,337.02 63,979,337.02 60,778,649.85 60,778,649.85
Goods sold
aat
Total 659,798,249.40 3,887,158.36 655,911,091.04 780,202,860.63 4,361,225.47 775,841,635.16
ota
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(2) fF BB e

(2) Provision for inventory impairment

AREEHE N AR
FHIRREH Addition for the year Reduction for the year FARGBH
EH Balance as at " Balance as at
Item the beginning =R HAh %Ej‘ﬁiﬁﬁ HAh the end of the
of the year Accrued Others wg‘t]f:lsleba(c)f( Others year
2o
@ﬁﬁﬁ.m 4,361,225.47 3,887,158.36 4,361,225.47 3,887,158.36
Goods in stock
L
"l“jof:l 4,361,225.47 3,887,158.36 4,361,225.47 3,887,158.36

(3) A7 B FERERE AW

AR TE DL

(3) The Group’s year-end balance of stocks does not include

capitalization of borrowing costs.

8. H AR E) & 2 8. Other current assets
HH ARG Balance asﬂjj&)gl%ﬁﬁe inning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year & g
the year
5 it TE R KE
PSR IR LA . 42,707,825.09 41,080,324.46
Input tax to be credited
TAAZ GRS
Prepaid Value Added Tax 1,836,608.55
/== -
(KL 322,084.28 504,269.26
Deferred expenses
£t
44,866,517.92 41,584,593.72
Total
9. FHTEEE 9. Fixed assets
S FARERIE Book vaﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ{%ﬂnin of
Item Book value at the end of the year g g
the year
2 YR
EQIEXE 278,271,752.17 294.721,220.12
Fixed assets
R TR
Liquidation of fixed assets
3t
278,271,752.17 294,721,220.12
Total

9.1 [l 2 & &

(1) [l & E R
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HH

Item

BREEFN

Buildings and
structures

AR

Machinery and equipment

HMRAE
Transportation
facilities

Mo
Office
equipment

L
Total

— MR SRR

1. Original book value

LAEAIER AR
1.Balance as at the beginning of
the year

298,210,708.73

70,775,011.11

15,893,764.66

10,284,589.12

395,164,073.62

2 AR NG
2. Addition for the year

292,477.87

1,268,569.14

956,649.14

2,517,696.15

(1 HHE
(1) Purchase

292,477.87

1,268,569.14

956,649.14

2,517,696.15

3AGER D AR

3. Reduction for the year

374,563.84

895,130.45

123,671.06

1,393,365.35

(1) g BB

(1) Disposal or retirement

374,563.84

895,130.45

123,671.06

1,393,365.35

(2) WS B3 P
(2) Transfer to investment real
estate

4EHH

4.Reclassification

-947,168.18

947,168.18

5 AR ERER
5.Balance as at the end of the
year

298,210,708.73

69,745,756.96

17,214,371.53

11,117,567.20

396,288,404.42

. HEHE
1I. Accumulated
depreciation

LAEIERAR
1.Balance as at the beginning of
the year

50,128,496.40

31,320,080.32

9,544,090.92

9,450,185.86

100,442,853.50

2 AR NG A
2. Addition for the year

9,507,369.84

6,557,219.69

2,019,439.68

607,427.19

18,691,456.40

(1) #Hg
(1) Accrue

9,507,369.84

6,557,219.69

2,019,439.68

607,427.19

18,691,456.40

3 AR AR

3. Reduction for the year

207,385.78

786,600.81

123,671.06

1,117,657.65

(1) i B e

(1) Disposal or retirement

207,385.78

786,600.81

123,671.06

1,117,657.65

(2) PSR E D o
(2)Transfer to investment
property

4. HPH

4 Reclassification

22,652.47

-22,652.47

SAFAREREH
5.Balance as at the end of the
year

59,658,518.71

37,647,261.76

10,776,929.79

9,933,941.99

118,016,652.25

= UREMER

III. Impairment provision

LAEIERER
1.Balance as at the beginning of
the year

2 ARG NG
2. Addition for the year

AR G

3. Reduction for the year

AERERER
4.Balance as at the end of the
year

M. MR EE
IV . Book value

AR
1.Book value at the end of the
year

238,552,190.02

32,098,495.20

6,437,441.74

1,183,625.21

278,271,752.17

2R
2.Book value at the beginning
of the year

248,082,212.33

39,454,930.79

6,349,673.74

834,403.26

294,721,220.12

ab: [ € B ARG DR AR L

15,

Note: For the fixed assets mortgage, see Note V. 15.
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(2) AEFARGFEAETEEENEE (2) The Group has no fixed assets that are temporarily idle.
B

(3) REMHALEEIBALZHEM (3) The Group has no fixed assets leased out through operating
H 1) ] 5 B E leases.

(4) KRpZEEBENEEE E (4) Fixed assets without property right certificate

HE IRHEEE RIBREERSEE
Item Carrying amount Reasons for uncompleted property title certificates
B A AT A MRS T, JA2025% 1 A 24 FEASAH B EERERE
Guangdong charmacy Company 28,090,340.36 During the process of handling the certificate, the relevant property rights certificate
Office Building was obtained on 24 January 2025.

10 ¢ FHHER &= 10. Right-of-use assets

(1) fFHREE EHR (1) Right-of-use assets

HHE FERERRY A7

Item Buildings and structures Total

= SR R AE
L. Original book value
LAEVIER R
1.Balance as at the beginning of the year
2 A I
2. Addition for the year
1 A
(1) New lease
3 A SR
3.Reduction for the year
(1 JiEH
(1) Disposal
(2) FEEE
(2)Leasing change
4 SRR
4.Balance as at the end of the year
—. AR
1. Accumulated depreciation
LAEHIEREH
1.Balance as at the beginning of the year
2 ASER N 65
2. Addition for the year
() 7HE
(1) Accrued
3R
3.Reduction for the year
) EHE
(1) Disposal
4 SRR
4.Balance as at the end of the year
= {EEA
I1I. Impairment provision
LRI ER R
1.Balance as at the beginning of the year
2 AR N6 4R
2. Addition for the year
3RS S H
3. Reduction for the year
4R
4.Balance as at the end of the year

Y. HRTEE
IV. Book value

LAERIRTERE

1.Book value at the end of the year

2RI R

2.Book value at the beginning of the year

51,839,723.00 51,839,723.00

20,715,481.20 20,715,481.20

20,715,481.20 20,715,481.20

11,031,889.46 11,031,889.46

11,031,889.46 11,031,889.46

61,523,314.74 61,523,314.74

18,013,307.08 18,013,307.08

9,246,985.30 9,246,985.30

9,246,985.30 9,246,985.30

5,067,004.66 5,067,004.66

5,067,004.66 5,067,004.66

22,193,287.72 22,193,287.72

39,330,027.02 39,330,027.02

33,826,415.92 33,826,415.92
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nEREE 11. Intangible assets

(1) fmJE & WA (1) Details of intangible assets

HE i fE R RHEASEAE BEFER CE

Item Land use rights Computer software Customer resources Total

— MR R AE

1. Original book value

LAY R
1.Balance as at the beginning of the 83,404,212.62 18,914,678.89 2,697,830.16 105,016,721.67
year

2 AR NG
2. Addition for the year

(DIEE
(1) Purchase

3R W

3. Reduction for the year

(1) B B o

(1) Dispose of or scrap

4 AR EREH

4 Balance as at the end of the year 83,404,212.62 18,914,678.89 2,697,830.16 105,016,721.67

I g

1I. Accumulated amortization

LAEIERAR
1.Balance as at the beginning of the 14,422,999.63 13,027,718.10 843,194.16 28,293,911.89
year

2 ARG NG AR

2. Addition for the year 1,542,843.14 2,417,481.61 269,783.01 4,230,107.76

(1 FHE

(1) Accrued 1,542,843.14 2,417,481.61 269,783.01 4,230,107.76

AR G

3. Reduction for the year

(1) B B

(1) Dispose of or scrap

4R

4 Balance as at the end of the year 15,965,842.77 15,445,199.71 1,112,977.17 32,524,019.65

= UREMER

III. Impairment provision

LAEHIERER
1.Balance as at the beginning of the
year

2 A N4
2. Addition for the year

SRR G

3. Reduction for the year

4 EREREH

4.Balance as at the end of the year

MU, HRMEE
IV. Book value

LEERIRI A

1.Book value at the end of the year 67,438,369.85 3,469,479.18 1,584,852.99 72,492,702.02

2R
2.Book value at the beginning of the 68,981,212.99 5,886,960.79 1,854,636.00 76,722,809.78

year

Rl BZE 2024 F 12 H 31 H, A4 Note 1: As at 31 December 2024, no intangible asset arose
B R AFAE NI ST B T . through the internal research and development of the Group.
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BE 2. ST E SR L RLB R L Note 2: For the pledge of intangible assets, please refer to Note
15, V. 15.
(2) NS [ A 4 oK 4 R 22 o WE 5% (2) At the end of the current year, there are no land use rights for
1) At A HE which the property rights certificates have not been completed in
the Group.
12.558 12. Goodwill

(1) A EE

(1) Original value of goodwill

AR A
N FHIRH Addition for the period Reductlo.n for the EAREH
) alance as at the alance as a
LiEia g Ko es Bal t th period Bal t
Name of the investee beginning of the Moe ey A o B o the end of the
year As a result of business . year
s Others | Disposal | Others
combination
PRI AT
Zhuhai Charmacy 4,567,297.19 4,567,297.19
Company
JEE M B2 2 ]
Guangzhou Charmacy 26,328.12 26,328.12
Company
BN AR AF
Huizhou Charmacy 2,896,416.16 2,896,416.16
Company
a3t
Total 7,490,041.47 7,490,041.47
(2) PR Ve 2) Provision for impairment of goodwill
p g
SN S
FAIERER Addition for the Addition for the FAREBH
BB AR Balance as at the period period Balance as at
Name of the investee beginning of the ~ the end of the
Vo e | St | O EE | St vear
Accrued Others Disposal Others
BRI A 7
Zhuhai Charmacy Company 1,465,937.31 1,465,937.31
JEH 1158 24 7]
Guangzhou Charmacy 26,328.12 26,328.12
Company
BN RIS A
Huizhou Charmacy
Company
aat
Total 1,465,937.31 26,328.12 1,492,265.43
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(3) Relevant information about asset group or asset group

(RIAH RS B portfolio of goodwill
AL
pimams | FER
- wrgw | A
Py P & A AR A R R R K 8 Busi Consistent
Name Composition of Asset Group or Portfolio and Basis usiness with the
Segment Previous
and Basis
Year or
not
AT 2017 YRR AISE A 7 JRHE, (R R 7 BRI A1) 35 2 7 o
T NTE A F IS FL A o Y AL R B A, B | TSR
PRBAIEAT | MR A M Phamaceutical |
Zhuhai Charmacy | The Company acquired the equities of Zhuhai Charmacy Company in 2017.
Company The cash inflow of Zhuhai Charmacy Company is basically independent of | Distribution Yes
the cash inflow due to other assets or asset group. Therefore, it is affirmed
as an asset group. Sector
AT 2017 USRI AISE A 7 JRCHE, [ L7 38 M A1) 38 2 W g —
e an | ETBTNIEA LR B A B, R | TSR
B £l 7 AR L
Guangzhou i = Z\% —E&EH. Pharmaceutical B
Charmacy The Company acquired the equities of Guangzhou Charmacy Company in
Company 2017. The cash inflow of Guangzhou Charmacy Company is basically | Distribution Yes
independent of the cash inflow due to other assets or asset group. Therefore,
it is affirmed as an asset group. Sector
AT 2000 FUIBEMABRATIE, AGORENARATE | oo
2 A AR BRI N A B S A 3 2 B A AL R EO B RN I
HINBIEAF iy,
Huizhou lH:H%‘ FLA B ﬁj ,f ﬁ E:—: mE. o Pharmaceutical 7%
The Company acquired the equities of Huizhou Charmacy Company in
Charmacy 1 . N . o
Company 2020. The cash inflow of Huizhou Charmacy Company is basically Distribution Yes
independent of the cash inflow due to other assets or asset group. Therefore, Secto
ector

it is affirmed as an asset group.
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(4) AAC Il g B P L 5 5 3%

(4) Specific determination method of recoverable amount

TR TR B B 2 7R S ) B R B SR 2
TRESE | WESE | R | Tpmmmey | WEEEE | R2E KK
IHH IR R . Determination Key Determination
ecoverable | Impairment | Year of | Key Parameters of . .
Item Book Value A . . . Basis of Key [Parameters| Basis of Key
mount Amount |Prediction| Prediction Period
Period Parameters of | of Stable Parameters of
Prediction Period | Period Stable Period
N A T [ Al 1
ST IKIEFTHE A7 551 R
‘ R 7.57%, i PEHREMNER ) ) EEE%*«R wRe
ﬁfﬁﬁU%/L\\ ] FIH 2 8.15% IR %:0% Predicﬁtjed data basis
Zhuhai 54 |During the prediction [Comparable .
4,627,107.57 5,260,000.00 g . Income of management
Charmacy 5 years |period, the average estimated expected rowth rate:laver and
Company income growth rate is  |[ROI of business (%% 'CO}I’ISi deration of
7.57%, the discount rate|asset group of the actual completion
is 8.15%. Company ate P
- - . 2 TR
BRI TR ek ol L A 7 55 ;ﬁii;ﬁji‘%
) RHA 6.80%, 1B PRBEAMNIEE e ) {%’;gm; mRPEe
JE MBI AT FH 24 8.01% Vel R 2:0% Iiredicr?eiihdata basis
Guangzhou 460491971 426000000 2632812 >'T  During the prediction  Comparable Income  lof management
Charmacy 5 years |period, the average estimated expected rowth rate:layer and
Company income growth rate is  [ROI of business (%% 'co};si deration of
6.80%, the discount rate|asset group of the actual completion
is 8.01%. Company ate P
L - . e 2 ) TR
PRI TR (el T e 7 (55 REea
A 8.55%, FTH EBEEANE ) g e
%Jjﬂ RIS AT R 2y 8.15% R 2:0% Predithjed data basis
Huizhou 54F During the prediction  [Comparable .
3,930,064.27 4,110,000.00] . . Income lof management
Charmacy 5 years |period, the average estimated expected rowth rate:layer and
Company income growth rate is  [ROI of business g% 'co};si deration of
8.55%, the discount rate|asset group of the actual completion
is 8.15%. Company ate P
&t
13,162,091.55 13,630,000.00 26,328.12 — — — —
Total

FE: AHE]A 2017 4F 2 H. 2017 4 6
H. 2020 4 7 H 3 WS BRI B9 2
FlL O BEINBISEAT . EMAISEA T
JRERE, NIRRT N 456.73 8T
AN 2.63 Bon. N FE 289.64 # T

NN

e T AE 1R 8 A B T

WIUE R R — 3. AEE RS
FAEEEAT T JRAE IR,
FE RN 8156 mAFAE N IR 26,328.12

TCIRAE «
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Note: The Company acquired Zhuhai Charmacy Company,

Guangzhou Charmacy Company and Huizhou Charmacy
Company in February 2017, June 2017 and July 2020
respectively, resulting in a goodwill of RMB4.5673 million,
RMBO0.0263 million and RMB2.8964 million. The asset group a
goodwill belongs to is the same with that at initial recognition of

the goodwill. At the end of the year, the Group conducted an

impairment test on goodwill.

Upon

testing,

Guangzhou

Charmacy Company had an impairment loss of RMB 26,328.12

during the current year.
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. EHFEER 13. Long-term expenses to be amortized
3 . V- S
. . FHIRE ALERIT LR A4 oAb FERBRE
alance as at . oo Other Balance as at
s Addition for Amortization .
Item the beginning of reduction for the end of the
the year for the year
the year the year year
KizEM
. 16,978,756.37 10,124,767.59 3,853,602.20 335,932.42 22,913,989.34
Renovation costs
a4t
Total 16,978,756.37 10,124,767.59 3,853,602.20 335,932.42 22,913,989.34

4IRFEFTBMEEMIBEFRBRA

"

(1) REHREHEIE TSI A 2

liabilities

(1) Deferred income tax assets not offset

14. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax

FERBH FEAVIRHR
HE Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
Ltem EE ] BEFARE E AR S R BIEFHIRL
Deductible temporary Deferred income tax Deductible temporary Deferred income tax
differences assets differences assets
4 AR ML A
Provision for asset 25,957,098.72 6,489,274.69 26,379,509.63 6,594,877.41
Impairment
HERE 43,951,33237 |  10,987.833.10 36,977,501.16 9,244,375.29
Lease liabilities
P
’lc‘lof:l 69,908,431.09 17,477,107.79 63,357,010.79 15,839,252.70

(2) RAEHCH NEIE PTG A 15

(2) Deferred income tax liabilities not offset

FEARGBREH FEHIRE
HE Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
Ttem BAREREER | BEFARAR | NOREREEE | BERARAR
Taxable temporary Deferred income Taxable temporary Deferred income
differences tax liabilities differences tax liabilities
REH N B IE
Unrealized internal sales gains 1,511,579.90 377,894.98 2,403,606.05 600,901.51
and losses
amaE 39,330,027.02 | 9,832,506.76 33,826,415.92 8,456,603.99
Right-of-use assets
A
I"l?ofj;l 40,841,606.92 10,210,401.74 36,230,021.97 9,057,505.50
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(3) DAHREHAR 3 B 7 X B SE T 75

(3) Deferred income tax assets or liabilities presented by net

MU e Bl A amount after offsetting
s m | BEBREE
RSN 1R B RE T8 s 74 s 4
. , HRSHRIRIE TR
EFAREEN  REERARE | LT LA | e :
&5E & E B A B EYIRR
AR EI S ARERR Year-beginning #
Year- Mutuall - i
HH ear-end Mutually Year-end Mutually Offset Year-beginning
Offset Amount of Balance of
Item D Amount of Balance of Deferred
eferred Income | Deferred Income
Deferred Income Tax Assets
Tax Assets and Tax Assets or ey eres
e 2 erels e 3 erel. Income Tax or Liabilities after
Liabilities Liabilities after .
Offsettin Assets and Offsetting
8 Liabilities
1B ZE AT A3 A&
Deferred income tax 9,832,506.76 7,644,601.03 8,456,603.99 7,382,648.71
assets
TR AE i35 AR
Deferred income tax 9,832,506.76 377,894.98 8,456,603.99 600,901.51
liabilities

(4) RHEBIEIE TS E 7 WA

(4) Breakdown of unrecognised deferred income tax assets

S AR Balance asﬂ;j&)tjffiﬁeginning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
AR AT PR 2 52
Deductible temporary differences
EHEETD.ES}E 9,932,754.88 11,270,325.55
Deductible losses
a3t
9,932,754.88 11,270,325.55

Total
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(5) Deductible losses of unrecognised deferred income tax assets

will become due in the following years

F4 FEREH A& iRt
Year Year-end amount Year-beginning amount | Additional information
2024 4
2004 567,073.74
2025 4F
2025 1,175,745.08 1,946,242.01
2026 4F
2026 4,143,605.02 4,143,605.02
2027 4F
2027 4,613,404.78 4,613,404.78
2028 4
2028
PN
Gl 9,932,754.88 11,270,325.55 —
Total
155776 RE SR A5 FF B 52 B BR 1l (1 38 15. Assets with restricted ownership and rights of use
FR
HH At the end of the year
Item HR T AR AR SR T (E R ZRER ZREN
Book balance Book value Restricted type | Restricted situation
typ
SRAT 7K ST SRR E
e M VR S L 4>
oAtz 391,356,488.13 | 391,356,488.13 R o
Monetary funds Margin Bank acceptance
bills deposits
JEEW 24 ZEL SREM
. . 5,590,000.00 5,570,435.00 ) . )
Bills receivables Pledge Bill pledge
2 YR
Eé% 269,997,536.20 211,404,611.71 iR sk
Fixed assets Mortgage Mortgage
ElS A
"“ﬁ/é.% 83,404,212.62 66,875,989.85 iR sk
Intangible assets Mortgage Mortgage
PN
il 750,348,236.95 675,207,524.69 — —
Total
(&) (continued)

-183-



2/ BEWMERGSRZLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

F4
JEH At the beginning of the year
Item B TH AR AR SRR ZERIRAY ZIRENR
Book balance Book value Restricted type | Restricted situation
HRAT 7K S M SR ORE
AN e 2 [T 29% A
1o MR T A 27¢ A & R IRE S
oliibats 521,268,411.47 521,268,411.47 %”*“j.i Bank acceptance
Monetary funds Margin . .
bills deposits,
borrowing deposits
TS S 4% A SRR
o . 4 . 100. .
Bills receivables 3,400,000.00 3,388,100.00 Pledge Bill pledge
1k
175 . 350,000,000.00 350,000,000.00 AT AT
Inventories Mortgage Mortgage
e YR
Eé% 276,281,948.08 222,218,665.07 A A
Fixed assets Mortgage Mortgage
BILE
““ﬁ/é}% 83,404,212.62 68,981,212.99 ek i
Intangible assets Mortgage Mortgage
P
Gl 1,234,354,572.17 | 1,165,856,389.53 — —
Total
16. 55358 = 16. Short-term borrowings
(1) LM o 4 (1) Types of borrowings
iR R R
. Balance as at the beginning of
Types of borrowings Balance as at the end of the year
the year
2y 3
PRt ek 462,386,002.57 366,367,768.45

Guaranteed borrowings

LN

Secured borrowings

107,753,633.27

126,351,584.99

B AE K
Pledged borrowings

66,434,907.25

55,274,760.02

TS ZR R R B Ak

Borrowings from discounted bills 175,000,000.00 40,000,000.00
receivables
a3t

811,574,543.09 587,994,113.46
Total

(2) A MERRAFAE DR

TR R R

-184-

(2) The Group had no overdue short-term borrowings at the end

of the year.
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17. & 88 17.Bills payables
SRR AR Balance asﬁjj‘)tjl%iﬁeginning of
Classification of bills Balance as at the end of the year the year
S 4= % 4 BE B
ATRRESR 826,507,576.48 936,487,754.65
Bank acceptance bills
A
sl 826,507,576.48 936,487,754.65
Total

ab 1o FEORME BRSO B AT R
1%

Af 20 A ERFERIEA R ER
BEIITE 1 FEZ N

18.JEATHERK

Note 1: At the end of the year, there are no due and unpaid bills

payable.

Note 2: As at the end of the year, the age of the aforementioned

bills payables of the Group was within 1 year.

18. Trade payables

(1) AR IIR (1) Trade payables

o AR Balance asﬂj?tjﬁ ﬁﬁe inning of

Item Balance as at the end of the year g g

the year
po ;jp\
S 386,978,214.29 656,543,625.36
Loans
=L Exe
uxﬁ%mk 847,499.25 2,529,940.99
Equipment costs
ot
387,825,713.54 659,073,566.35

Total

(2) MKReHE 1 o Blad S ) E 6
AR

(2) Significant trade payable with an aging exceeding 1 year or

overdue

B fr 7R

company name

FEREGH

Balance as at the end of the year

R E B R
Reason for non-repayment
or transfer

R = A IR A

TR AR A e (L JRE

Guangdong Sanzuniao 3,281,110.55 X .
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Not yet paid to the supplier
AT B A INF

e R S 4 B
uangdong Xiangxue 3,102,143.00 Not vet paid to fhe supplier

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. yetp upp

=

(==

Total 6,383,253.55
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(3) JEATHRFILIRE 517~ (3) Aging analysis of trade payables
2024912 H 31 H, EATERKIZE As at 31 December 2024, the age analysis of accounts payable by
Sy H IR ARES S0 ATt R transaction date is as follows:
A AR Balance asﬂjf)gl%iﬁe inning of
Age Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year
! EU‘W 374,742,200.33 657,001,244.78
Within 1 year
1-2 4 11,505,873.92 775,097.42
1 to 2 years
234 727,758.26 542,337.03
2 to 3 years
3 UL 849,881.03 754,887.12
More than 3 years
a3t
387,825,713.54 659,073,566.35
Total
194 FAE 19.Contract liabilities
(D) AFEAERENR (1) Situation of contract liabilities
“a AR Balance asﬂj?tjffﬁﬁe inning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year
- 2,102,373.45 19,490,768.05
Payment for goods
&t
2,102,373.45 19,490,768.05
Total
(2) AL B AR 4F B A IR 5% 68 2 L4 1) (2) The Group has no important contract liabilities whose account
HELGF AR, age exceeds 1 year this year.

(3) SBR[ A 4 i A P i (B {98 4E (3) The Group is free from any major change to book value this
R EE L year.
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(1) Classification of salaries payable to employees

- I8 AL Y R
Balance as at the Addition for the . Balance as at the end
Item .. Reduction for the year
beginning of the year year of the year
FL e . 9,688,286.53 83,960,379.30 87,334,559.17 6,314,106.66
Short-term remuneration
Bl AR AR R0 E S At 1
Post-employment benefits — 6,950,083.79 6,861,769.85 88,313.94
Defined contribution plan
RHEAAY 241,018.67 241,018.67
Termination benefits
—4E S AR AR A
Other benefits due within one year
a8t
Total 9,688,286.53 91,151,481.76 94,437,347.69 6,402,420.60
(2) % A5 T (2) Short-term remuneration
R I AR NN R
Balance as at the Addition for the . Balance as at the
Item P Reduction for the year
beginning of the year year end of the year

T&. 884, ARAIRHRS
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and
subsidies

9,628,200.55

71,240,941.60

74,618,567.32

6,250,574.83

AR 2

Staff welfare payments

5,912,656.34

5,912,656.34

At R

Social insurance premiums

2,703,434.52

2,703,434.52

Ferbe BRMEORER B S A ORE
Of which: medical insurance premium
and maternity insurance premium

2,602,262.47

2,602,262.47

T DR 2
Industrial injury insurance
premium

101,172.05

101,172.05

E PN

Housing provident fund

1,747,278.00

1,747,278.00

TEREMMTHERE
Labor union expenses and staff
education expenses

60,085.98

2,316,715.70

2,313,269.85

63,531.83

L 1 i Bk )

Short-term paid absences

FLHFRE > S5t i)
Short-term profit sharing program

oAt
Others

39,353.14

39,353.14

D
HA

Total

9,688,286.53

$3,960,379.30

87,334,559.17

6,314,106.66
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(3) e PeArt &

AR LI E 2 BB R L A AL
OB E. RS E], AR
T HWIBUR I T B E 7 R =5 A
WA B bikser B AL, AREEA
FRYEIE DA 58 . BRSO
Ji> SR AR IR N B 45 2 A e
Ao

AEBMAEE D FEE R K3
ORBE R B BT

(3) Defined contribution plan

The Group participated in social insurance plans operated by the
government authorities according to the regulations. Pursuant to
the plans, the Group made contributions to those plans in
compliance with the relevant provisions of local government
authorities. Apart from the aforesaid contributions, the Group
assumed no further payment obligations. The corresponding
expenses shall be credited to the profit or loss for the period or
the cost of related assets when incurred.

The Group’s contributions payable to pension insurance plan and
unemployment insurance plan for the year are respectively as
follows:

AR AN KERD (R
IHH Balance as at the e .
.. Addition for the Reduction for the Balance as at the
Item beginning of the
year year end of the year
year
FEARE LR
Basic pension 6,713,194.32 6,624,880.38 88,313.94
insurance
KR &
Unemployment 236,889.47 236,889.47
insurance
premium
£t
6,950,083.79 6,861,769.85 88,313.94
Total

FEL: AEE [ A4 JE ) 2 BT R E 4
17 51 8 45077 B A N IR 5 6,950,083.79
g6 (20234 : A X % 5,813,430.29
JG) o JR20244E12H31H, AL W
H N\ K#88,313.9470 (202341231
H: ANRH0.0070) M ESAT B H 2
T AR 1A ) 2R T A S AT, AR
JE A7 B F A SR AR S AT

FE2: FAHL E 20234 M 2024412 H 31
H b P B P 54, AR
EHERRET 8 IH R AR B R (g3
T 56 4 i JB AL 3 il B - 0 7
2 &) nIHEAER[H DL AR (1 kR
KF.
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Note 1: During the current year, the Group was required to
contribute RMB6,950,083.79 (2023: RMB5,813,430.29) to the
participating defined contribution plans. As of 31 December
2024, the Group had RMB88,313.94 ( 31 December 2023:
RMBO0.00) of contributions payable that became due but
remained unpaid during the reporting period. These outstanding
contributions were paid after the reporting period.

Note 2: For each of the fiscal years ended 31 December 2023 and
2024, the Group has no forfeited contribution (for employers on
behalf of employees who leave the plan before fully attributing
the contribution) under the defined contribution plan are available
to the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions
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21. BRI E 21. Tax payables
JAH AR Balance as aﬁfﬁ%egfinning of the
Item Balance as at the end of the year year
HE{EAR
VAT 49,454,819.87 41,701,596.25
AN R E
E%Fﬁﬁ& 11,724,073.22 12,851,950.68
Enterprise income tax
=i
{j.\}.aﬁ{;f& 195,291.58 106,083.69
Individual income tax
G R 32,984.59 30,259.82
Property taxes
FIAERL 820,266.02 1,047,505.30
Stamp duty
Bl T A R
Urban maintenance and 85,365.08 123,629.10
construction tax
2: S|
HA 61,103.78 88,353.96
Education surcharge
H
HLfR 1,050.00 1,050.00
Other tax
a3t
62,374,954.14 55,950,428.80
Total
22 oA AT =R 22. Other payables
HA AR Balance asqjt%)tjl%iﬁeginning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
JEATFE
Interest payables
JEAT A
Dividend payables
H iE A~f 2
JARIERT 5 681,544,720.76 341,051,900.01
Other payables
3t
681,544,720.76 341,051,900.01
Total
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22.1 HAh AT K 22.1. Other payables
(1) 4R IANE 21 7 HoAth R AT 3R (1) Classification of other payables by nature of payment
At R ERE
Balance as at the beginning of
Nature of payment Balance as at the end of the year
the year
S A 2
ERAE A 5K 520,000,000.00 238,000,000.00
Shareholder current accounts
JBERAE K
Shareholder borrowing 151,933,937.50 93,002,433.34
AN
it 3,943,009.00 4,343,009.00
Intermediary expenses
27¢ A
PRiti s 3,480,460.48 2,434,620.48
Margin
I8 5 . 486,832.67 1,330,778.53
Transportation costs
FoAt
1,700,481.11 1,941,058.66
Others
&3t
681,544,720.76 341,051,900.01
Total
(2) HRESHE 1 Biaa i ) B B (2) Important other payables whose account age exceeds 1 year
i AT K or overdue important other payables
A} ; B l%:l: N
B4 I REVES R
Cause for Failure of
Company Name Balance as at the end of the year
Repayment or Carry-over
4 X L ] I »%j: b
R T 55 A A A
] . 3,393,009.00 The settlement period is not met
Squire Sanders Law Firm yet
A
bl 3,393,009.00 —
Total
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23. Non-current liabilities due within one year

RH FARERER Balance asﬁjj‘)tjl%iﬁeginning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
. HA it AE ==
i N S HLET ,%_13 8,779,514.10 6,587,383.36
Lease liabilities due within one year
— RN B R K
Long-term borrowings due within 1,217,874.99
one year
a3t
9,997,389.09 6,587,383.36
Total

ab: AEMBEERBREHE FN
B DU RO AL B AR R R
IR, £ “—FNIRAEREI &

77 THH Rk

Note: The closing book value of the Group’s lease liabilities due
for settlement within one year from the balance sheet date is
reflected in the item “Non-current liabilities due within one year”.

24 AR ENAE 24. Other current liabilities
“a AR Balance asﬂjj&)gl%ﬁﬁeginning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
RPHE S TE Fi 45
273,329.94 2,533,799.78
The amount of tax to be reselled ’ T
At
273,329.94 2,533,799.78
Total
25. R &R 25.Long-term borrowings

(1) R

(1) Classification of long-term borrowings

e

Type of borrowings

FEREGH

Balance as at the end of the year

FHIRAR

Balance as at the beginning of

the year
7 gl
AL 13,800,000.00
Guaranteed loans
P
SE 13,800,000.00
Total
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Q)EME KB H 2 Hr (2) Maturity analysis of long-term borrowings is as follows

R

Type of borrowings

FREGH

Balance as at the end of the

FHIERHH

Balance as at the

year beginning of the year

IR 15,017,874.99
Guaranteed loans
il 15,017,874.99
Total

R R R TR 2R DA S R AR
The carrying amount of the above borrowmgs is due
for repayment in the following periods:
—HEN
Within one year 1,217,874.99
P AR DR A —4F,  (HAN I A
More than one year but not more than two years 1,200,000.00
after the balance sheet date
B BRR O RN, (HA I T
More than two years but not more than five years 12,600,000.00
after the balance sheet date
B B R AR I T
More than five years after the balance sheet date
B BN AGEIE T P RN 2RO
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under 1,217,874.99

current liabilities

AR B A fFIH N s skoR

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities

13,800,000.00
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26 E B 26. Lease liabilities
- G RS
Balance as at the end of the|Balance as at the beginning
Item
year of the year
A [t 2
BTk 48,431,420.90 41,798,576.02

Lease payment

AR i

Unrecognized financing expenses

4,480,088.53

4,821,074.86

BRF
Total

43,951,332.37

36,977,501.16

IR AR E AR 1 R B ZE R DL R
The book value of abovementioned lease liabilities|
should be repaid during the following period:

—HEN

Within one year

8,779,514.10

6,587,383.36

2 AR DR RS — 4R, (HAN I A
More than one year after the balance sheet date, but]
less than two years

9,565,762.82

6,255,560.92

B AR TR BB AR, (HAN I T4
More than two years after the balance sheet date, but]
less than five years

24,611,383.46

18,676,151.33

B BRR NS T

More than five years after the balance sheet date

994,671.99

5,458,405.55

W WENAMEIE TR —ENERHEE &5
=

KIH

Less: Lease liabilities due within one yean
presented in the current liabilities

8,779,514.10

6,587,383.36

FRBN AR T Il E A EKIE

Lease liabilities presented in the non-current 35,171,818.27 30,390,117.80
liabilities

ab: RENEEIET s —9 N BT Note: the lease liabilities due within one year presented in the
MEAEKIACE>EHE “—HENT| current liabilities have been reclassified into  “ non-current
WmAEmE A, 2 RARMESR. liabilities due within one year” . Refer to Note V.23.

23,
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27. A 27. Share capital
AFEEIER (+. -
SEXIEREE Increase/decrease in the year (+, -) fEREREE
FHH Balance as at | ZHTH KR | .. ARBEER Balance as at
Item the beginning | yssuance Al Shares FoAt /Mt the end of the
of the year of new Bonus transferred from | Others | Subtotal year
shares shares surplus reserve
sy 4B R
Total number of 108,000,000.00 108,000,000.00
shares
wat 108,000,000.00 108,000,000.00
Total T AARNe
28. & A ATE 28. Capital reserve
IR o
JHH Balance as at the jiﬁ%i@fm ZKQE@/ SRR
Ttem beginning of the Addition for Reduction for Balance as at the
g yeagr the year the year end of the year
A% w4
WAt . 278,001,901.04 278,001,901.04
Share premium
HABEARATH
Other capital 988,928.00 988,928.00
reserve
&5t
Total 278,990,829.04 278,990,829.04
29. &R AR 29. Surplus reserve
FARER i
YE 2>
JEH Balance as at the Zl.ijleiiﬁjm Zlﬁz.'zﬁ// AR
Ttem beginnine of the Addition for the Reduction for the Balance as at the
g yeagr year year end of the year
ERERERATE
Statutory surplus 29,661,138.05 1,482,044.69 31,143,182.74
reserve
ERERERATE
Arbitrary surplus
reserve
a3t
Total 29,661,138.05 1,482,044.69 31,143,182.74
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JHH

Item

AR

Amount for the year

RS

Amount for last year

AR BRI SRR R 23 BE A
Undistributed profit as at the end of the previous
year before adjustment

181,154,889.21

179,885,249.70

SRR RO A AT GRES+, SR
Total undistributed profit at the beginning of the
year after adjustment (increase +, decrease -)

Horre (RZEgat iR Ao BB R E 8 3
Ei

Including: Retrospective adjustment stipulated by
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
and related new regulations

o ARSI 3 BC A
Undistributed profit at the beginning of the year
after adjustment

181,154,889.21

179,885,249.70

TN AR R A T A 2 AR
Add: Net profit attributable to the owners of the
parent company for the year

53,284,091.69

51,344,725.69

W PRHGEE B AR ATE
Less: Appropriation of statutory surplus reserve

1,482,044.69

1,475,086.18

JEA i R

Dividends payable on ordinary shares(No®)

32,400,000.00

48,600,000.00

AR BB P 8 BRI
Dividends on ordinary shares converted to share
capital

AEEEEAR ORI

Balance at the end of the year

200,556,936.21

181,154,889.21

Al JATESRC SR B IR AL IRAS SR
I B R

(1) #%Z 2023 4F 12 A 31 H L4

RPETA 2023 455 H 31 HHABHM 2022
CERE I RIEAE KRR, BRI
FEIREI SN 045 70 (BHD
FR M ) LR B YR 2022 4K B
B, ARt R AR 4,860.00 & T

(2) #Z 2024 £ 12 H 31 HiL4EREF

RIS 2024 45 H 20 HHA BT 2023
EERCREE KSR, BAFIY
RERLIRFERE SN 0.30 6 (5D

Note: See below for details of dividends announced to distribute

and distributed and to be distributed in relevant periods:
(1) for the year ended 31 December 2023

As per the resolution adopted at the 2022 Annual General
Meeting which was held on 31 May 2023, your company
announced to distribute dividends for the year 2022 to your
shareholders at RMBO0.45 (tax inclusive) per share, totalling at
RMB48.60 million.

(2) For the year ended 31 December 2024

As per the resolution adopted at the 2023 Annual General
Meeting which was held on 20 May 2024, your company
announced to distribute dividends for the year 2023 to your
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R Y ) L RUE)R 2023 SE R
B, EEt AR 3,240.00 EJT.

3SLBERAN. BERA

(1) & FEWNAE ZE AL

shareholders at RMBO0.30 (tax inclusive) per share, totalling at

RMB32.40 million.

31. Operating revenue and operating cost

(1) Basic information on business revenue and business expenses

AR LB
IEH Amount for the year Amount for last year
Item [N 5% (SO 5%
Revenue Cost Revenue Cost
B¢ 37
L . 4,385,119,653.22 4,110,698,122.00 4,347,522,184.54 4,110,889,553.80
Principal businesses
HAh 2E7%
”ﬁﬁ%a’ﬁ. 50,341,021.63 56,111,293.54
Other businesses
a3t
Total 4,435,460,674.85 4,110,698,122.00 4,403,633,478.08 4,110,889,553.80

(2) &R ELERNRIE D

(2) Information on revenue generated from contracts

HRZE A PR AR
Contract classification Amount in current year Amount in prior year
GG ke
Types of products

Horpre ZEGLEH YN
Of which: Revenue from
pharmaceutical sales

4,385,119,653.22

4,347,522,184.54

Al AR B USCN
Revenue from consultancy
services

28,305,986.14

41,929,309.35

H=TrYrmN
Revenue from third-party
logistics

22,035,035.49

14,181,984.19

TR B 538

By region of operation

Horfrs 2w 5
Of which: South China

4,242,457,642.86

4,226,783,045.70

3 B [
East China

98,006,241.92

98,282,461.50

A 5

Other regions

94,996,790.07

78,567,970.88

BHEREN B

By sales channel

Hor: AN E
Of which: Offline sales

4,229,689,313.55

4,180,203,759.60

4 "
EJ:%% 205,771,361.30 223,429,718.48
Online sales

a3t

4,435,460,674.85 4,403,633,478.08
Total
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32. 584 KM 32. Taxes and surcharges
HH KRR EERAR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
R 3,201,166.86 3,163,751.37
Property tax
FIERL 4,474,631.33 3,746,902.05
Stamp duty
U TR A A R AL
Urban maintenance and construction 1,424,929.43 1,267,335.69
tax
= N
AR %Bﬁﬂﬂ 1,019,879.72 906,066.54
Education surcharge
LIAEAL 193,537.54 197,365.54
Tax on land use
ELAR
Vehicle and vessel tax 12,265.13 17.476.44
g {1 X
SR . 4,200.00 4,200.00
Environment protection tax
awt 10,330,610.01 9,303,097.63
Total e T
BHEEHA 33. Selling expenses
HH AE G EEEER
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
L7 o . 62,339,831.66 65,449,677.06
Staff remuneration
*ﬁa”ﬁﬁ.ﬁﬁ . 24,135,323.01 19,457,871.87
Depreciation and amortization
B 7 . 20,315,366.56 19,548,783.51
Transportation costs
2o e @ A
E{v}%m H . 6,081,801.54 11,517,936.17
Promotion and advertising expenses
A
B 5,711,925.81 5,333,274.77
Office expenses
N A=
%I%*Dﬁ H . 915,800.57 537,896.98
Business entertainment expenses
M
EMRE 453,471.45 342,153.07
Travelling expenses
oAt
490,817.27 279,496.17
Others
a3t
" 120,444,337.87 122,467,089.60
Total
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MEHEH 34. Management expenses
THH KEHAERR EEBAR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
Lo 28,811,650.10 24,621,554.28
Staff remuneration
B Y
il ‘.ﬁﬁ.ﬂ% o 10,973,728.65 9,254,939.63
Depreciation and amortization
e N\
s 7,242,474.32 7,327,562.50
Office expenses
23 /N 4
al TR 5 . . 3,174,377.13 3,400,888.44
Expenses on engaging agencies
) ﬁfﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ 850,000.00 850,000.00
—Audit service expenses
Poopn=]
fFRILR 3,673,141.61 2,258,248 32
Loss on inventory
A 3 7j/:|;
RBHRAR 126,522.52 115,218.86
Business entertainment expenses
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ 470,389.12 205,837.94
Travelling expenses
H
S 348,653.29 348,688.47
Others
a3t
54,820,936.74 47,532,938.44
Total
ISHABER 35. Finance costs
HH AREEFHAEHR EEHER
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
AR H

Interest expenses

60,651,514.02

40,790,342.89

Fofdn: SRATAVER S oA

Others: bank loans and others

58,839,107.09

39,646,148.30

M AR FALE #

AT 1,812,406.93 1,144,194.59
Interest expenses of lease liabilities
Wik S,
s %U'“‘W}} 3,981,988.45 4,301,317.10
Less: Interest income
hn: B SSHE R
- . 260,499.8 362,701.11
Add: Exchange gain or loss A499.87 7
s Atk
5,362,476.11 5,499,530.44
Add: Others T T
&
62,292,501.55 42,351,257.34
Total
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PE A FAt 2 B 2R

Sources of other income

AEEFHAERR

Amount for the year

RS

Amount for last year

ARAIARHIAE N e 45 0 45 ik i

Individual income tax fee refund 103,309.43 11,263.47
et 103,309.43 11,263.47
Total [ e
37HRBWER 37. Return on investment
JEH RAEFAEH AR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
= TA A ¢
fops matfa 100,000.00
Debt restructuring income
At 100,000.00
Total A
385 FHREIR R 38. Impairment loss of credit
JEH KB HEEARR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
FoAth BRI IR IR K
Loss of bad debts in other 47,563.90 -305,775.92
receivables
JES R OB HR IR L
Loss of bad debts in accounts 71,481.79 803,790.43
receivable
JEUS IS R AR
Loss of bad debts in bills 6,804.84 -5,960.17
receivable
=x-
125,850.53 492,054.34
Total
39. & AV EIE R 39. Impairment loss of assets
JHH AREFEHHR AR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
P e
ﬁ/g‘ﬂ%igjﬁ% . . 3,887,158.36 4,361,225.47
Loss on impairment of inventories
—/-:AE:%\ - =
IR 26,328.12
Goodwill impairment loss
a3t
" 3,913,486.48 4,361,225.47
Total
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W0.EERBEBER GRRL -] 5BE 40. Gains on disposal of assets (“-” for loss)
17D

EE AR TR LA AT AREIREE IR S HR
Ttem Amount for the | Amount for last | Amount charged to non-recurring
year year profit or loss for the year
IR BN b B ot
Gains on disposal of 307,774.55 47,339.87 307,774.55

noncurrent assets

Hodr: R A FEARFER
VBN A i B I
Of which: Gains on disposal of 307,774.55 47,339.87 307,774.55
non-current assets
that are not classified
as held for sale

I 5 % i W
Gains on disposal of 307,774.55 47,339.87 307,774.55
fixed assets

MV P i B AR A
Gain or loss on disposal
of intangible assets

a5t
307,774.55 47,339.87 307,774.55
Total
41. 835NN 41. Non-operating revenue
(1) SN B4R (1) Breakdown of non-operating income
FIAEEARE T iR
T AL R JE 7Y et
Amounts included in
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year .
non-recurring profit
and loss for the year
HURTHRE) 228,458.48 1,280,328.52 228,458.48

Government grants

ARV EN A 7 R
Income from scrapping of 21,622.26
non-current assets

H

Hofth 2,621.15 20,144.59 2,621.15
Others

A

il 231,079.63 1,322,095.37 231,079.63
Total
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(2) The government subsidies that are included in the profit and
loss for the year

WEERY
BUTEE | manm | MERE | epa, | RRERRSK
N— PR BHRE | FEED hether the | agy & o 2
. A . Reason for Type and Y Whether Amount Relevant to assets/
Subsidy Issuing entity . affects the i . Amount for
issuance nature it’s special for current Relevant to
profit and last year
allowance year revenue
loss for the
year
Bl TN
2003 4T = RO i R E A I
B B R N
. Boluo County Bureau Tl o = S AR B
Income Growth Incentive £Sci Subsid N N 55,940.00 Related fo R
for the First Three Tech o lsClE'ﬂICed, ubs1dy o o clated to kevenue
Quarters of 2023 echno ogy, ‘ustry,
and Information
2021 4 B A I (e
P S e B Y § ;
TR | penawannE | A A
X . . Zhuhai City s 5 i 50.000.00 RS2 AH B
2021.X|angzhou District Xiangzhou District Subsidy No No T Related to Revenue
Special Fund for Commerce Bureau
Promoting E-Commerce
Industry Development
WA R S OR B R E
R A —
Ileﬁlamml1 o t Sh’”i;’ﬁj‘MjiU? 1 i) G G 41,498.46 S i A
nemploymen antou Vunicipa Subsidy No No T Related to Revenue
Insurance Stable Bureau of Finance
Employment Position
Subsidy
HOR AL & R
o (e
YA b e R . .
O;/itrij%zﬂr:*fb ment Gugngfi(;nlg et ik & G 38,000.00 1,500.00 S i A1
c-tume Lmployme octal nsurance Subsidy No No U U Related to Revenue
Expansion Subsidy Liquidation and
Payment Agency
Account
TRt (R B \
s e s
FE e el Guangdong Provincial e BURER S 75 75 B35
Stable Employment Social Insurance Sﬁfiily BT T\?o T\?o 35,086.41 7,500.00 Rel;{eqfé,ﬁ ]zi\ﬁ;inue
Subsidy Liquidation and PR
Payment Agency LR AR B
i S Account Subsidy
Pt 7 R FEARRRR T W ‘ received for
7 Phifg i Ak & (R BB 4 meeting local
Zhuhai City ‘ﬁ’i‘ﬁ_q]‘ll*. o supportive a5 a5 B 25 A
Unemployment Zhuhai Social : policies such 2,876.14
Subsidy No No Related to Revenue
Insurance Stable Insurance Fund as local
Employment Position Management Center government
Subsidy investment
ol AT BRI promotion
2 i ERER
bl TR = . 1 3%
B TERER Foshan Municipal 0 # % 05747 O B L
Employmeit Refund Bureau of Human Subsidy No No U T Related to Revenue
Resources and Social
Security
TORPRE R % 2
> N
s | AR
Bl Gover;L;ent i S FiS i 25 AR R
Zhuhai City One-time : G c? i BRI A AR A
Employmeﬁt Expansion Employee Pension Subsidy No No 1,000.00 1,500.00 Related to Revenue
and Worker Retention Agency Payment -
Subsid Zhuhai Social
y Insurance Fund
Management Center
SRR 2 P L
B WRANERSE R AR
LRI . HiE TR I
s Pl SRR
Unemployment PRI & (R ‘ »
Insurance Stable Chancheng District Tl & &) 1.000.00 SR 25 AR
Employment Position Bureau of Human Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue
Subsidy, Social Insurance Resources and Social
Subsidy for Employing Security, Foshan City
Difficult-to-Employ
Persons, New Employee
Subsidy
BT e N e o N ” Se
DS LR R ARBRIRZ | a % 1 000,00 S
neouragement 1or JiE Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue

Employing Youth
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WGEEEY
SUTRE | pmen | AERE | e, | SRERBSK
AEIRE B BREE ) WEEE ) T sey | i %E i
. N . Reason for Type and Y Whether Amount Relevant to assets/
Subsidy Issuing entity . affects the i, . Amount for
issuance nature it’s special for current Relevant to
profit and last year
loss for th allowance year revenue
oss for the
year
General Office of the
People's Government
of Guangdong
Province
2003 e | BN TR E ) TH
BHABE (s | AR
- BNansha ?;Istnct T 5 5 10.000.00 BRI & A
2023 Q2 Employment of urcau of Human Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue
Vet Nansh Resources and Social
Be era}r: s (Nansha Security, Guangzhou
ranch) City
B | LT
Rk e | JEMEERERAE
Zumiao Subdistrict carty and Goverment | i @ @ SR A
Finance Office Enterprise tia;npre' en;“gz. " ! c[e Subsidy No No Related to Revenue
Sustained Development 0f Zumiao Subdistrict,
Support Fund Chancheng District,
Foshan City
L A A R
2021 R F 5B R % - o
2021 Hundred General Office of the G 5 5 1.052.017.00 BRI 25 AH B
Enterprises Striving for People's Government Subsidy No No T Related to Revenue
Excellence Subsidy of Chancheng District,
Foshan City
3 7 B RS SRR Y R
i J N T R D A R ‘ )
Subsidy for Promoting Nansha District il o w 50.000.00 sfig 2 AR
Steady Growth of Bureau of Finance, Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue
Commercial and Trade Guangzhou City
Services
GRYITT HE b [P 4
N WAL L
AL ) AT - . N e
First-time Employment Pinghu Subdistrict i . . 500.00 Sz A
: poy Public Affairs Center, Subsid No No ’ Related to Revenue
in Shenzhen Subsidy > Y
Longgang District,
Shenzhen
JEM T P 20 [ RV S
s T | TR
Dongehong Town songehong Town s # # ———
Enterprise Recruitment oc&a aTl\rIs ei]rvwe Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue
and Employment Subsidy . e_nter, ansha
District, Guangzhou
City
. [ i JEM T P 20 [ RV S
ST A ek 3 5 N . N
| AEEBRESL
Dongehong Town songehong Town M @ @ 240000 | FRECRHI
Enterprise Employment oc&a ; aTl\rIs ei]rvwe Subsidy No No T Related to Revenue
Promotion Incentive _enter, Nansha
Subsid District, Guangzhou
ubsidy City
BT T fr TR
gy T | AT , ,
Shantou City One-time ugng_ OInIg rovineial Hiis /:'? /:'? 141.635.00 Bl 25 AH
Worker Retention ocial insurance Subsidy No No U Related to Revenue
Subsidy Liquidation and
Payment Agency
Account
s | T AR
B g F IR L
Dongehong Town soongchong Town s & & L0000 | SRR
Enterprise Employment oc(lja ¢ a;\l}s ehrvwe Subsidy No No T Related to Revenue
Promotion Incentive _-enter, Nansha
Subsid District, Guangzhou
ubsidy City
. A TN T3 7 0 B A B,
PRTiE e S MRS . .
foen AR IR
Dongehong Town soongchong Town s & & 00000 | Fucai AR
Enterprise Recruitment oc(lja ¢ a;s el:vwe Subsidy No No : Related to Revenue
and Employment Support enter, Nansha
Subsidy District, Guangzhou
City
A
’F’oﬂ—l —_— —_— —_— —_— —_— 228,458.48 1,280,328.52 —
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427835 H 42. Non-operating expenses
FEAREIERE MR
HH KERANE beEg A L GHEE
Item Amount for the year | Amount for last year mounts included in

non-recurring profit
and loss for the year

AR BN FE BRI K

Loss of non-current assets

, 334,033.90 11,688.77 334,033.90
due to destruction and
scrapping
s =1
SR . 47,821.74 54,000.00 47,821.74
External donation
HAthy
1,902,885.36 31,707.43 1,902,885.36
Others
a3t
2,284,741.00 97,396.20 2,284,741.00
Total
43. 8 EH 43. Income tax expenses

(1) Frfsf & M

(1) Income tax expenses

IHH

Item

KB

Amount for the year

EERAR

Amount for last year

FEREE SO B B B A S A AR
Current income tax calculated according to the tax law
and related regulations

18,393,119.44

16,112,931.82

- B R PE AR SE P A AR
Corporate income tax in the Chinese
mainland

18,393,119.44

16,112,931.82

- A A A A
Profit tax in Hong Kong, the PRC

WESE TSR i H

Deferred income tax expenses

-484,958.85

-38,093.54

A5t
Total

17,908,160.59

16,074,838.28

R A S [ 7 £ B2 TN 7 7 7 I JEE A A
YN, HOI A PTG A .

The Group had no Hong Kong income tax, since it had no taxable
income in Hong Kong during the year.
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(2) gt B i 15 16 e FH 3 5 0 (2) Reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax
T expenses
HH ASE AR
Item Amount for the year

Combined total profit for the year

FZTE AL G I 4580 2 P

. 17,798,063.07
Income tax expenses calculated at applicable tax rate

ERAC P RNCITES A

The impact of different tax rates applied to subsidiaries

S LR ] B 1S I s 22 279,344.89

Adjust the impact of income taxes for previous periods

EEY R ONGEA

Impact of non-taxable income

AN RRA . B ARR IR

Effect of non-deductible costs, expenses and losses >3,014.23
A5 I SR R R A P A AL 7 0 P HIRFI S HR )

Use of deductible losses that have not been previously confirmed for deferred EIT -228,843.62
assets

AR AN AT SE P A58 B 2 P T I R IRk 2 SR BT IR AT S 4R A S

Effect of deductible temporary differences or deductible losses on deferred income tax

assets not recognized in the current year

oAt

Others 6,582.02
PRt A A 17,908,160.59

Income tax expenses
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AMBERERIEH 44. 1tems of the Statement of Cash Flows
(1) BRECETEBIA B I e (1) Cash related to operating activities

1) S EI) iy HAth B 42 v B 1 B 1) Other cash received relating to operating activities
AN

G
HH A EEEAR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
HE fon /3 o s
BLALAEAGK 2,995,618,553.62 62,070,741.78
Inter-company current accounts
BT A B 337,966.48 1,280,328.52
Government grant
S|
il @LI&J.\ 179,697.77 258,133.97
Interest income
B THHE 78,593.00 59,228.87
Staff reserves
H
FHopth 536,723.64 877,454.71
Others
£t
" 2,996,751,534.51 64,545,887.85
Total

2D SCAHHY H A BRLAS 2 v B A B ) 3 2) Other cash paid relating to operating activities

4
IHH AR AR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year

|=1= R AWYAN Eoa
BLALEEAGSR 2,971,783,691.81 134,960,842.75
Inter-company current accounts
EEE 21,943,550.63 18,736,675.94
Transportation costs
e N
! 10,620,635.30 14,309,150.57
Office expenses
= e

F %ﬁﬁ 4,832,307.79 11,836,373.47
Marketing expenses

s

TR 5,145,978.67 5,565,211.72
Handling fees

= S AN v 3
IR B . 2,596,261.05 3,747,903.30
Expenses on engaging agencies
ML A
HERZ AR 1,729,760.22 2,129,021.22
Repair and Maintenance expenses

= T i
B TAg K . 679,937.43 1,203,640.00
Staft borrowings
CAEBGEIN

o 1,130,268.15 1,114,271.32
Telecommunication fees
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HH AR TR AR
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
Eﬁﬁ% 893,699.74 531,140.22
Travelling expenses
%47
SRR . 549,063.46 454,918.87
Business entertainment expenses
it 2,267,196.93 57,768.32
Others
CEll
3,024,172,351.18 194,646,917.70
Total

(2) HESEHEA R IR E

1) W) HAth B2 28 5 35 Bl AT il £ B2

&

(2) Cash related to financing activities

1) Other cash received relating to financing activities

THH

Item

KEFAR

Amount for the year

EEFEER

Amount for last year

A [l SRAT AR ST PR 4

Receipt of bank acceptance margin

1,709,889,057.76

1,646,027,248.97

i SR A K
Sharcholder borrowing 1,978,569,891.37 845,982,484.78
iy =]
R A B . 3,802,290.68 4,043,183.13
Interest income on margin
a3t
3,692,261,239.81 2,496,052,916.88
Total
2D SCAST IR H A B 3 S Bl A B 1 3 2) Other cash paid relating to financing activities
A
K
IHH FEEHARR Mt S
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year

A5 SRAT K S PR 4
Payment of bank acceptance
margin

1,579,977,134.42

1,743,483,513.60

B R Al K
S hareho Ider borrowing 2,303,178,444.34 645,000,000.00

B Ay

HH . 4.290. 107,272.4
Payment of lease Liabilities 9,764,290.58 5,107,272.40
B 7
LI A 5,116,630.56
Financing discount expenses
a3t

3,898,036,499.90 2,393,590,786.00

Total
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3) Change to liabilities due to the fundraising activity

v
ALER N AL
SENTRRER Addition in the year Reduction in the year P
ftEH l;ala.n@ as afttt:e FFe EJE Balance as at the
em eginning of the RowE) BE) e BE) end of the year
year Changes in cash changes in non- Changes in cash changes in non-
cash items cash items

i | A 2
SR 587,994,113.46 1,251,250,000.00 1,534,543.09 1,027,810,000.00 1,394,113.46 811,574,543.09

Short-term borrowings

FeAREAF K- R A K
TR AT AR

Other payables-
Shareholder borrowings
and shareholder current
accounts

331,002,433.34

1,978,569,891.37 665,540,057.13

2,303,178,444.34

671,933,937.50

RIIER (F—ENE
)

Long-term borrowings
(including current
portion due within one

15,000,000.00 17,874.99

15,017,874.99

year)
MEAR (F—FENF
LDl

Lease liabilities

(includi . 36,977,501.16 39,959,519.11 9,760,290.58 23,225,397.32 43,951,332.37
including current

portion due within one

year)

=G

Total 955,974,047.96 3,244,819,891.37 707,051,994.32 3,340,748,734.92 24,619,510.78 1,542,477,687.95

SHRERBERMTER

(1) HEERmlTEr

45. Supplementary information to the Statement of Cash

Flows

(1) Supplementary information to the Statement of Cash Flows

HH

Item

Amount for the year

FEEH

e

Amount for last year

LSRR AR R RSN &

1. Reconciliation of net profit to cash flows from operating activities:

A
Net profit

53,284,091.69

51,344,725.69

e B AR A

Add: Provision for impairment on assets 3,913,486.48 4,361,225.47
2 P i 2 v (e
ERARERERR 125,850.53 492,054.34
Impairment loss of credit assets
[ AT . WA TR R T
Depreciation of fixed assets, depletion of petroleum and natural 18,691,456.40 17,440,816.84

gas properties, depreciation of productive biological assets

S PR R 8 3 0

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

9,246,985.30

4,794,914.17

N . . 4,230,107.76 4,234,268.79
Amortization of intangible assets
ik
%,ﬂ{;ﬁ&%ﬂqﬁﬁﬁ . 3,853,602.20 2,951,328.91
Amortization of long-term expenses to be amortized
I L ST A A AR R A RO (R bA
r-1 §51)
- -307,774.55 -47,339.87
Loss on disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets and other long-
term assets ("-" for gain)
If] e ¥ e AR (@i bA [-1 351D 134.033.90 -9.933.49

Loss on scrapped fixed assets ("-" for gain)
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JHH

Item

EEEH

Amount for the year

EEEH

Amount for last year

NREEEERL OEi -] 315D

loss arising from changes in fair value (“-” for gain)

BB (aibl -1 351D

Finance costs (“-” for gain)

34,196,212.27

37,109,860.87

Bk (hasbh (-1 35D

Investment loss (“-” for gain)

100,000.00

TESE PSR b (R NEL (-] 351D
Decrease in deferred income tax assets (“-” for increase)

-261,952.32

-578,738.13

WRIE A AR QR EL T-) 351D

Increase in deferred income tax liabilities (“-” for decrease)

-223,006.53

540,644.59

RIS el T-1 #1051

Decrease in inventories (“-” for increase)

116,043,385.76

-193,349,172.20

A R ESOE H b sgnel T-1 35D

Decrease in receivables from operating activities (“-” for -409,630,737.53 -98,173,591.18
increase)

Ry D apL b L T -

gt EAIEE g GRA L -1 151D 272,541.560.22 72.251.290.07

Increase in payables from operating activities (“-” for decrease)

oAt
Others

ST 2 A P T U R
Net cash flow from operating activities

106,037,301.58

-96,537,645.13

LAY RBESW T NERBR R REEDD:

2. Non-cash significant investing and financing activities:

R 2 A

Conversion of debt into capital

— A NEHR TR A R

Convertible corporate bonds due within one year

R RN [ 7 4

Fixed assets under finance lease

3B ERRSERYBREIRIL:

3. Net change in cash and cash equivalents:

Bl I0F AR R

Cash balance as at the end of the year

171,793,915.32

112,928,817.62

I MY

Less: cash balance as at the beginning of the year

112,928,817.62

68,861,408.60

e BRI EAR R

Add: balance of cash equivalents as at the end of the year

e BLEEEMREYIEREH

Less: balance of cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year

T I B G S TR i I

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

58,865,097.70

44,067,409.02
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SEAIRRER
JHH FARERIR Balance as at the
Balance as at the ..
Item beginning of the
end of the year year
Bl 171,793,915.32 112,928,817.62
Cash
Hp: A&
Of which: cash on hand 231,121.38 238,303.54
HT B PR AT SRAT A7 K 171,562,793.94 112,690,514.08

Bank deposits readily available for payment

AT B IR RS SO O HA B ¥ A <
Other monetary funds readily available for
payment

Bl EY)

Cash equivalents

Horpe =fEA NRR A

Of which: bonds investment due within three months

RGN &5 R
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
year

171,793,915.32

112,928,817.62

Horr: BREAE) AR R N 2 w4 52 R A B B A
WE5EED

Of which: Restricted cash and cash equivalents used by
the parent company or the subsidiaries of the Group

(30 A [ A 4 f A7 ) 0[] A2 BRRAEL
A J8 T B < e R < SR 41 R B 1

Do equivalents this year.

(4) ABERE e LIRS EDNE

WaEE

equivalents.

(3) The Group is free from the circumstance which has the

restricted usage scope and is still presented by cash and cash

(4) Monetary resources which do not belong to cash and cash

FERBRERBEFH
A AESH I P
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year Reason for Not Being
Cash and Cash
Equivalents
SRAT 7K ST SR IR < ANET LLRE RS T SA
Bank acceptance bills 391,356,488.13 521,268,411.47 Cannot be used for
deposits payment at any time
a3t
391,356,488.13 521,268,411.47 —

Total
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4641 B g B TE H 46. Monetary items in foreign currencies
FERINERER ERFTENARERE
JEH Balance in foreign IHEER Equivalent RMB
Item currency at the end of Exchange rate balance at the end of
the year the year

BikEs

Monetary funds o o -

Hrr: (5

Of which: Hong Kong Dollars 441,984.71 0.92604 409,295.53

471HE 47. Lease
(1) ARLEHAE R AT (1) The Group as the lessee
HH KEHER AR
Item Amount in current year | Amount in prior year
MEamEMEEM

. 1,812,406.93 1,144,194.59
Interest expenses of lease liabilities

AT N E IR AR AOPR A 5 1 pi 2R ) RS0 B
Short-term lease expenses which are included into the 601,081.25 937,133.78
current profit or loss and adopt the simplified treatment
AT N IR 25 O BR H 5 14 g E (AR 1 3 2 AL B
M G ERRSM

Lease expenses of low-value assets which are included 16,431.26 37,257.93
into the current profit or loss and adopt the simplified
treatment (except short-term lease)

B A A ] ) AR B <

Total cash outflow related to the lease 10,454,397.74 6,159,488.40
N EHFEEREE VI. CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
1. FoAth JR R )& 2 T SR 1.Changes in the scope of consolidation due to other reasons

202446 H 27 H A 5 Hiak 1A w] B On 27 June 2024, the Company newly established a subsidiary,
RAIEBELEDRAR A" (LUT &R Guangdong Charmacy Medical Logistics Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
“BIZEMIRATR” D, ARAFFEKE referred to as “Charmacy Logistics Company”). The Company
1 5%100.00%, %A\ 3 ZAL H holds 100.00% of the shares of this company, and it is mainly
THE T3 engaged in the logistics and transportation industry.
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B AR RER VI. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
LAEFAR T HM#ER 1. Interests in subsidiaries
(1) A ZELBERE R (1) Composition of the corporation
FAF TEL . FEREEH (%)
el g | BHE | ReseboER | Smd®E | USSP | Proportion of BT
N f Place of Place of Type of legal Nature of Cga ital shareholding (%) Method of
ame o principal | registration status business L B R acquisition
subsidiary . (RMB)
operation Direct | Indirect
R A5 _
N = R - " 15,000.00 ey
N REA s M Hre
Guangdong River Foshan Lir;lit d Pharmaceutical 1'56 00 100.00 Established by
Charmacy Delta liabilii distribution mill'ion investment
Company y
; B &il A4
PRIRE | =y e o R T
A H] Pearl Bty e SR L E 7y 8 360.00 BF
Zhuhai River Zhuhai Li \'t d Pharmaceutical BT 100.00 bl}sn;e SS ‘
Charmacy Del Amite distribution 3.60 million combination no
Company elta liability under common
control
A AR — 2 N A
%)[lﬁd% = AR e e | 2,000.00 e
N e = 58 % 2 Y — .
Pearl JEE M HAE . 0 Business
Guangzhou . . Pharmaceutical 100.00 e
River Guangzhou Limited s 20.00 combination
Charmacy Del . distribution i
Company elta liability million not under common
control
pellFEIES _
= — " 2,080.00 S,
N REA R mmmasw | 25 B
Shenzhen River Shenzhen L'/ N ited Pharmaceutical 20.80 100.00 Established by
Charmacy Delta li;rlr)lillii distribution miliion investment
Company y
. AR — ] N A
M A _
= e " 1,500.00 de A
N HER R mmmaam | R
. Pearl 2 HAE . T Business
Huizhou X . C Pharmaceutical 100.00 JHes:
Charm River Huizhou Limited distribution 15.00 combination
Co?n ;10}’ Delta liability million not under common
pany control
EZ7N
BIRPIR | g gy IR MEGEME | 50000 .
7G| e - o A FRL
Ch Pearl M HIE Road R 100.00 Established b
L armacy River Guangzhou Limited Transport 5.00 ' . + ty
ogistics Delta liability Industry million investmen
Company
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I\ BUSHEE
LA R B & BRRERR I BUIT A B

A B8 (9] A e SO A B A o 11 S A
IHEREH

VII. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

1. Government grants recognized according to the amount
receivable at the end of the year

The Group does not have any balance of receivables related to the
government grants at the end of the year.

2FtNE BRI BB 2. Government grants included into the current profit or loss
AINEBR RS
i SIHIEH RTAE SRR
Type Amount Ttem reported \Amount included in profit

and loss for the period

BLUAT 3 A ] A EBA  1

the government subsidies 228,458.48 A ?I\W)\ 228,458.48
Non-operating revenue
related to the revenue
a3
228,458.48 — 228,458.48
Total
Ju. EE&Eh T B AR R E R IX. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

AR EEIEIAE 86 V% Bl o T B 25 e <
TRAE, EEOFETEERE. &5
FH LB Je Bl VR B i 5 . BiliE s 4
Rl EA o P U, DA S AR B T 2 P
RIS e JL g T PR L P L o 7 24 IR S
TR . AN [ S 3 A i
I A7 R G5 47 DU Dok bk J o
P I AE B () 8 2 N

125 R b 2 AR ABUOR

A [ A7 = o A L Y B A A LB
O 2 2 [ri] B A5 30 o P48, o L
AR B A SE AR 1 A T R B PR 2
BARIK, IR e B R i B
) 2 A R A . i A R% JAL B i B H

, A B T ) A SR S L T
Eﬂ“ﬁ$%@%ﬁﬁ%%@ﬂM,
ST 0 B R S TR AR NG B AT B
B, W IRp ] R M A e B AT
SR, o L4 o) LR R A S0 2
N
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The Group is faced with various financial instrument risks in the
daily activities, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk primarily. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the risk management policies adopted by the
Group on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure such risks are contained within a prescribed scope.

1. Objective and policies of various risks management

The Group engages in risk management with the aim of achieving
an appropriate balance between risk and return, where the
negative effects of risks against the operating results of the Group
are minimized, and to maximize the interest of Shareholders and
other stakeholders. Based on such risk management objectives,
the fundamental strategy of risk management of the Group is to
ascertain and analyse all types of risk exposures of the Group,
establish appropriate risk tolerance thresholds, carry out risk
management procedures and perform risk monitoring on all kinds
of risks in a timely and reliable manner, thus containing risk
exposures within a prescribed scope.



(V)5 B B
1) BE

A AR [ K 57 A1 BE AR 32 BB
B, BRANEER H RSO AT R K b4y
SRR RR AT R K & AN, A
LB FoAth 3= B R B DA IR 5t
TE&ES . R20244E12H31H, FRAT
T M R P R 1Y) AR il R B
SEE AR A R R R IR &=
SER ] R ARSI AR S A AR
&,
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(1) Market risk
1) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s foreign exchange risk relates mainly to Hong Kong
Dollars. Except for the proceeds from the payment of H Share
dividends and minor expenses incurred in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, other main business activities of the
Group are settled in RMB. As at 31 December 2024, the changes
in the fair value or future cash flows from the assets and liabilities
of the balance of the account denominated in HKD due to changes
in exchange rates may have impact on the Group’s operating
results as set out in the following table:

2024 4F 12 F 31 H&%E 2023 4E 12 A 31 Hég%E
JEH FHEAR¥ HEARE)
Item Balance as at the 31 December 2024 Balance as at the 31 December 2023
(RMB equivalent) (RMB equivalent)
BiGEL- K
Monetary fund — HKS 409,295.53 400,943.17

A B U ) B R S B A AR L Y

54

/
\}Elo

ket

A

2) FiZJE

A [ 1 ) 5 S B E A A SRAT (5 3 S
R . FREIR RIS E A
A I5 ThO B 4 A ) B, []
2211 4 i A {5 A 4 [ T e 2 o (R A
IR . AR AR e IR TIT 15 3R
B A ] E ) 2 S Bl A 26 G ] 1)
FIET L. A20244E12 H31H, A4k
R A SR 2R N R S HE B [E
€ H A [F, 4% F800,040,000.00
J6 (2023 4 12 H 31 H
638,600,000.007C)

A SR [0 DA R 5 S ) 5 ik TR Ao
(B 58 Bl 1) L o = 22 B[] 5 ) 3R 8RAT
AT o

()f5E B

ASSE B S B 4 A o JEAT A
Mo EHEMEEEEEREEE .

The Group closely monitors the effect of exchange rate on the
Group.

2) Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group arises from the interest-bearing
debts such as bank loans. The floating-rate financial liabilities
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, while the fixed-
rate financial liabilities expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group determines the relative ratio of fixed-rate
contracts and floating-rate contracts based on the market
environment. As at 31 December 2024, the interest-bearing debts
of the Group were mainly fixed-rate contracts denominated in
RMB, with an amount of RMB800.04 million (31 December
2023: RMB638.60 million).

The risk of changes in fair value of financial instruments caused
by interest rate changes in the Group is mainly related to fixed-
rate bank loans.

(2) Credit risk

The Group manages the credit risk according to the portfolio
classification. Primarily, the credit risk mainly comes from the
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monetary resources, bills receivable, accounts receivable,
receivables financing, and other receivables.

In order to mitigate credit risk, the Group established special
departments to determine credit limits and perform credit
approval, and carries out other monitoring procedures to ensure
necessary measures are taken to collect overdue debts. Besides,
the Group reassesses the recovery of each receivable items on an
individual basis at each balance sheet date, so as to ensure
sufficient provision for doubtful debts is made for amounts that
are not recoverable. As such, the management of the Group
believes that the credit risks assumed by the Group has been
significantly mitigated.

The Group’s liquidity is deposited in banks with higher credit
rating, so the credit risk of the liquidity is lower.

The Group has adopted necessary policies to ensure that all the
trade customers have good credit history.Except for the top five
accounts receivable and contract asset amounts, the Group has no
other major credit concentration risks. Among the Group’s
accounts receivable, the top five total amounts are
RMB489,808,441.01, accounting for 41.35% of the Company’s
total accounts receivable.

1) Criteria for remarkable increase of credit risk

On each balance sheet date, through comparing the default
probability of financial instrument during the determined
estimated duration in the initial recognition and the default
probability of such instrument during the estimated duration
determined on the balance sheet date, whether the credit risk of
financial instrument increases remarkably after the initial
recognition is judged. However, if the Group determines that the
financial instrument only has a low credit risk on the balance
sheet date, it may be assumed that the credit risk of such financial
instrument does not increase remarkably after the initial
recognition.

Normally, if the overdue period exceeds 30 days, it shows that
the credit risk of financial instrument increases remarkably.
Unless the Group may gain the reasonable and well-founded
information without unnecessary additional costs or efforts, the
credit risk still does not increase remarkably after the initial
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recognition even if the overdue period exceeds 30 days. In
determining whether the credit risk increases remarkably after the
initial recognition, the Group considers the reasonable and well-
founded information gained without unnecessary additional costs
or efforts, including forward-looking information. Information
considered by the Group includes: business environment of the
debtor, internal and external credit rating, occurrence of any
major adverse change to the actual or expected operating results,
whether any remarkable change occurs to the third party provided
guarantee or credit enhancement quality.

2) Definitions of assets with credit impairment

If one or multiple incidents which have adverse impacts on the
expected future cash flow of financial assets occur, such financial
assets become the financial assets with credit impairment. The
main standard for the Group to judge the occurrence of credit
impairment is “the overdue period exceeds 90 days”. However,
under some circumstances, according to the internal or external
information, before any credit enhancement is considered,
provided that the contract amount may not be recovered in full,
the Group may also deem it as the credit impairment. The credit
impairment of financial assets may be caused by the common
effects of multiple incidents, and it is not necessarily caused by
any incident which can be identified alone.

Evidences for credit impairment of financial assets include the
following observable information: the debtor suffers from any
major financial distress; the debtor violates the contract, for
example, default in interest payment or principal repayment or
overdue interest payment or principal repayment; out of economy
or contract related to the financial distress of the debtor, the
Group gives the concession which will not be provided under all
circumstances to the debtor; the debtor is likely to go bankrupt or
undergo other financial restructuring; the active market of such
financial assets disappears due to the financial distress of the
debtor.

3) Credit risk exposure

As of 31 December 2024, the biggest credit risk exposure which
may cause the financial losses against the Group mainly came
from “the Group suffers from the losses on financial assets due to
the fact that other party fails to perform the obligations”.

Book amount of financial assets recognized in the consolidated
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balance sheet; for the financial instruments measured by fair
value, the book value reflects the risk exposure, but it is not the
biggest risk exposure. Its biggest risk exposure will change with
the change of future fair value.

(3) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its financial obligations at maturity. The Group manages liquidity
risk by ensuring that it has ample liquidity to meet its obligations
as they fall due without incurring unacceptable losses or causing
damage to its reputation. The Group regularly analyses the
structure and maturity of its liabilities to ensure that sufficient
funds are available. The Group’s management monitors the use
of bank loans and ensures compliance with loan agreements. It
also negotiates with financial institutions on financing to

maintain a certain credit limit and reduce liquidity risk.

HE —4&BN —3B =4 —FHE HEEMUE Ll
Item Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
SR E o o o o o
Financial assets
5 i 1
i 563,150,403.45 563,150,403.45
Monetary funds
g
E‘WT&. 5,590,000.00 5,590,000.00
Bills receivables
LS,
Rbeie sk . 1,184,455,239.82 1,184,455,239.82
Trade receivables
&L, T Eih ¥
BAEUERR 57,615,292.39 57,615,292.39
receivables financing
LS,
JJ:MIVEWTA 13,129,729.44 13,129,729.44
Other receivables
ey pag:
Fefii s # 44,866,517.92 44,866,517.92
Other liquid assets
SMAR o o o o o
Financial liabilities
=1 (H:
S . 811,574,543.09 811,574,543.09
Short-term borrowings
o3
FE_'“ Sk 826,507,576.48 826,507,576.48
Bills payables
S &
IEAHR 387,825,713.54 387,825,713.54
Accounts payable
e
HAL LT3R 681,544,720.76 681,544,720.76
Other payables
FEH?@J&LW?M 6,402,420.60 6,402,420.60
Salaries payable to employees
R (& LRI
Long-term borrowings (including current portion due 1,217,874.99 1,200,000.00 12,600,000.00 15,017,874.99
within one year)
1T SR (A \
A C P ! E.U‘W ), . 10,410,923.69 10,817,783.74 26,135,966.27 1,066,747.20 48,431,420.90
Lease payment (including within 1 year)
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X. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

1. Relationship with related parties

(1) Information about parent company of the Company

BATREL | BATHEA
FIRIRRRELLG] | FHIRIR L
N (%) 51(%)
AT TR 3 E 3 -
AT LR AfE A Shareholding Voting Right
Registered Business
Name of Parent Company Registered Capital | Proportion (%) Proportion
Place Nature
of Parent (%) of Parent
Company in Company in
the Company the Company
LS WA ) i SBIE 1 35000 0 AR 1303 4673
Jlangyao Group Co., Ltd. China al services RMB750,000,000 ' '

(2) RRAFHT AR EL

TRRMEEERA R L. 1. (D

A SE S A 8 A R 7
(3) AL 48 A 38 R 436
(4) FoAt e 575

(2) Information on the subsidiaries of the Company

For details of subsidiaries, please see “VII. 1. (1) Composition of
the corporation” under these notes.

(3) The Group has no joint ventures and associated enterprises

(4) Other related parties

FHoAth B 7 2 7B

Names of other related parties

BAATHER
Relationship with the Company

e/ Sel e
Yao Chuanglong

A A 3LOTWRHE, RyAE
Holds 31.97% of the company's shares and serves as a director of the company.

HONGXIANG LIMITED

AT HE PR A RERFIE 100%FF A E AT 3 i A3
IA company in which Executive Director Yao Chuanglong holds 100% of the shares and
serves as Executive Director.

TLVE B ZE I A IR A 7 FEA AT 16.13%MHE, RLZEEBMARAR LT A
Jiangxi Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. Holds 16.13% of the company's shares and is a subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.
TLEERFA TR A F il diid
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. Controlling shareholder.
TLZEAE BRI E A TR A 7] VLEEEB AR AT Z T A F

Jiangyao Group Technology Dalian Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

PEYT AR LN S S IR AR A 7]

Jlangm Jiangzhong Jiuzhou Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

VLEERB AR AR ZFAH
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLZEAE M L R AT IR A 7
Jiangyao Group Shandong Co., Ltd.

VLZEEB AR AT T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.
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Names of other related parties

SAAFRIR
Relationship with the Company

TLZEEE R A PR )
Jiangyao Group Henan Co., Ltd.

VLEEEM AR AT Z T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLEESEE (UID AR
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd.

V4R IR AR 2 1R
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLZEEE I A TR A )
Jiangyao Group Changzhou Co., Ltd.

VLEEEM AR AT Z T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TTLEESR LA I A )
Jiangyao Group Tangshan Co., Ltd.

VLEERBAT IR AR 2 1R
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

VL ZELE IR A TR 2 =)
Jiangyao Group Liaocheng Co., Ltd.

VLZEEM AR AT Z T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLEER LA R A A
Jiangyao Group Jiangxi Co., Ltd.

TLEEEB AR AT T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLEELEE 15 4 A IR AT A F]
Jiangyao Group Luoyang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

TLEEREB AR AT T A F
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

VLZELE [ B A TR A )
Jiangyao Group Yancheng Co., Ltd.

VLEEEM AR AR Z T A H
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

TLVEVLEE LN B A TR A w]
Jiangxi Jiangyao Jiuzhou Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

VLEEEMA AR 2 Fan], FTEFMEEEEFN AL A%
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. and a company where Non-executive Director Fu
Zheng serves as a director.

TLVELZE PR ZE A IR A 7]
Jiangxi Jiangyao Renxiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

VLEEELMARAR Z T AR, T EE M EESEN A2
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. and a company where Non-executive Director Fu
Zheng serves as a director.

5 B3 NN B AT IR A
Changzhou Yidao Renhe Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

VLEERBH MA R AR F AR, IEBAT HE FAHEHB TR A
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group Changzhou Co., Ltd. and a company where Non-executive
Director Fu Zheng serves as a director.

WL A AR E AR AF
Zhejiang Maihong Capital Management Co., Ltd.

AT ARERAT T R A R A 3

/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as Chairman.

L P9 SR P AR A PR A ]

Jiangxi Railway and Aviation Investment Group Co., Ltd.

R SL AR AT I B R AN A3
/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an external
director.

HEARE AR EEAT
Huafu Securities Co., Ltd.

ST AR AT E SR B A3
A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an
independent director.

P SR A B P A PR
Zhongwen Tiandi Publishing & Media Group Co., Ltd.

AL ARIAT I A B AL A A3
/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an
independent director.

ORI A IR A 7
Zhongda Construction Co., Ltd.

ST AR AT SR BT A A3
A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an
independent director.

LV IRMOL R B A B2
Jiangxi Woge Optoelectronics Co., Ltd.

PR S SR AT A B S S A 3
/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an
independent director.

VL VG df 2 R R A PR A B
Jiangxi Jing'an High-Tech Co., Ltd.

AL AR AT B A B BT A A3
A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an
independent director.

TLVE ZEADHARH R 34 R A
Jiangxi Hongbo New Materials Co., Ltd.

AL AR AT B BT A3
/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Li Hanguo serves as an

independent director.
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Names of other related parties

SAAFRIR
Relationship with the Company

6T T AL R % i
King & Wood Mallesons (Beijing)

SLARAT T BRI R RN 36

IA firm where Independent Non-executive Director Yin Zhiwei serves as a partner.

JE 1L B A R
Meishan Yuelong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

TLEESER (IU)ID) ARRAF T4 H
Subsidiary of Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd.

BT R A B O (BIRE)

Nanchang Zhongcheng Pharmaceutical
(Limited Partnership)

Management Center

I
=

AEHAT S H B RURPHEIUT SR 3

IA partnership where Non-executive Director Yan Jingbin serves as the executive partner.

BT AR R L (FIREH)
Nanchang Zhonghe Pharmaceutical Management Center (Limited
Partnership)

AR T R RORIEET B A1 3

IA partnership where Non-executive Director Yan Jingbin serves as the executive partner.

TLVG B B L S A IR A W
Jiangxi Guoxin Pharmaceutical Valley Commercial Operation|

Management Co., Ltd.

AR T R ORI R A 3

IA company where Non-executive Director Yan Jingbin serves as Chairman.

VL VGV EE K88 B il g A PR A
Jiangxi Jiangyaotang Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd.

HEBAT S TEEAEITEF R
IA company where Non-executive Director Fu Zheng serves as Executive Chairman.

T T A B I A B A )
Henan Chunyang Pharmaceutical Chain Co., Ltd.

HERAT S TEEAEITEF R
IA company where Non-executive Director Fu Zheng serves as Executive Chairman.

kit A 2 AR A TR A
Shanghai Baiyang Panda Consulting Management Co., Ltd.

RN SRA T S R SRR IR 100% NG AT T S 3
/A company where Independent Non-executive Director Guan Jian holds 100% of the
shares and serves as Executive Director.

R R R AT R A A
Shanghai New Guandian Investment Development Co., Ltd.

DBSLARRAT 2 B SRR 70%P HE (T AT S FR I 3
IA company where Independent Non-executive Director Guan Jian holds 70% of the shares
land serves as Executive Director.

i EERG A EE RSO (HRER)
Shanghai Baijiaolongchang Enterprise Management Service

R SR T S R SRR IR 99938 M T AT S R A I A3
A partnership where Independent Non-executive Director Guan Jian holds 99% of the
shares and serves as the executive partner.

Center (Limited Partnership)
ROk, BEEME, SRIEH. AME. R, RIS, PR, &
WL RN, MRAEIAL IREE. MEN. BIWE. SRR
Yan Jingbin, Zheng Yuyan, Zhang Hanzi, Fu Zheng, Xu Fei, Guan
Jian, Yin Zhiwei, Li Hanguo, Zhu Minghong, Zheng Xiyue, Zhang

AFFER, BELEREEAR
Company directors, supervisors, and senior management.

Ling, Lin Zhijie, Liu Yingyu, Yao Jiexi
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o 3522 5 T L

1) PREETS dh/HE 32 5575

2. Related party transactions

(1) Related party transactions involving the purchase and sale of

goods, the provision and receipt of services

1) Procurement and acceptance of services

B 7 4238 BB 5 A KEBER | LERAEE
Content of related Amount in Amount in
Name of related party . .
party transactions current year prior year

{TEELE A PR A 7]
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

PR R ot AT RS
Procurement and
acceptance of services

95,577,355.81

53,250,105.37

TLZEAEE (U N AH R A

PRI ] e A A

- 2.2 12 91
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd Procurement anq 68,052.25 2128799
acceptance of services
YT 7 INF Bl
{.I%;%EIHKEA il ﬂﬁﬁf{ﬁéﬁﬁ 6,705,259.16 3,726,983.34
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. Financing costs

ab: RIREREER dh e AR S LR
f s BRI A

(2) SR AR BES5 5

Note: The above amount of procurement includes rebates from
the upstream manufacturers and suppliers.

(2) Sale of goods/provision of services

BT BB 5 A KEFAER AR
Content of related party | Amount in current | Amount in prior
Related party .
transactions year year
TLEESER (DU ARAH S EE T A MRS
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Sales of goods and 5,280.97
Ltd. services
o O 2

VT 2842 [ A TR ) S8 ] v A IR S

. Sales of goods and 17,768,424.80
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. .

services

aat 17,773,705.77
Total YT

(3) Pl H#fa ORI L

AR [ A JRE AT RS il 5 8 £ 7 B

WeBR 7 48 DR D«

(4) BT B IrE
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(3) Connected Guarantee

parties in current year.

The Group has not been a guarantor or guaranteed by connected

(4) Connected-party Fund Borrowing and Lending
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BRI 7 4 7 TriEEHE & B M H (i
Related party name Loan amount Start date Expiry date remark
BB ST

Withdrawal of related party
funds

TZEEBAR A

Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd.

2,643,178,444.30

202546 H 19 H
19 June 2025

20241 H 09 H
9 January 2024

iE. BiFE2024F12H31H, AEE

Note: As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding amount of

REEMHE T &SR E SR connected-party  funds borrowed by the Group was
671,933,937.507T - RMB671,933,937.50.
(5) BASRETN B (5) Compensation of key managers
THH &% b SERA X e Mnteor 2|
Item name Amount in current year Amount in prior year
et 3,619,735.28 3,443,085.10
Total compensation T R

(6) AR5

ARAFER (BB LR %14A
B E AL 5y s R AL 5

(6) Continuing Connected Translations

The connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong

W

Listing Rules are detailed as follows:

W74 M AERER | LEREE
. Amount in Amount in prior
Name of related party Content of related party transactions
current year year
T 28 A= 7 >z 3
LR E IR AR RIBERMES 107,988.451.00 |  60,157.610.59
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. Procurement and acceptance of services
TLEELRR (U1 AR F PRI i A%
- .01 1,031,554.
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd Procurement and acceptance of services 76,899.0 ,031,554.30
VT %% A= =il VR
J‘%%@ﬁBEA A mﬁﬁé%%ﬂ% 6,705,259.16 3,726,983.34
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. Financing costs
VLEEEEE (PU)1]) HRAHE SHAE T AR S 5.967.50
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd Sales of goods and services T
TEELBARAT 1985 1 o A AR S
. . 20,078,320.00
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. Sales of goods and services

ke IR AT s B R R

IR A5 35 R 5 At 4 Ao

Note: The above sales of goods and services and purchases of

goods and services are all tax-inclusive amounts.
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3. Related party receivable and payable balances

(1) Receivable items

EREREH SEAIERER
Balance as at the end of the Balance as at the begining of
HE & kv year the year
It Related part ¥ ¥
em name elated party A ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ HE T4 4E ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ
Book balance rovision Book balance Provision
for bad debt for bad debt
AR
Prepayments
VL2 A B A
Jlangyao Group Co., Ltd. 745,883.42 2,701,418.09
VLEEAER ()1 AIRAF]
Jiangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd 98,334.80 39,072.82
(2) EAHHHE (2) Payable items
SEARERHE SRR SEAIRRTHE SRR
IIE H 4% R lﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ ¢ Book balance at the end of Book balance at the
tem name elated party the year beginning of the year
JEATHRRK
Trade receivables
TSR B AT R A
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. 7,545.32
FRARK
Contract liabilities
TLEEAE B BR A
Jlangyao Group Co., Ltd. 17,699,115.04
HoAt AT
Other payables
TLEEAE AR A
Jiangyao Group Co., Ltd. 671,933,937.50 331,002,433.34
BT R
Bills payables
TLEESERE (PU)11D ARA
Jlangyao Group (Sichuan) Co., Ltd 167,785.40
4. BH B 7 AR 4. Commitments of Related Party

AR A AT P J ) M7 7
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The Group does not have the commitments of related party this

year.



2024 FEERE

ANNUAL REPORT

SHEE. BFEABIHM
(1) FEH L EHRFREE T

5. Directors’, Supervisors’ And Employees’ Emoluments

(1) Details of the emoluments of directors and supervisors are as

follows:
FERERS HERE. 5 ®E B#rx #RP
Salaries and HEFKBIKS Bonuses £+ Total
EH Item allowances Social Share-
insurance,housing based
fund and pension payment
RERER Amount for the year
PITEH Executive Directors
9 elf -Yao Chuanglong 694, 430. 00 43, 306. 00 737, 736. 00
~ 3 R e -Zheng Yuyan 737, 094. 81 36, 386. 44 773, 481. 25
—RIEH -Zhang Hanzi 359, 642. 00 26, 289. 00 385, 931. 00
At Subtotal 1,791, 166. 81 105, 981. 44 1,897, 148. 25
BE Supervisors
WRE I -Zheng Xiyue 167, 613. 83 17, 561. 40 3, 000. 00 188, 175. 23
R¥Y -Zhang Ling 40, 000. 00 40, 000. 00
/NEE Subtotal 207, 613. 83 17, 561. 40 3, 000. 00 228, 175. 23
TR E;c:sgg:gent non-executive
- TR -Wan Chi Wai Anthony 144, 000. 00 144, 000. 00
—l s -Guan Jian 50, 000. 00 50, 000. 00
;ﬁ_ﬁ)‘i% (2023. 5. 31 24T 3|1| Ggg%uoozgs)erved as director since 50, 000. 00 50, 000, 00
At Subtotal 244, 000. 00 244, 000. 00
CEi Total 2, 242, 780. 64 123, 542. 84 3, 000. 00 2, 369, 323. 48
AR Amount for last year
PITES Executive Directors
~WAlHE -Yao Chuanglong 636, 290. 00 41, 770. 80 50, 010. 00 728, 070. 80
S -Zheng Yuyan 921, 147. 53 33,149.40 | 36, 837.00 991, 133. 93
~HRIEA -Zhang Hanzi 336, 074. 00 25,215.60 | 24, 200.00 385, 489. 60
gt Subtotal 1,893,511.53 100, 135.80 | 111, 047.00 2,104, 694. 33
BE Supervisors
A (209° 9092 £ 21 H= 0 .
{%}ﬁ_) (2023.1.1-2023. 5. 31 & 1";:nﬁ2:§ezgszes“$d§s&“a@e;‘ggg; from 165, 065. 00 11, 986. 83 177, 051. 83
~HRk4IH -Zheng Xiyue 152, 966. 98 16, 736. 72 8, 000. 00 177, 703. 70
“oR¥E -Zhang Ling 40, 000. 00 40, 000. 00
Ny Subtotal 358, 031. 98 28, 723. 55 8, 000. 00 394, 755. 53
EHIFEY E;c:sgt%r:tsient non-executive
~FHEE -Wan Chi Wai Anthony 144, 000. 00 144, 000. 00
-l -Guan Jian 50, 000. 00 50, 000. 00
%4?)% (2023. 5. 31 EHETE Igi I&a;)g;gz(girved as director from 29,301, 39 29, 304. 39
| 20, 830. 00 20, 830. 00
NFE Subtotal 244, 134. 39 244, 134. 39
BFF Total 2, 495, 677. 90 128,859.35 | 119, 047.00 2, 743, 584. 25
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(2) iz A L

A JEE 3 M 5 v FA) I T A v 347 2
H:OCEER: 36 , HIEFAH M
O 2 O W AE B 3 K% B 2 ) e T
o NRKRBEEZAFEEE (L

(2) Five individuals with the highest emoluments

Among the top five highest-paid individuals this year, 3 are
directors (last year : 3), and their remuneration is set out in the
table above and included in the remuneration of directors and
supervisors. The table below reflects the remuneration of 2 senior

FIE: 2060 EE HHT: executives this year (last year : 2):
HE AR TR AR
Item Amount for the year | Amount for last year
== AL N H
it iz L 754, 614. 36 558, 257. 00
Salaries and allowances
. PO Bk A i
HLERER. (LD S SRR R S A . 54, 779. 88 50, 548. 80
Social insurance, housing fund and relevant pension cost
5 L
OCSIE 4, 000. 00 49, 830. 00
Bonuses
&3t
813, 387. 24 658, 635. 80
Total
7 T o )« Scope of emoluments:
THH KENB EEANB
Item Number of people for the year Number of people for last year
1,000,000 7t AN CAEGHS) 5N 5N
Within RMB1,000,000 5 people 5 people

(3) AREF FEA L Bk R nOa S8 24
RUIBIRAE . AAE 2t R AR AR S AT
T T AL 0 A B o S T 2 B
BSCGEAEATH M. AR, &
N B AR S B T i
e N SR AT, A R 5
ﬁ%%AJ%MAﬁQﬂ%%ﬁ%J
VR BIERS A 1E

(4) F BT E 5

FEEHE B CEAEOAT KA
BHEASMSEREENEE) W

#2y
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(3) No other directors or supervisors of the Group waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year except Mr. Yan
Jingbin, Mr. Zhu Minghong, Ms. Fu Zheng and Mr. Xu Fei
waived their emoluments. During the Track Record Period, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any directors,
supervisors or the five highest paid individuals as inducements to
join or upon joining the Company or as a compensation for loss
of office.

(4) Major management’s emoluments

The emoluments of major management (including the amount
paid and payable to directors, supervisors and senior
management) were as follows:
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JEH R HERAA
Item Amount for the year Amount for last year
S 0
1z SRl 2,691,249.64 3,073,691.18
Salaries and allowances
g RIS BB AR 5 A
Social insurance, housing fund and relevant pension 407,448.28 183,996.92
cost
N
Bz 11,000.00 185,397.00
Bonuses
a3
" 3,109,697.92 3,443,085.10
Total
6. BN EEMES H B AEMEER 6. Outstanding loans receivable from directors and directors'

A [ 7 | R ] O
SEfEAIE L.

+—. EELABAFIH
1 EEAEEN

B E20244F12 731 H, AEFATELE
AN R 1) B ARG I

2EEEIH

AN AR N B N ORI DL R
(Bfr. EJo) -

affiliated enterprises

The Group has no outstanding loans receivable from directors and
directors' affiliated enterprises in current year.

XI. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
1. Important commitment

By 31 December 2024, the Group had no important commitment
which must be disclosed.

2. Contingencies

The Group’s internal guarantees during the reporting period are
as follows (Unit: RMB0’000):

HH

Item

FEFAER

Amount for the year

EEEAR

Amount for last year

By 4w A IR

Mutual guarantee between parent company and

subsidiary company

303,400.00 303,739.90

BRAAAE BRI R IASN, AL L
th 75 99 5 PO B AT R TH

Apart from the above disclosures, no other contingencies of the
Group need to be disclosed.
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+=. BERBERHREH

LA

XI.EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET
DATE

1. Distribution of profits

HH

Item

WA
Content

k73 e A ) e A
Profits or dividends proposed for
distribution

0.45 Jo/fie CANRHD
0.45 yuan / share (RMB)

SR A T AR L ST R IR BB
To be reviewed and approved for the
declaration and distribution of profits or
dividends

0.45 Ju/ie CNRHED
0.45 yuan / share (RMB)

+=. HAvEEFIA
AR R A P i HL A P IR

T, BAFMBHREEEIAR

XIII. OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS
The Group had no other material disclosures during the year.

XIV. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY

1 R 1. Trade receivables
AH £ FAREE Balance asﬂ;j‘)t]l?f ?;E; inning of
Name of item Balance as at the end of the year g g
the year
HE 2
JEHCK . 558,029,118.97 375,106,274.17
Trade receivables
Tk SEHRYER
Less:Provision for bad debt 4,054,826.50 3,229,123.79
ik 553,974,292.47 371,877,150.38

Net amount

(D) EBCRR I HIRES 57

FEIRANEN T P 2R, AR I T
& B R EUCR AR S P s
sty B0 AR A PR . AR T [ o) 2
Pl AR BAE TR A5 0 — %
FNAEH o B A, DA HE
AL A0 BT A 2 BRI B 7 S8
ANHIRERRIR B, B an st S IRES
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(1) Accounts receivable by aging

Before accepting new customers, the Group assessed the credit
worthiness of potential clients and set corresponding credit limits
according to the internal credit assessment policies. The Group
applies different credit policies to different customers. Credit
period is generally six months. As for commodity sales, the trade
receivables and operating revenue are recognized and the age of
the same is calculated after the control right has been transferred
to the buyers;
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SRl FERERER EAIRRER

Age Balance as at the end of the year Balance as at the beginning of the year
! E U‘ N 545,828,896.95 365,204,074.06
Within 1 year
1-2 4 11,209,554.22 9,187,074.10
1 to 2 years
234 275,541.79 161,965.89
2 to 3 years
3L 715,126.01 553,160.12
More than 3 years
il 558,029,118.97 375,106,274.17
Total e R

(2) ORI IR T 5 77 1% 70 H

(2) Trade receivable by the method of provisioning for bad debt

JIAN
ERBH
Balance as at the end of the year
AR TSR AR BRI
xR Book balance Provision for bad delit
Classification AtiREeH IRTEEAE
P Bl (%) e (%) Book value
Percentage Provision
Amount o Amount .
(%) ratio
(%)
1 LIRS
Bad debt provision made on individual 1,067,525.37 0.19 1,067,525.37 100.00
basis
AL A R
Bad debt provision made on a collective 556,961,593.60 99.81 2,987,301.13 0.54 553,974,292.47
basis
ks . Higie H - . 556,961,593.60 99.81 2,987,301.13 0.54 553,974,292.47
Of which: Aging portfolio
At
Total 558,029,118.97 100.00 4,054,826.50 — 553,974,292.47
== .
(#D (continued)
EXIRBR
Balance as at the beginning of the year
5 PRI &R AR HIREME
AN Book balance Provision for bad debt
Classification — BT
o LB (%) o AHREHI (%) Book value
A ¢ Percentage A " Provision
moun (%) moun ratio (%)
4 B HRRE A
Bad debt provision made on individual 1,117,591.87 0.30 1,094,493.67 97.93 23,098.20
basis
A A FTHRR A
Bad debt provision made on a collective 373,988,682.30 99.70 2,134,630.12 0.57 371,854,052.18
basis
. A ZH A
ks . iz H o . 373,988,682.30 99.70 2,134,630.12 0.57 371,854,052.18
Of which: Aging portfolio
N
Total 375,106,274.17 100.00 3,229,123.79 — 371,877,150.38
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D) ESCRR % B

Uit PR A

A JRE SR R % B IR TR R AR Y Al 22

R/ NEREGR, AR E KT

ARYEA 1L -

Hit P

2) {EH AR R BRI 1

1) Bad debt provision for trade receivables made on individual

basis

The provision for bad debt accrued according to the single item
regarding the accounts receivable this year is the small-amount
payment for goods, and no accrual of provision for bad debt of

significant single item exists.

2) Bad debt provision for trade receivables made on group basis

FRERHR
=00 Balance as at the end of the year
Age FEWCRR K BURYEM ATHRELH] (%)
trade receivables Provision for bad debt Provision ratio (%)
! iU\W 545,764,877.85 1,910,177.07 0.35
Within 1 year
1-2 4 11,196,715.75 1,077,124.06 9.62
1 to 2 years
Rt
556,961,593.60 2,987,301.13 —
Total
(3) JEYURRAFE G el 5L (3) Provision for bad debts accrued and recovered or reversed
T ] PRy 35 R VE A 155 of trade receivables in the year
AEBE SRR 3
FHIRRE Changes in the year B J’f*ﬁ?%’ﬁ
&l Balance as at — - alance as at
Item the beginning =R LB E ﬁ%ﬁ&#j Hih the
of the year Acerued Recovered or | Written back Others end of the
reversed or written off year
FIHEHR
Individual 1,094,493.67 65,536.75 92,505.05 1,067,525.37
provision
A GH A
EE@?."H N . 2,134,630.12 852,671.01 2,987,301.13
Ageing portfolio
it
3,229,123.79 918,207.76 92,505.05 4,054,826.50
Total
$¢ 5 R B AL (] e [ 4 R 38 2% The recovered or reversed amount of provision for bad debt this
BB, AR E E U B el a1 year is the small-amount payment for goods, and no important
YR o recovery or reversal exists.

(4) AR B 2 EUIR S

o

-228-
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(4) Significant trade receivable write-offs for the year
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(5) 4% R K5 i B i) 4 AR R EH AT 11

2 (R ESOIR S

ARAEFE R GR T BR AR AR GREH T T4
JE U RR K ORE AR & B ON IROK the
387,115,871.22 56, A JE YL HR 7K 4 K
BREE G T BN L 1069.37%,  AHERHR
(13 R Y A R R B IE A SRR N IR
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There is no write-off of accounts receivable in this year.

(5) Details of top five balances of trade receivables classified by

borrowers as at the end of the year

In the year, the sum of accounts receivable of five borrowers with
largest closing balance of accounts
RMB387,115,871.22, 69.37% of the total closing balance of
accounts receivable. Accordingly, the bad debt provisions set
aside had a total closing balance of RMB1,354,905.55.

receivable was

1,354,905.557¢ -
2 oAt FEWER 2. Other receivables
“a AR Balance asﬂjj&)gl%ﬁﬁeginning of
Item Balance as at the end of the year
the year
JEWR S
Interests receivable
Jilidibell
Dividend receivable
H Eoe
”ﬁﬂ%q&'ﬁ\ 82,773,621.84 413,652,378.56
Other receivables
£t
82,773,621.84 413,652,378.56
Total

2.1 HoAh ER R

(1) HAt O IZ R IANE B 20 5

2.1 Other receivables

(1) Classification of other receivables by fund nature

— AR 48 IR
> Book balance at the end of the Book balance at the beginning of
Fund nature
year the year
f e 2
AR 73,547,335.50 404,623,893.20
Money transfers
[FET7S
s . 8,640,538.00 8,510,792.00
Cash deposit
N
i 590,748.34 522,693.36
Imprest fund
&3t
82,778,621.84 413,657,378.56
Total
W SEHRYEAMS
Less:Provision for bad debt 5,000.00 5,000.00
R 82,773,621.84 413,652,378.56
Net amount
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(2) HAtESGRIRES 724

(2) Aging analysis of other receivables

SRl EARGRER EAIRRER

Age Balance as at the end of the year | Balance as at the begining of the year
! EU‘W 74,826,869.84 405,958,886.56
Within 1 year
12 4 815,300.00 268,976.00
1 to 2 years
23 4 293,064.00
2 to 3 years
3L 7,136,452.00 7,136,452.00
More than 3 years
CEll

82,778,621.84 413,657,378.56

Total

(3) HoAth S % B AR ET R T i 0y

(3) Other receivables are classified and presented according to the

P71 accrual method of bad debt.
FERRE
Balance as at the end of the year
5l FRTHI R A BRARTER
Classification Book balance Provisiorl fo: bad debt BT
ﬁ%ﬁ Hﬁm ( % ) é%ﬁ ﬁ-l‘&lf Hﬁ@] ( %) Book value
Amount Percentage Amount Provision
(%) ratio (%)

2 IR SRR YA
Bad debt provision made on 5,000.00 0.01 | 5,000.00 100.00
individual basis
AR RIR
Bad debt provision made on 82,773,621.84 99.99 82,773,621.84
a collective basis
Horr: ARJEBEAH &
Including: Low-risk portfolio| 82,773,621.84 99.99 82,773,621.84
L

82,778,621.84 100.00 | 5,000.00 — 82,773,621.84
Total

(%D (continued)
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EHIRRER
Balance as at the begining of the year
HRIE SR AR R
X0 Book balance Provision for bad debt
Classification SH4E A5 BT B
44 el (%) S4E (%) Book value
Percentage Provision
Amount Amount .
(%) ratio
(%)
P HLIHGT e AR YE My
Bad debt provision made on 5,000.00 0.01 5,000.00 100.00
individual basis
A GRS IRYE My
Bad debt provision made on a| 413,652,378.56 99.99 413,652,378.56
collective basis
Horb: AR B S
Including: Low-risk portfolio 413,652,378.56 99.99 413,652,378.56
£t
Total 413,657,378.56 100.00 5,000.00 — 413,652,378.56

1) Hofth RIS B IHGH SRR e 4

1) Provision for bad debts for other receivables made individually

SR

- SRR
Balance as at the beginning of Balance as at the end of the year
the year
478 FHR A
Name 1 ¥ ° -
WG | DR | gy | ERRE 6 S
Book balance Provision for Book balance Provision for | Provision Reason for accrual
bad debt bad debt ratio
(%)
TH T TR R g
FR 27 THET LU [R
Qingyuan Runyue 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 100.00 Deemed
Pharmaceutical Co., uncollectible
Ltd.
r
5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 — —
Total

2) HoAt SRR A% B TE (S 4Rk —

MU SR

2) Accrual of provision for bad debt according to the general

model of expected credit loss regarding other receivables
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BRIREAS

Provision for bad debt

o124

First stage

o124

Second stage

=R
Third stage

R 12 B AT

ESIESEE P S
12-month
expected credit

A7 TG R
RCRBAS WA
Lifetime expected
credit loss (not

A EM G
HBRREZEREH
BE)
Lifetime expected
credit loss (credit-

&5t
Total

loss credit-impaired) impaired)

202441 A 1 BRH

Balance on 1 January 2024 5,000.00

5,000.00

NG B

—Transferred to the second stage

NGB =FEER
—Transferred to the third stage

-1 ] 55 PR B

—Reversed to the second stage

-1 [m 5 — S B

—Reversed to the first stage

AREEEHE

Accrued for the year

A ]

Reversed in the year

A

Written off in the year

AR

Cancelled in the year

S
Other changes

2024 £ 12 A 31 HER%E

Balance on 31 December 2024 5,000.00

5,000.00

(4) HAl EUCHAFEEHR . Y [e 5L
A e ) SRR VR A 1 D

(4) Provision for bad debts accrued and reversed (or recovered)
of other receivables in the year

- AP SHR
5 ¥ Changes in the year SEREREE
em | beginningofthe | pfgp | ACPISRANED [ BB | Balanceas at the
" i end of the year
year Acerued Recovered or | Written back
reversed or written off
IR 5
Individual 5,000.00 5000.00
provision
a3t
5,000.00 5000.00
Total

(5) AR EANAF A8 % 5 1A A
BV

(6) 4R T7 B I A R ER B AT 10
A i H A SR A D

(5) There were no other receivables written off during the year.

(6) Details of top five balances of other receivables classified by
borrowers as at the end of the year
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A oAt FEWCR SE R AR R BRI
‘ sy | TRBE AFRELEH (%) ERBR
B2 78 Nafure of Balance as at 533 Percentage in Balance of
Company name amounts the end of the Age the total closing provision for bad
year balance of other debts at the end
receivables (%) of the year
Bty AR ZEEA IR A w A 1 LELL
Zhuhai Charmacy current 47,828,311.77 Within 1 vear 57.78
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. accounts y
BYIBIRLESA R A A TR 1AL
Shenzhen Charmacy current 14,314,010.25 Within 1 vear 17.29
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. accounts Y
BN AR LERA A A TEAGK BN
Huizhou Charmacy current 5,743,950.96 Within 1 vear 6.94
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. accounts Y
g R EA TR A
= ¢ A N
5 . . {%””lf 5,600,000.00 3fFLLL 6.77
Zhuhai Jinming Medical Deposit Over 3 years
Co., Ltd.
JE R AR LE A R A F A 14N
Guangdong Charmacy current 4,785,528.31 Within 1 vear 5.78
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. accounts Y
£t
—_— 78,271,801.29 — —_—
Total

(7) AREMEAFEEENESEHE

i B F A SRR KR

(7) The Group has no money presented in other receivables due
to the centralized capital management this year.
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3. Long-term equity investments

HH

Item

FREGH

Balance as at the end of the year

FHIHRER

Balance as at the beginning of the year

HRTHI R AR

Book balance

AR YA
Provisions for
impairment

SR EAE

Book value

HRTHI R AR

Book balance

WAEYEMR
Provisions for
impairment

SRTHEEE

Book value

HroR#
&
Investment in
the
subsidiaries

230,078,852.24

230,078,852.24

219,978,852.24

219,978,852.24

£3t
Total

230,078,852.24

230,078,852.24

219,978,852.24

219,978,852.24

(D #HFrmBpAE

(1) Investment in the subsidiaries

Bl BAL

Investee

FEHIRE
CGRERE
Opening balance
(carrying amount)

WA AR
R

FEH R

Current year changes

Impairment
provisions -
opening
balance

BmE
Additional
investment

WHOBE
Decrease
in
investment

ATIRmRAE 2
#

Provision for
impairment

HAb
Others

FERGBE
CGRERED
Opening balance
(carrying amount)

WA TR
AR
Impairment
provisions -
closing
balance

R AR AT
Guangdong
Charmacy
Company

150,000,000.00

150,000,000.00

FRifEAIE A
Zhuhai
Charmacy
Company

25,710,000.00

25,710,000.00

B BI3E A
Guangzhou
Charmacy
Compan

20,000,000.00

20,000,000.00

HYIRIE AR
Shenzhen
Charmacy
Company

20,800,000.00

20,800,000.00

HH A A
Huizhou
Charmacy
Compan

3,468,852.24

10,000,000.00

13,468,852.24

BN RIS B EY
WA PR A
Guangdong
Charmacy
Medical
Logistics Co.,
Ltd.

100,000.00

100,000.00

At
Total

219,978,852.24

10,100,000.00

230,078,852.24
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(1) Basic information on business revenue and business expenses

AR hERAER
IBH Amount for the year Amount for last year
Item LN HRA [N BRA
Revenue Cost Revenue Cost
B¢ 37
S . 1,527,381,620.67 1,432,485,878.43 1,701,652,695.84 1,632,766,098.74
Principal businesses
HAh 2%
”‘ﬂﬁ%%. 95,770,189.61 1,033,916.37 91,499,432.14 1,033,916.38
Other businesses
£t
Total 1,623,151,810.28 1,433,519,794.80 1,793,152,127.98 1,633,800,015.12

(2) & FEARMB R

(2) Information on revenue generated from contracts

AR AR EERAR
Contract classification Amount in current year Amount in prior year
[GLLE
Types of products
Horp ZEAEH BN

Of which: Revenue from pharmaceutical
sales

1,527,381,620.67

1,701,652,695.84

Al R AR TSN

Revenue from consultancy 8,537,213.36 8,069,691.48
services

sy — 2

B =TV 87.232,976.25 83,429,740.66

Revenue from third-party logistics

By region of operation

Horr: R

Of which: South China 1,603,775,834.55 1,785,987,041.64
e o Il [
East China 18,720,444.66 2.254,592.71
oAt b 5
Other regions 655,531.07 4,910,493.63
B RE S
By sales channel
Hrp: & TS
Of which: Offline sales 1,482,625,363.12 1,685,434,357.33
Online sales 140,526,447.16 107,717,770.65
a5t 1,623,151,810.28 1.793.152.127.98
Total sD &Iy 1O L0, ,7193,152,127.

-235-



2/ BEWMERGSRZLS

% cHmel CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO.,LTD.

W mRERER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1A AR 1. Details of non-recurring profit or loss for the year

HH RELHR Eit]
Item Amount for the year Explanation
AR B % 7 i B AR 2

Gains and losses from disposal of non-current assets

AR L B A0 L A SO A SR AR YOR I . TG

Tax refunds and relief of ultra vires or without formal approval or incidental tax refunds or relief
AENEHRIS BUR R BY (B 3ESERS S DA, 2R B S A e A B B S 2 I BUR R BIBR 51D
Government grants included in the profit or loss for the period (except for the government grants closely related to the corporate 228,458.48
businesses and granted at a fixed amount or quantity in accordance with national uniform standards)

FEONE AR 3 B SR A A

Funds utilisation fees collected from non-financial enterprises included in the profit or loss for the period

ASEMAT T2 I 3 R A SE T TR PRAR /T A 50 R A 3 8 A5 s 0 2 e R PR T i 2
Gains from the excess of the fair value of identifiable net assets of the investee attributable to the enterprise at acquisition over the
investment costs for the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

FE T W 1 R SRR A

Gains and losses from the exchange of non-monetary assets

RT3 B B (XA 2

Gains and losses from investments on trust or asset management

PRIANAT IR, il 52 B AR 58T MR 1A 7% TH R A YE

Provision for impairment of assets as a result of force majeure factors, such as natural disasters

A EAIRL

Gains and losses from debt restructuring

SEHEMAN, MZBEWMTHSH, o B NS

Costs for enterprise reorganization, such as the expenses for the placement of workers, and integration cost
A2 o TR B 2 S0 TR A2 5 2 1 (KR 2 S0 RUEL B 23 IR RS

Gains and losses from the excess of transaction without fair transaction price over the fair value

[R5 R 2 F A R I T A FAE A A OF H SRR R

Net gains or losses for the period of subsidiaries arising from business combination under common control from the beginning of
the year to the date of combination

B ) T A SE A A ) 10 A S A IR RS

Gains and losses arising from contingent matters not related to the normal operation of the Company

B[R] oy 7] I A8 SEREHIBR IOA RCE IRME S0, FPA ot e . TR . o kb B AT AR il
BRI A BN G, DAREZ ARG E. TESmMEE. COEemEst. ke e Mg
PR

Investment income derived from the holding of financial assets held for trading and derivative financial assets, gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities held for trading and derivative financial liabilities and disposal of financial
assets held for trading, derivative financial assets, financial liabilities held for trading, derivative financial liabilities and other debt
investment (excluding the effective hedging activities related to the normal operation of the Company)

RO AT R B T SR I () kM A )

Reversal of impairment provision of receivables and contract assets tested on individual basis
BT RIS A S

Gains and losses from external entrusted loan

PRI S B SO AT AR AR R T B RE 1 s 2 O e R R B PR IR

Gains and losses from the changes of fair value of investment properties measured by fair value model subsequently
MR, EratSidiit, VRl SR B R RS AT — UM A R i R AR N S
Effect of one-off adjustment in profit or loss for the period according to the laws and regulations regarding taxation and accounting
SEREACE AR RTE Bl

Entrust fee income from entrusted operation

Bk bR 2 T2 AP iR At 2 SE MRS

Other non-operating income and expenditures apart from the above

LA AF G ARACH P A NIRRT H

Other items of profit and loss meeting the definition of non-recurring profit and loss

Nt

Sub-total

e PSR EHE

Less: Effect of income tax

YU RS S B (R

Effect of minority shareholders’ equity (after tax)

#at

Total

-26,259.35

1,101,276.74

-1,948,085.95

103,309.43

-541,300.65

-135,325.16

-405,975.49 —
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2.8 E W R R LR 2. Return on net assets and earning per share
IR R EW (=35 e
.y [ Earnings per share
SRR A (%)
Profit for the reporting period Weighted average AR i 40e
return on net assets | Basic earnings Diluted earnings
(%) per share per share
S5 B A T ) A BRI v R
Net profit attributable to the equity shareholders of parent 8.80 0.4934 0.4934
company
FBR AR A8 H P 1R 2 1% B 7 B 20 ) e i i AR v )
i 8.87 0.4971 0.4971

Net profit attributable to the equity shareholders of parent
company (excluding non-recurring profit and loss)

SAEEAFEEEENIIGFTERT 3. There is no difference in the accounting data of the Group
TRt BB ER under domestic and foreign accounting standards for the year
BIEEERMARAF Charmacy Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
—O=afFE=A—1/\H 28 March 2025
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CHARMACY PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.

Address: No. 235 Song Shan North Road, Longhu District,
Shantou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

Tel: 86-754 88109272

Email: ir@charmacy.cn

ot hEIERENWEDERES L2355
E5E: 86-754-88109272
BB ir@charmacy.cn




